Spontaneous stochasticity and the Armstrong-Vicol passive scalar

Wandrille Ruffenach^a, Eric Simonnet^{b,*}, Nicolas Valade^b

^aENS de Lyon, CNRS, LPENSL, UMR5672, 69342, Lyon cedex 07, France. ^bInstitut de Physique de Nice and INRIA Sophia-Antipolis, CNRS, Univ. Côte d'Azur

Abstract

Spontaneous stochasticity refers to the emergence of intrinsic randomness in deterministic systems under singular limits, a phenomenon conjectured to be fundamental in turbulence. Armstrong and Vicol [3, 4] recently constructed a deterministic, divergencefree multiscale vector field arbitrarily close to a weak Euler solution, proving that a passive scalar transported by this field exhibits

Part I provides a historical overview of spontaneous stochasticity, details the Armstrong-Vicol passive scalar model, and presents

 Abstract

 Spontaneous stochasticity refers to the emergence of intrinsic randomness in deterministic systems under singular limits, a promenon conjectured to be fundamental in turbulence. Armstrong and Vicol [3, 4] recently constructed a deterministic, diverger free multiscale vector field arbitrarily close to a weak Euler solution, proving that a passive scalar transported by this field exhi anomalous dissipation and lacks a selection principle in the vanishing diffusivity limit.

 This work aims to explain why this passive scalar cerkibits both Lagrangian and Eulerian spontaneous stochasticity. Part I provides a historical overview of spontaneous stochasticity, details the Armstrong-Vicol passive scalar model, and press numerical evidence of anomalous diffusion, along with a refined description of the Lagrangian flow map.

 In Part II, we develop a theoretical framework for Eulerian spontaneous stochasticity. We define it mathematically, linking i liposedness and finite-time trajectory splitting, and explore its measure-theoretic properties and the connection to RG formali This leade us to a well-defined measure selection principle in the inviscid limit, This approach all us to rigorously classify universality classes based on the ergodic properties of regularisations. To complement our analysis, protaneous stochasticity is possible. We argue that the lack of a selection principle in the Armstrong-Vicol model corresponds to Eulerian spontaneous stochasticity is possible. We argue that the lack of a selection principle should be understood as a measure selection principle should be understood as a measure selection principle of weak solutions of the inviscid limit, niviscid limit, advection-diffusion PDE, anomalous dissipation, renormalisation group.

 Mother this project can be understood as a very modest attermities of avecretion-diffusion pretais tho In Part II, we develop a theoretical framework for Eulerian spontaneous stochasticity. We define it mathematically, linking it to ill-posedness and finite-time trajectory splitting, and explore its measure-theoretic properties and the connection to RG formalism. This leads us to a well-defined measure selection principle in the inviscid limit. Within this limit, we identify a structured family of probability measures, with building blocks the Dirac measures responsible for the well-posed inviscid limits. This approach allows us to rigorously classify universality classes based on the ergodic properties of regularisations. To complement our analysis, we

Finally, we show that the absence of a selection principle in the Armstrong-Vicol model corresponds to Eulerian spontaneous stochasticity of the passive scalar. We also numerically compute the probability density of the effective renormalised diffusivity in the inviscid limit. This Eulerian behaviour contrasts sharply with the Kraichnan model, where only Lagrangian spontaneous stochasticity is possible. We argue that the lack of a selection principle should be understood as a measure selection principle over

the model in the inviscid limit. The consequence is that such a pathology further distances the scientific community from a deeper understanding of turbulence, adding yet another layer of mystery to the connection between the Navier-Stokes equations and the Euler equations.

On the other hand, the notion of spontaneous stochasticity is not so well defined among physicists: it is often identified with Lagrangian spontaneous stochasticity as introduced by [23]. Alternatively, it might also be confused sometimes with a notion of classical chaos or with a problem of representing complexity – for instance, the need to represent complexity in a probabilistic manner. As a result, spontaneous stochasticity may be wrongly perceived as merely a methodological or representational issue rather than as a genuine physical phenomenon

The goal here is to reconcile and clarify these perspectives. For mathematicians, the absence of a selection principle should not lead to the rejection of the model and is certainly not a mathematical pathology. Its very existence is of a physical nature. Whether it is more or less realistic is a question of a different kind. In the system of [3, 4], as well as by [18], it appears in a much more realistic manner than ever seen before. Remarkably, it can be analysed mathematically, largely thanks to the development of convex integration over the past decade [27, 49, 17, 15].

For physicists, the fact that the absence of a selection principle appears in linear PDEs of passive scalar and is, at its core, what they refer to as "Eulerian spontaneous stochasticity"

^{*}Corresponding author Email address: Eric.Simonnet@univ-cotedazur.fr (Eric Simonnet)

should be recognised as a significant milestone. In fact, the role that these recent models of passive scalar transport play in understanding Eulerian spontaneous stochasticity is reminiscent of the role that the Kraichnan model [52] has played in the turbulence community in understanding the dissipative anomaly and Lagrangian spontaneous stochasticity [23, 31].

The paper is structured in two mostly independent parts. First, we provide a rather detailed historical retrospective of the concept of spontaneous stochasticity. We then present a description of the Armstrong-Vicol model [3, 4]. The main result concerning the dissipative anomaly - equivalently Lagrangian spontaneous stochasticity - is then studied numerically.

The second part is more mathematically oriented and addresses the framework of Eulerian spontaneous stochasticity. We first provide a mathematical definition of spontaneous stochasticity in a very general setting, i.e., from the perspective of dynamical systems (Sections 5.1-5.5). This notion is intentionally broader than possibly more restrictive interpretations of spontaneous stochasticity.

We then discuss the various implications of this definition in finite dimensions, particularly a measure selection principle (Section 5.3) and the crucial role played by singularities (Section 5.5). Next, we present nontrivial examples in finite dimensions (Subsections 5.5.2-5.5.5). Finally, we examine the Armstrong-Vicol system by discussing the recent result obtained by [4] on the absence of a selection principle (Section 6). We also provide an alternative mathematical proof based on our own definition of Eulerian spontaneous stochasticity (Section 7). Additionally, we highlight numerical signatures of Eulerian spontaneous stochasticity, from the associated renormalisation sequence (Section 8).

Contents

Introduction 1 I 2 **Historical review** 2 2.1 Lagrangian spontaneous stochasticity Eulerian spontaneous stochasticity 2.2 The convex integration revolution 4 2.3 2.4 Nonuniqueness and the inviscid limit of Navier-

3	Anomalous diffusion in the Armstrong-Vicol passive
	scalar

3.1	Homogenisation of a simple shear flow and
	constraints on the scales
3.2	Renormalisation group description

Anomalous diffusion: from theory to numerics

4.1 Numerical implementation of the Armstrong-

4.2 Lagrangian spontaneous stochasticity: Numer-8

11

5	Spo	ntaneous Stochasticity $(SpSt)$	11				
	5.1	Definitions	11				
	5.2	Finite-time separation for arbitrarily close solu-					
		tions and lack of selection principle	11				
	5.3	5.3 A measure-theoretic description: selected mea-					
		sures and universality	12				
		5.3.1 Generalised formulation	13				
		5.3.2 All probability measures are attainable					
		by spontaneous stochasticity	13				
		5.3.3 The Bebutov attack: from RG to uni-					
		versality classes	14				
	5.4	Stochastic versus deterministic regularisations .	16				
	5.5	Which inviscid systems can exhibit sponta-					
		neous stochasticity?	17				
		5.5.1 A necessary condition for nonunique-					
		ness in the inviscid system	17				
		5.5.2 Example 1	18				
		5.5.3 Example 2	18				
		5.5.4 Example 3	19				
		5.5.5 Example 4	19				
	5.6 PDE case: Lagrangian versus Eulerian Sponta-						
		neous Stochasticity	2(
6	Lac pass	k of selection principle in the Armstrong-Vicol sive scalar [4]	2 1				
7	Eule Arn	erian Spontaneous Stochasticity in the astrong-Vicol passive scalar	21				
8	Nun quei	nerical behaviour of the renormalisation se-	22				
9	Con	clusion and perspectives	23				

Part I

1

2

3

3

5

6

6

7

8

8

Π

2. Historical review

The modern notion of spontaneous stochasticity has been quite elusive since the first time it was coined as such by [23]. It emerged from a long and intricate history mostly related to turbulence and the Navier-Stokes equations. Spontaneous stochasticity is the property that a deterministic system, in some singular limit, can exhibit an intrinsic source of randomness. It has often been wrongly identified with the phenomenon of chaos in nonlinear systems: it is not, not even close... The confusion indeed arises simply because in turbulence: chaos and spontaneous stochasticity conspire together.

There are in fact two different parallel stories: a Lagrangian tale and an Eulerian one. It seems we are still far from reconciliating the two.

2.1. Lagrangian spontaneous stochasticity

One can probably root the concept with the work of Richardson on turbulence diffusion [73]. In essence, the separation $\mathbf{R}_{12}(t) = \mathbf{R}_1(t) - \mathbf{R}_2(t)$ between two close fluid particles in a given flow would satisfy $\frac{d}{dt}\mathbf{R}_{12} = \mathbf{v}(t, \mathbf{R}_1) - \mathbf{v}(t, \mathbf{R}_2)$ or taking the norm $\rho := ||\mathbf{R}_{12}||, \frac{d}{dt}\rho^2 = 2\rho \cdot \Delta \mathbf{v}$. If the fluid velocity is smooth $\|\mathbf{v}(t, \mathbf{R}_1) - \mathbf{v}(t, \mathbf{R}_2)\| \propto \|\mathbf{R}_1 - \mathbf{R}_2\|$ (Lipschitz), then one would obtain $\frac{d}{dt}\rho^2 \propto \rho^2$. This yields an exponential growth. In a turbulent fluid however, velocities are not smooth. It is known from Kolmogorov [51] that, neglecting intermittent effects, a reasonable approximation is the K41 velocity having $\frac{1}{2}$ Hölder regularity: $\|\mathbf{v}(t, \mathbf{R}_1) - \mathbf{v}(t, \mathbf{R}_2)\| \propto \|\mathbf{R}_1 - \mathbf{R}_2\|^{\frac{1}{3}}$. It implies that one has $\frac{d}{dt}\rho^2 \propto (\rho^2)^{\frac{2}{3}}$. This yields a totally different behaviour where now, ρ grows as a power of time, even more important this is true no matter how close are the two particles initially. This is the famous Richardson's law: $\langle \rho^2 \rangle \propto t^3$ observed numerically in a consistent way, see e.g. [36, 76, 11] and references therein. It is much less clear at the experimental level [50].

Meanwhile, one of the fundamental aspect of turbulence, already suggested by Taylor [79], is the fact that kinetic energy can be dissipated for fluid of "infinitesimal viscosity". It was indeed phrased as a conjecture by Onsager [70] for 3D Euler, that we would like to quote: "It is of some interest to note that in principle, turbulent dissipation as described could take place just as readily without the final assistance by viscosity. In the absence of viscosity, the standard proof of the conservation of energy does not apply, because the velocity field does not remain differentiable! In fact it is possible to show that the velocity field in such "ideal" turbulence cannot obey any LIP-SCHITZ condition of the form $|\mathbf{v}(\mathbf{r'} + \mathbf{r}) - \mathbf{v}(\mathbf{r'})| < \text{Const.r}^n$, for any order n greater than 1/3; otherwise the energy is conserved."

This remarkable phenomenon of "dissipative anomaly" (sometimes referred to as "the zeroth law of turbulence") also appears in simpler models and in particular in passive scalar models: linear advection-diffusion equations for a scalar field $\theta = \theta(t, \mathbf{x})$ taking the simple form $\partial_t \theta + \mathbf{v} \cdot \nabla \theta = \kappa \Delta \theta$, and where the velocity $\mathbf{v}(t, \mathbf{x})$ and initial condition $\theta(0, \mathbf{x})$ are prescribed. The dissipative anomaly then is expressed mathematically simply as $\limsup_{\kappa \to 0} \kappa ||\nabla \theta||_{L^2_{x,x}}^2 > 0$. A synthetic model of turbulence which has played a key role in turbulence studies is the so-called Kraichnan model [52]. It is again an advectiondiffusion system where the velocity mimics some key aspects of velocity fields solving 3-D Navier-Stokes at high Reynolds number. It is a random white-in-time, correlated in space, Gaussian field having two free parameters controlling its spatial regularity over a given range of scales. In a remarkable series of works [9, 23, 22], Gawedzky and colleagues were able to establish using the Kraichnan ensemble that indeed the classical determinism of Lagrangian trajectories breaks down in the limit of small diffusion. In particular, they showed that dissipative anomaly was the sole consequence of the phenomenon of spontaneous stochasticity: the Lagrangian particles have nonunique trajectories even when starting from the same initial condition and fixed realisation of the velocity, and this was essentially a

consequence of the spatial roughness of the velocity. This work was a breakthrough in the understanding on two seemingly different phenomena: spontaneous stochasticity and dissipative anomaly. Some decades later, this equivalence was also established in more general cases by the work of [31] as a Lagrangian fluctuation-dissipation theorem. In simple words: spontaneous stochasticity and anomalous diffusion are equivalent, at least for passive scalars.

Of importance is to recall that either in the work of Richardson or later, the notion of spontaneous stochasticity must be called in fact *Lagrangian spontaneous stochasticity*. "Lagrangian" was later on becoming quite implicit and dropped. The story of course does not end there. Even more fascinating aspects emerged starting from the year 1969.

2.2. Eulerian spontaneous stochasticity

In the year 1969, E.N.Lorenz came with a surprising statement that we quote: "It is proposed that certain formally deterministic fluid systems which possess many scales of motion are observationally indistinguishable from indeterministic systems; specifically, that two states of the system differing initially by a small "observational error" will evolve into two states differing as greatly as randomly chosen states of the system within a finite time interval, which cannot be lengthened by reducing the amplitude of the initial error" [59]. Reading twice, this has exactly the same flavor that Richardson particle pair separation, but it is now the full (Navier-Stokes) Eulerian field which is involved! The existence of such a *finite-time* predictability barrier is of course deeply connected to 3-D turbulence itself, in particular it requires the typical Kolmogorov $k^{-5/3}$ spectrum. This work has been barely noticed for decades, probably shadowed by the famous 1963 paper [58] on unpredictability (sensitive dependence to initial conditions) of low-order chaos. As explained in [75, 71], in the 70s, people also believed at that time that the atmospheric spectrum was essentially 2-D with a k^{-3} spectrum and a predictability barrier more consistent with classical chaos. Nowadays, the situation has changed dramatically: computers routinely solve atmospheric scales much below 100km where a clear $k^{-5/3}$ spectrum emerges. The intuition of Lorenz becomes highly relevant. A name has been given to this sensitivity in 3-D multiscale flows: Palmer [71] called it the real butterfly effect¹. We refer to it as Eulerian spontaneous stochasticity. Interestingly, the term Eulerian spontaneous stochasticity was not coined until much later - first introduced by G. Eyink at the APS 2016 conference and only formally discussed in [35].

When this phenomenon occurs, some Lyapunov exponents – possibly finite-time ones – are expected to diverge as the Reynolds number increases. This behaviour contrasts with classical chaos, where Lyapunov exponents may be positive but remain bounded.

For all these reasons, people started to take a closer look at Lorenz's idea. The first immediate systems were the 2-D surface quasi-geostrophic equations which possesses some direct $k^{-5/3}$ cascade [75],[71] and more recently [82], as well as

¹Which, incidentally, was originally a seagull.

the Kelvin-Helmholtz instability in 2-D Navier-Stokes [81] and Rayleigh-Taylor 3-D turbulence [10] (see also [26] for shell models). Indeed, these results confirm the intuition of Lorenz to various extents. A more detailed review of known results can be found in [35].

Until now, we do not have clearly stated what this concept is. In general, ideal fluids or wave dynamics are ill-posed. Typical examples are the inviscid Burgers equations and the incompressible Euler equations. It is of common practice to regularise such systems by adding other terms like (hyper) viscosity and/or small noise terms, e.g. Navier-Stokes or viscous Burgers equations. The main question is then: how such systems behave in the limit of vanishing regularisation? This is commonly referred to as the inviscid limit. Whenever a system becomes random in the inviscid limit, we say it is spontaneously stochastic. A difficult and important question is then to understand how the statistics, in the inviscid limit, depend on the way the system has been regularised. One of the hope in the case of Euler/Navier-Stokes is that for a wide class of regularisations, those statistics are independent of the set of regularisations considered, therefore exhibiting a form of *universality*. These questions have been tackled thoroughly by A.Mailybaev and colleagues for the last 10 years using the concept of renormalisation group (RG) [61, 63, 66, 67, 64] (see also [35]). The RG approach is the one akin to the dynamical system theory approach for the universality of the Feigenbaum period-doubling cascade [37]. These studies mainly focus on simpler shell models of turbulence, like Sabra or dyadic systems which possess many scales (of motion). Physicists and mathematicians widely recognise these shell models for sharing many desirable properties with the Euler, Navier-Stokes, or Burgers equations such as power laws, multiscaling [43, 62], making them much easier alternatives given the considerable difficulty of directly tackling the formidable 3-D incompressible Euler equations. The reason to consider a RG approach is that ideal fluids have many symmetries, associated with spatio-temporal self-similar (fractal) structures. Therefore, it is possible to define a particular self-consistent notion of (canonical) regularisations [64]. The RG is then interpreted as a genuine dynamical system in the space of flow maps, where the successive group iterates reflect the level of regularisation of the inviscid system. The lesson is that, provided there exists some RG attractor (it can be a fixed point), one can infer some universal statistical properties of the inviscid limit provided a given set of regularisations belong to the basin of attraction. We would like to insist on another misunderstanding that one must not look at a fixed regularisation, say Navier-Stokes at fixed Reynolds number Re but rather at the inviscid limit $Re \rightarrow \infty$. However, signatures of spontaneous stochasticity are visible well before the limit is actually taken as pointed out in [35].

In order to exhibit spontaneous stochasticity, the inviscid system must necessarily be ill-posed. Well-posedness is existence, unicity and continuous dependence on the initial conditions. In this case, this is rather the nonuniqueness of the inviscid system which is responsible for the ill-posedness and as a con-

sequence loss of continuity w.r.t. initial conditions². To fix the idea, let us write an inviscid system, say Euler equations as $\dot{x} = f(x), x(0) = x_0$. For smooth initial data, it is possible to establish some (local) well-posedness until some time $T^{\star} > 0$. One of the most important open question in mathematical fluid mechanics is whether $T^{\star} < +\infty$ or not: *does three*dimensional incompressible Euler flow with smooth initial conditions develop a singularity with infinite vorticity after a finite time? [42]. When such thing happens, the solution blows up in finite-time: nonuniqueness emerges as a pure manifestation of the solution hitting a (non-Lipschitz) singularity in finite-time. It turns out that this is precisely what is observed in simpler models of Euler equations, e.g. in log-lattice Sabra [20] or for Rayleigh-Taylor instability [60]. The deep connection between spontaneous stochasticity and the presence of singularities in the inviscid system has been rigorously investigated by [32] and [34] in simpler finite-dimensional dynamical systems. This is also the approach adopted in the first part of this work although in a more general framework, see Section 5.

Assuming the solution reaches some singularity in finitetime, its post blow-up life must face nonuniqueness: which solutions of the inviscid system among the infinity of them is chosen in the inviscid limit? This selection must a priori depend on the way the system is regularised. This *selection principle* is one of the fundamental questions underlying the concept of spontaneous stochasticity. In this work, we convey the idea that one must not look for a "good/physical" regularisation but rather ask for the universality and/or robustness of families of regularisations. This is a difficult question, but again it is best addressed using RG-like approaches.

2.3. The convex integration revolution

Until now, we have only described the physicist viewpoint. What do mathematicians say about this subject? Strictly speaking the notion of spontaneous stochasticity has not been addressed in those terms. Rather, there has been a strong focus on the Millennium price regarding global well-posedness of the 3D incompressible Navier-Stokes. In particular, central is the understanding of weak solutions not only for Navier-Stokes, (non)uniqueness of Leray weak solutions [57], but for the Euler weak solutions as well. For the last case, a great achievement of the recent years is the mathematical proof of the Onsager conjecture (see Onsager quote in Section 2.1).

The story begins with the Nash-Kuiper C^1 isometric embedding theorems for the torus [69, 53]. A detailed review can be found in [27]. Roughly speaking, isometric embedding of the torus involves taking a flat piece of paper and bending it into the shape of a doughnut. However, anyone attempting this would fight against Gauss's Theorema Egregium, which states that Gaussian curvature must be preserved unless the paper is stretched. In simpler terms, this "rigidity" makes it impossible to transform a flat sheet into a sphere or a doughnut without bending –something most people have experienced once.

²It is easy to find infinite-dimensional systems that satisfy existence and uniqueness but are not well-posed.

Crucially, such transformations typically require C^2 regularity. This led to an intriguing question posed to J. Nash: could it still be possible to achieve this using only C^1 transformations? Surprisingly, the answer was a resounding yes. Striking images can be found nowadays showing how the doughnut looks like [12]: it involves successive embeddings yielding C^1 fractals. It was indeed the birth of convex integration.

What is the link with Euler equations? It took some time before people started to realise there was a strong analogy with Onsager's conjecture. This analogy is a suitable variant of the *h*-principle -h for homotopy - found by Gromov [46], and developed by DeLellis and Székelyhidi [27]. The Egregium Gauss theorem is now played by the conservation of energy for solutions having enough regularity above the critical 1/3 Hölder exponent. This rigid part (the analogy is the C^2 folding of a piece of paper) is the easiest to prove [25]. Proving the nonuniqueness of dissipative weak solutions in 3-D Euler equations turns out to be much more difficult: this is the flexible part of the Onsager's conjecture. It took almost a decade to climb the ladder of weak dissipative solutions regularity from C^0 up to $C^{1/3}$ by improving the convex integration schemes until the conjecture was finally proven by Isett [49] and Buckmaster et al. [17] for the admissible case.

Convex integration schemes have recently attained some high level of sophistication (intermittent schemes) so that it is now possible to handle weak solutions of the 3-D Navier-Stokes as well in the groundbreaking work [15]. In particular, the viscous Laplacian term is adding much difficulties for controlling the various error estimates necessary for scheme convergence. While the Armstrong-Vicol transport system [3] – on which our work is based – also shares common ground with convex integration schemes, it innovates by employing sophisticated techniques of fractal homogenisation.

Convex integration schemes can be interpreted as an inviscid limit. Rather than looking at the inviscid limit $Re \rightarrow \infty$ in Navier-Stokes where the Laplacian acts as a regularisation mechanism, one is considering a family $(\mathbf{u}_k, p_k, \mathring{R}_k)$ of smooth solutions of the so-called Euler-Reynolds equations: $\partial_t \mathbf{u}_k + \mathbf{u}_k \cdot \nabla \mathbf{u}_k + \nabla p_k = \text{div } \mathring{R}_k$, where \mathring{R}_k is a symmetric trace-free tensor. The regularisation mechanism is now "homogenisation" conveyed by the Reynolds-stress term (in fact, an effective averaging of the small scales is induced by the integral operator div^{-1}). By properly renormalising the solutions, it is possible to construct a convergent sequence in some Hölder space C^{α} , $\alpha < \frac{1}{3}$:

 $(\mathbf{v}_{0}, p_{0}, \hat{R}_{0}) \qquad (\mathbf{v}_{1}, p_{1}, \hat{R}_{1}) \qquad \cdots \qquad (\mathbf{v}_{k}, p_{k}, \hat{R}_{k}) \qquad (\mathbf{v}_{k+1}, p_{k+1}, \hat{R}_{k+1}) \qquad \cdots \qquad (\mathbf{v}, p, \hat{R})$

where div \mathring{R} is zero weakly. The renormalisation operators \mathscr{R}_k take a complicate form, where both time and space are rescaled. They also involve Nash decompositions and the use of inverse flow maps, see e.g. [16]. Their expressions are typically of the form (10) in Section 3.1. Obtaining convergence of the Euler-Reynolds sequence $(\mathbf{v}_k, p_k, \mathring{R}_k)$ in a Hölder space C^{α} is a difficult task. The closer α is to 1/3 the harder it is to control the various error terms.

The sequence of Euler-Reynolds equations above can be in-

terpreted as some controlled regularisations of the inviscid Euler equations. To this respect, both RG approach and convex integration schemes share a common conceptual basis. The approach in [65], focusing on the Sabra shell model instead of a PDE, yields simpler renormalisation operators in the autonomous form $\mathcal{R}_k = \underbrace{\mathcal{R} \circ \cdots \circ \mathcal{R}}_{k \text{ times}}$. There are few drawbacks in convex integration schemes however. First, they do not handle the Cauchy initial value problem (see however [68]), second the

the Cauchy initial value problem (see however [68]), second the scale separation involved is always hypergeometric and seems mandatory in order to control the many estimates.

2.4. Nonuniqueness and the inviscid limit of Navier-Stokes

As explained before, the necessary ingredient for having Eulerian spontaneous stochasticity is to have nonunique solutions of the initial value Cauchy problem in the inviscid system. It is thus important to mention first very interesting tools and concepts which have been developed by the mathematicians to handle the lack of a known global uniqueness result for the 3-D Navier-Stokes and/or to formalise the notion of ensemble average in turbulence. One is the notion of *statistical solution* introduced by Foias and Vishik [39, 40, 83], see [41]. Other notions of multivalued semigroups have been developed by Sell [77] and in particular the notion of *generalised semiflows* by Ball [7], see also [78, 21]. All these concepts have a strong Eulerian flavor since they consider a phase space, dynamical system point of view.

More Lagrangian-oriented mathematical results have also been obtained, starting from the important DiPerna-Lions theory [28], and the extension by L.Ambrosio [2], as well as the introduction of *superposition solutions* by [38]. They give deeper insights on the well-posedness of (nonautonomous) ODEs and their natural link with linear transport equations and conservation laws. It is discussed in Section 5.6.

With respect to the inviscid limit in Navier-Stokes, the work of DiPerna and Majda [29] explicitly addresses the inviscid limit w.r.t. to viscosity for the deterministic 3-D Navier-Stokes. They introduce the notion of measure-valued solutions based on Young measures. Their main theorem is a convergence result in a rather weak sense that any weak solution converges in subsequence to a measure-valued solution. Unfortunately, this result does not rule out the possibility that this measure-valued solution collapses into a Dirac mass. Only strong numerical evidence suggests that the emergence of oscillations and concentrations of the solution in the limit would disrupt any Dirac-like measure, leading to a nontrivial one. The approach of [13] is innovative in that it gives a probabilistic view of the selected solutions in the inviscid 3-D Navier-Stokes limit. The key idea is to exploit a variational formulation of the Euler equations, as a least action principle over volume-preserving flow maps in physical space. Unlike previous studies, the framework is inherently Lagrangian and yields a natural notion of probability measure in the space of Lagrangian flow maps - what is referred to as generalised flows. These ideas have been investigated thoroughly in [80].

Last, it is important to mention the work of S.Kuksin on the 2-D Navier-Stokes equations [54] forced by additive noise. The

noise must scale like the square root of viscosity in order to obtain physically meaningful solutions in the inviscid limit. Such inviscid limit is called the *Eulerian limit*. The striking result is the emergence of a selection mechanism toward a genuinely random process $U^{\omega}(\cdot)$ solving the 2-D Euler equations pathwise, with energy and enstrophy becoming random variables. If u_{ν}^{ω} is the random Navier-Stokes field, then a subsequential limit is obtained of the form $\lim_{\nu_{j}\to 0} \lim_{T\to\infty} u_{\nu}^{\omega}(T+\cdot) = U^{\omega}(\cdot)$ with the limits taken in that order. While this resembles spontaneous stochasticity, it is not quite the same. Fixing the initial condition leads to deterministic dynamics. Only in the longtime limit does the system lose its memory, and what is left is a stochastic outcome shaped by the Casimir invariants revealing a deep link to the statistical mechanics of the 2-D Euler flow [74].

3. Anomalous diffusion in the Armstrong-Vicol passive scalar

We introduce here the passive scalar model studied in [3, 4]. All the quantities are precisely defined in Appendix 10.1.

We consider the following Cauchy problem for the advectiondiffusion equation:

$$(\mathcal{P}_{\kappa}): \begin{cases} \partial_{t}\theta^{\kappa} + \mathbf{b} \cdot \nabla \theta^{\kappa} = \kappa \Delta \theta^{\kappa} \text{ in } (0, \infty) \times \mathbb{T}^{2} \\ \\ \theta^{\kappa}(0, \cdot) = \theta_{0} \text{ on } \mathbb{T}^{2} \end{cases}$$
(1)

The energy equality for a divergence-free vector field \mathbf{b} writes as

$$\|\theta_0\|_{L^2}^2 - \|\theta^{\kappa}(1,\cdot)\|_{L^2}^2 = 2\kappa \|\nabla\theta^{\kappa}\|_{L^2((0,1)\times\mathbb{T}^2)}^2.$$
 (2)

In particular, if the velocity field **b** has enough spatial regularity, say in $L_t^1 C_x^{0,1}$, then $\lim_{\kappa \to 0} \kappa ||\nabla \theta^{\kappa}||_{L^2}^2 = 0$, implying that the energy is conserved. The main question is to understand the limit $\kappa \to 0$ of the passive scalar θ^{κ} when the velocity field lacks regularity, typically being only Hölder continuous. For the sake of consistency, we explicitly recall the main Theorem 1.1 of [4]:

Theorem 1.1 1 (Anomalous dissipation of scalar variance). Let $d \ge 2$ and $\alpha \in (0, 1/3)$. There exists

$$\mathbf{b} \in C^0_t C^{0,\alpha}_x([0,1] \times \mathbb{T}^d) \cap C^{0,\alpha}_t C^0_x([0,1] \times \mathbb{T}^d)$$
(3)

which satisfies $\nabla \cdot \mathbf{b}(t, \cdot) = 0$, $\forall t \in (0, \infty)$ such that, for every mean-zero initial datum $\theta_0 \in H^1(\mathbb{T}^d)$, the family of unique solutions $\{\theta^{\kappa}\}_{\kappa>0} \in C([0, 1]; L^2(\mathbb{T}^d))$ of (1) satisfy

$$\limsup_{\kappa \to 0} \kappa \|\nabla \theta^{\kappa}\|_{L^2((0,1) \times \mathbb{T}^d)}^2 \ge \varrho^2 \|\theta_0\|_{L^2(\mathbb{T}^d)}^2, \tag{4}$$

for some constant $\varrho = \varrho(d, \theta_0) \in (0, 1]$ which depends only on d and the ratio $\|\theta_0\|_{L^2(\mathbb{T}^d)} / \|\nabla \theta_0\|_{L^2(\mathbb{T}^d)}^2$.

The loss of regularity in the velocity field **b** leads to a breakdown of energy conservation in the limit – manifested as an effective anomalous dissipation term (4) in the transport equation. Although the proof is quite involved, it yields an explicit and 'controlled' construction of the transport PDE,

typical of convex integration approaches although it differs in many aspects (see Subsection 2.3), making it especially valuable. The strength of the derived estimates allows for additional important results, discussed in Part II.

The main idea is to show that there exists a well-posed advection-diffusion PDE close to (1) in a well-defined sense. This *effective* system is defined in the following way:

$$\begin{cases} \partial_t \theta_m + \mathbf{b}_m \cdot \nabla \theta_m = \kappa_m \Delta \theta_m \text{ in } (0, \infty) \times \mathbb{T}^2, \\ \theta_m(0, \cdot) = \theta_0 \end{cases}, \quad (5)$$

where $m \in \{m^*, \dots, M\}$ and κ_m are *renormalised diffusivities* satisfying

 $\kappa_{m-1} = \kappa_m + c_0 \frac{\epsilon_m^{2\beta}}{\kappa_m}, \quad \kappa_M = \kappa \in \bigcup_{m \ge 1} \left[\frac{1}{2}, 2 \right] \epsilon_m^{\frac{2\beta}{q+1}}, \tag{6}$

and

$$\epsilon_m^{-1} = \lceil \Lambda^{\frac{q^m}{q-1}} \rceil, \ q = \frac{\beta}{4(\beta-1)}, \ \beta = \alpha + 1.$$
(7)

System (5) can be seen as a *regularised* version of (1) and describes the effective behaviour of the passive scalar at scales larger than ϵ_m . As explained in the previous section, the key mechanism is that the scale ϵ_m can homogenise at scale ϵ_{m-1} provided well-defined constraints are met. In order to achieve this, a multiscale fractal vector field **b** must be defined in an ad-hoc recursive way ³, namely $\mathbf{b}_m = \sum_{k=0}^{m} \mathbf{v}_k$, with $\mathbf{b}_0 = 0$ and where $\mathbf{v}_k \in C^{\infty}$ consists of many oscillatory components at scale ϵ_k (see previous section). It is shown in [3] that $\mathbf{b} := \lim_{m\to\infty} \mathbf{b}_m$ is well-defined and satisfies (3).

3.1. Homogenisation of a simple shear flow and constraints on the scales

The way the velocity field **b** is constructed is very involved and consists of space-time fractal structures with periodic shear flows alternating in time. It is a multiscale flow with infinitely many scales separated hyper-geometrically. Our aim is to explain in simple terms the homogenisation mechanism of the velocity field constructed by [4]. For this, it is useful to adopt a Lagrangian viewpoint and to express the dynamics of particles transported by a given shear flow. In addition, it gives for free the various scaling constraints for the velocity field in [4]. The diffusion process with diffusivity κ yields the following SDE:

$$dX_t = 2\pi a_m \epsilon_m \cos\left(\frac{2\pi}{\epsilon_m}Y_t\right) + \sqrt{2\kappa} \, dW_t^1, \quad dY_t = \sqrt{2\kappa} \, dW_t^2,$$

(X₀, Y₀) = (0, 0). (8)

The amplitude a_m corresponds to the size of the velocity Lipschitz norm. In fact, in order for the velocity to be Hölder with exponent α , one must take $a_m = \epsilon_m^{\alpha-1}$. The other quantities are

³this recursive construction is characteristic of all convex integration schemes.

the two independent Wiener processes $W_t^{1,2}$, and ϵ_m is the typical length over which the shear flow varies. Some standard calculations, further simplified by our choice of initial condition, give

$$\mathbb{E}X_{t}^{2} = 2\left(\kappa + \frac{1}{2}\frac{a_{m}^{2}\epsilon_{m}^{4}}{\kappa}\right)t + \left(\frac{a_{m}\epsilon_{m}^{3}}{2\pi\kappa}\right)^{2}\left(e^{-\omega_{m}t} - 1\right) \\ + \frac{1}{12}\left(e^{-4\omega_{m}t} - 1\right)\right), \quad \omega_{m} := \frac{4\pi^{2}\kappa}{\epsilon_{m}^{2}}, \tag{9}$$
$$\mathbb{E}Y_{t}^{2} = 2\kappa t.$$

By direct inspection, the particle displacement in the *x* direction yields an effective diffusivity $\kappa^* = \kappa + \frac{a_m^2 \epsilon_m^4}{2\kappa}$ (to be compared with (6)). Let us call τ_m the typical time for homogenisation to occur. It must be much larger than the relaxation time ω_m^{-1} . The first constraint is therefore $\tau_m \gg \frac{\epsilon_m^2}{\kappa}$. Let us call ϵ_{m-1} the typical particle displacement during this homogenisation process: it is $\epsilon_{m-1}^2 \propto \left(\kappa + \frac{a_m^2 \epsilon_m^4}{2\kappa}\right) \tau_m \gg \left(\kappa + \frac{a_m^2 \epsilon_m^4}{2\kappa}\right) \omega_m^{-1} = \frac{\epsilon_m^2}{4\pi^2} + \frac{1}{2} \left(\frac{a_m \epsilon_m^3}{2\pi\kappa}\right)^2$ giving the second constraint: $\epsilon_{m-1} \gg \frac{a_m \epsilon_m^3}{\kappa}$. Those constraints correspond exactly to the constraints used in [4]. This homogenisation process is illustrated in a simplified form in Fig. 1.



Figure 1: A sketch of homogenisation at scale ϵ_m . The time Δt is the time needed to see the shear at scale ϵ_m , namely to have a displacement along y of order ϵ_m giving $\epsilon_m \sim \sqrt{2\kappa\Delta t}$. It gives the effective diffusivity along x: $\overline{\kappa}_{m,x} = \frac{\langle L_{xy}^2 \rangle}{\Delta t} = \kappa + a_m^2 \epsilon_m^2 \Delta t = \kappa + \frac{a_m^2 \epsilon_m^4}{\kappa}$. Then one rotates the field after waiting some time $\tau_m \gg \Delta t$, that is waiting long enough for homogenisation to occur. Then one proceeds again in the y direction.

In summary, the process (X_t, Y_t) can be interpreted, at large times, as an effective diffusive process with diffusivity (κ^*, κ) . From the expression of κ^* , it is evident that even in the limit of vanishing diffusivity, the effective diffusivity κ^* remains strictly positive and can even diverge. However, this does not imply that the passive scalar undergoes anomalous diffusion in the sense of Theorem 1.1 in [4]. Indeed, the effective diffusive description is only valid on time scales much larger than τ_m and length scales much larger than ϵ_{m-1} , preventing the observation of finite effective diffusivity on time scales of order unity in the vanishing κ limit.

A last remark is that, in order for the homogenisation process to cascade to larger scales, much care is required.

Take for instance a naive zonal superposition of shear flows: $\mathbf{b}_{M} = \sum_{m=0}^{M} a_{m} \epsilon_{m} \cos\left(\frac{2\pi}{\epsilon_{m}}y\right) \begin{pmatrix} 1\\0 \end{pmatrix}.$ Using the previous calculation, one can show that the mean particle displacement is

$$\mathbb{E}X_{t}^{2} = 2\mathcal{K}t + \sum_{m=0}^{M}\sum_{n=0}^{M}\frac{a_{m}\epsilon_{m}^{3}}{2\pi\kappa}\frac{a_{n}\epsilon_{n}^{3}}{2\pi\kappa}\left(\frac{2 + \left(\frac{\epsilon_{m}}{\epsilon_{n}}\right)^{2} + \left(\frac{\epsilon_{n}}{\epsilon_{m}}\right)^{2}}{4\left(1 + \left(\frac{\epsilon_{m}}{\epsilon_{n}}\right)^{2} + \left(\frac{\epsilon_{n}}{\epsilon_{m}}\right)^{2}\right)} - \frac{17}{12}\delta_{n,m}\right) + o_{t \to \infty}\left(e^{-at}\right)$$

with $\mathcal{K} = \kappa + \frac{1}{2\kappa} \sum_{k=0}^{M} a_m^2 \epsilon_m^4$ and a > 0 depends on the choice of sequence $(\epsilon_n)_{0 \le n \le M}$.

This computation demonstrates that superimposing shear flows at different length scales increases the effective diffusivity \mathcal{K} beyond that of a single shear flow obtained earlier. However, for the same reasons as before, this superposition alone does not lead to anomalous diffusion. Furthermore, the expression for \mathcal{K} reveals that the problem at scale *m* is not simply homogenised into the problem at scale *m*-1; instead, all scales are homogenised simultaneously. As such, this straightforward superposition of shear flows does not enable anomalous diffusion. To address this issue, the authors of [4] introduced a crucial modification: they added the shear flow at scale *m* in the reference frame of the one at scale *m*-1. This adjustment allows for anomalous diffusion, as demonstrated in [4].

Additionally, in the framework discussed earlier, the effective diffusive regime is achieved only in the x-direction. To extend this homogenisation to the y-direction, one must introduce an advection field that alternates in time. The time period of alternation between x- and y-directed shear flows must be sufficiently large to ensure that the effective diffusive regime is fully realised as depicted in Fig. .1.

3.2. Renormalisation group description

Let us call $\sigma_m = (\epsilon_m, a_m, \tau_m, \tau'_m, \tau''_m)$. The construction in [3] requires three different timescales $\tau_m \ll \tau'_m \ll \tau''_m \ll a_{m-1}^{-1} \ll \tau_{m-1}$. One can consider three levels of descriptions for the velocity field **b**. The simplest one is to consider only τ_m , namely the timescale on which the flow alternates (see previous discussion). The second level of description is to introduce a second timescale τ''_m which is another homogenisation timescale due to the change of the Lagrangian reference frame. The last level of description introduce another intermediate timescale τ''_m for regularising the time cutoffs. It is needed to actually prove the results in [3] but is more technical in nature. We thus provide a renormalisation group description involving τ_m and τ''_m only. One can in principle write some more general formula at the expense of much heavier notations.

We introduce a two-timescale function related to the two timescales τ_m, τ_m'' :

$$\boldsymbol{\chi}(t_1, t_2) = \left(\mathbb{1}_{[k, k+1)}(t_1)\mathbb{1}_{[l, l+1)}(t_2)\right)_{(k, l) \in \mathbb{Z}^2}$$

as well as the vector field to be rescaled:

$$\mathbf{W}_0(\mathbf{x}) = (\mathbf{w}_k(\mathbf{x}))_{k \in \mathbb{Z}},$$

with $\mathbf{w}_k(\mathbf{x}) = \begin{pmatrix} 0\\ \sin 2\pi x_1 \end{pmatrix} \mathbb{1}_{k \in 2\mathbb{Z}} + \begin{pmatrix} \sin 2\pi x_2\\ 0 \end{pmatrix} \mathbb{1}_{k \in 2\mathbb{Z}+1}$

It consists of simple alternating shear flows, more complicated choices are possible. Lastly, we write the Lagrangian flow map $s \mapsto \mathbf{X}_{\mathbf{v}}(s; \mathbf{x}, t)$:

$$\frac{d\mathbf{X}_{\mathbf{v}}}{ds} = \mathbf{v}(s, \mathbf{X}_{\mathbf{v}}), \ \mathbf{X}_{\mathbf{v}}(t; \mathbf{x}, t) = \mathbf{x}.$$

We use the compact vector notation $\mathbf{X}_{\mathbf{v}}^{-1}(t; \mathbf{x}, \mathbf{s}) = (\mathbf{X}_{\mathbf{v}}^{-1}(t; \mathbf{x}, s_l))_{l \in \mathbb{Z}}$ for some vector $\mathbf{s} = (s_l)_{l \in \mathbb{Z}}$ and $\mathbf{n} = (n)_{n \in \mathbb{Z}}$ One can thus express the renormalisation map where $\sigma = (\epsilon, a, \tau, \tau'')$:

$$\mathcal{R}_{\sigma}[\mathbf{v}]: \mathbf{v} \mapsto \mathbf{v} + a\epsilon \chi\left(\frac{t}{\tau}, \frac{t}{\tau^{\prime\prime}}\right) \cdot \mathbf{W}_0\left(\frac{1}{\epsilon}\mathbf{X}_{\mathbf{v}}^{-1}(t; \mathbf{x}, \tau^{\prime\prime}\mathbf{n})\right).$$
(10)

The vector field \mathbf{b}_m at scales above $\boldsymbol{\epsilon}_m$ using $\mathbf{b}_0 = \mathbf{0}$ is therefore

$$\mathbf{b}_m = (\mathcal{R}_m \circ \mathcal{R}_{m-1} \circ \cdots \circ \mathcal{R}_1) [\mathbf{0}]. \tag{11}$$

One can also express the passive scalar θ_m through the standard Feynman-Kac/backward Lagrangian averaging:

$$\theta_m^{\kappa} = \mathcal{F}_{\kappa}[\mathbf{b}_m]\theta_0, \tag{12}$$

where $(\mathcal{F}_{\kappa}[\mathbf{v}]\theta_0)(t, \mathbf{x}) = \mathbb{E}[\theta_0(\mathbf{Y}^{\kappa}[\mathbf{v}](0|t, \mathbf{x}))]$ with $\mathbf{Y}_s \equiv \mathbf{Y}^{\kappa}[\mathbf{v}](s|t, \mathbf{x})$ satisfying the SDE

$$d\mathbf{Y}_s = \mathbf{v}(t, \mathbf{Y}_s)ds + \sqrt{2\kappa d\mathbf{W}_s}, \ \mathbf{Y}_t = \mathbf{x}_s$$

The main focus is therefore to investigate the double limit

$$\lim_{\kappa\to 0, M\to\infty} \mathcal{F}_{\kappa}[\mathcal{R}_{M}\circ\cdots\circ\mathcal{R}_{1}[\mathbf{0}]]\theta_{0}.$$

The index $M \to \infty$ is a measure of the system regularisation (e.g., similar to a Galerkin truncation), and $\kappa \to 0$ is the singular limit. This is a double limit. However, it is possible to show (see [3, 4]) that it is equivalent to consider a single limit $\kappa \to 0$, where now $M = M(\kappa)$ depends on κ . The parameter M typically must scale like some log log function of κ (see Eq. (6)).

4. Anomalous diffusion: from theory to numerics

We present here the main numerical result on the anomalous diffusion. We recall from [31] that it is equivalent to have Lagrangian spontaneous stochasticity. To be more precise, one considers the backward Itô SDE associated with the passive scalar transport equation:

$$d\mathbf{X}_{s}^{\kappa} = \mathbf{b}(\mathbf{X}_{s}^{\kappa}, s)ds + \sqrt{2\kappa}d\mathbf{W}_{s}, \mathbf{X}_{t}^{\kappa} = \mathbf{x}, s \leq t.$$
(13)

Here $\mathbf{X}_{s}^{\kappa} := \mathbf{X}^{\kappa}(s; \mathbf{x}, t), s \leq t$ corresponds to the particle position \mathbf{X}_{s}^{κ} at a previous time $s \leq t$ such that it goes through position \mathbf{x} at time t. Let us denote $\Theta_{s}^{\kappa} := \theta(\mathbf{X}_{s}^{\kappa}, s)$ where θ satisfies the transport equation (1). It satisfies a martingale property:

 $\theta^{\kappa}(\mathbf{x},t) = \Theta_t^{\kappa} = \mathbb{E}[\Theta_s^{\kappa}] = \mathbb{E}[\Theta_0^{\kappa}] = \mathbb{E}[\theta_0(\mathbf{X}_0^{\kappa})].$ It turns out that the fluctuations obey

$$\Theta_t^{\kappa} - \Theta_0^{\kappa} = \sqrt{2\kappa} \int_0^t d\mathbf{W}_s \cdot \nabla \Theta_s^{\kappa}$$

It gives after squaring:

$$\operatorname{Var}\left[\theta_{0}(\mathbf{X}_{0}^{\kappa})\right] = 2\kappa \int_{0}^{t} \mathbb{E}\left[\left|\nabla \Theta_{s}^{\kappa}\right|^{2}\right].$$

The fluctuation theorem of [31] is the integrated version $\langle \cdot \rangle = \int_{\mathbb{T}^2} d\mathbf{x}$ over the physical domain (where one uses the divergence-free property of the velocity field):

$$\frac{1}{2} \langle \operatorname{Var}\left[\theta_{0}(\mathbf{X}_{0}^{\kappa})\right] \rangle = \kappa \int_{0}^{t} \langle |\nabla \theta^{\kappa}|^{2} \rangle \, ds = \kappa ||\nabla \theta^{\kappa}||_{L^{2}((0,t) \times \mathbb{T}^{2})}^{2}.$$
(14)

Breaking of the Lagrangian flow map determinism, i.e. Lagrangian spontaneous stochasticity is therefore perfectly equivalent to having anomalous diffusion!

4.1. Numerical implementation of the Armstrong-Vicol model

Numerically simulating the passive scalar presents significant challenges, primarily due to extreme scale separation in the velocity field $\mathbf{b}_m = \nabla \times \phi_m$. A key bottleneck arises from the hypergeometric nature of the problem. For instance, with the parameters used in the proof of anomalous diffusion in [4], where $\Lambda \ge 2^7$, numerical simulations become infeasible. Relaxing the condition on Λ enables computation but still restricts the number of accurately represented scales to at most 3–4 with our choices of parameters detailed in Appendix 10.2.

Another major difficulty arises from the nonlocal temporal dependencies in both the past and future, preventing a straight-forward forward-in-time propagation as in traditional Cauchy initial value problems. Instead, the causality structure necessitates the use of a memory-based strategy to account for these dependencies. The numerical implementation and parameter choices are given in Appendix. 10.2. In Fig. 2, we present typical snapshots of the multiscale vector field and passive scalar field obtained numerically.

Interestingly, all convex integration schemes encounter similar numerical implementation challenges but are subject to additional constraints (e.g. Nash decompositions). We provide an algorithmic outline of our approach, with full self-contained details in Appendix 10.2.

4.2. Lagrangian spontaneous stochasticity: Numerical results

We aim to illustrate the connection between the anomalous diffusion of the passive scalar and Lagrangian spontaneous stochasticity, as discussed in the previous section and studied in detail in [31]. The numerical methods used to compute the Armstrong-Vicol vector field, integrate the passive scalar equation (1), and solve the backward Lagrangian dynamics (13) are described in Appendix 10.2. This appendix also provides details on the simulation parameters, relevant notations, and a pseudo-code Algorithm 1 designed to facilitate the reproduction of our results and support further investigations.



Figure 2: Left: Norm of the vector field at a given time and zoom on a given region to highlight the multiscale nature of the flow. Parameters used in the simulations are given in Appendix 10.2. Right: Solution of the passive scalar equation with advection \mathbf{b}_M and initial condition a smooth random gaussian field detailed in Appendix 10.2.



Figure 3: Schematic representation of the non-local in time dependence of streamfunction ϕ_m with respect to ϕ_p , p < m. In this example, one wish to compute the value of $\phi_4(t, \mathbf{x})$ at a given time. At each sub levels *m*, the light blue line represent the interval of time on which one need to know $\phi_{m<4}$ in order to compute $\phi_4(t)$. It is clear from this picture that the value of $\phi_4(t)$ depends on both posterior and ulterior values of $\phi_{m<4}$, making its computation difficult.

9

In Fig. 4, the left panel displays the diffusion rate $\kappa \|\nabla \theta^{\kappa}\|_{L^2(\mathbb{T}^2)}^2$ as a function of time for different values of κ . Since the initial condition of the passive scalar equation is independent of the diffusivity, the initial diffusion rate is proportional to κ . However, after a transient regime of order τ''_M , the dissipation rate reaches a finite value that is independent of diffusivity, namely anomalous diffusion.

On the right panel of Fig. 4, we present the behaviour of the variance of backward Lagrangian trajectories passing through (0, 0) at time t_f :

$$\sigma_{\kappa}^{2}(s) := \mathbb{E}^{(1,2)} \left[\left| \mathbf{X}_{s}^{\kappa,(1)} - \mathbf{X}_{s}^{\kappa,(2)} \right|^{2} \right| \mathbf{X}_{t_{f}}^{\kappa,(1,2)} = 0 \right], \ 0 \le s \le t_{f}$$

as a function of $\hat{s}/\tau_M := (t_f - s)/\tau_M$ for different values of κ , where $t_f = 0.5$ is the final time of the simulation. For small values of \hat{s}/τ_M , the variance follows a purely diffusive scaling, $\sigma_{\kappa}^2 = 8\kappa \hat{s}$, and is therefore strongly dependent on κ . However, after a few small-scale turnover times τ_M , σ_κ^2 enters into a superdiffusive regime, corresponding to the Richardson regime. As noted in [4] (though not proven there), the expected Richardson regime depends on the regularity of the advecting vector field. Specifically, it is expected that $\sigma_{\kappa}^2 \propto \hat{s}^{1+\frac{1+\alpha+\gamma}{1-\alpha}}$, where $\gamma = \frac{(1+\alpha)(1-3\alpha)}{5\alpha+1}$. The exponent of this power law equals 3 when $\alpha = 1/3$, which corresponds to the classical Richardson regime of three dimensional turbulence. The solid black line in the right panel of Fig. 4 represents this superdiffusive scaling (up to an arbitrary multiplicative constant) and show good agreement with our numerical simulations. Most importantly, during this superdiffusive regime, the variance of Lagrangian trajectories σ_{κ}^2 becomes independent of κ . This means that the Lagrangian trajectories are indeed spontaneously stochastic. This superdiffusive regime last until $\hat{s}/\tau_M \simeq 10^2$, which is also the duration of the transient regime for the dissipation rate on the right panel of Fig. 4. For large values of $\hat{s}/\tau_M \ge 10^2 \simeq 2\tau_1/\tau_M$, σ_κ^2 once



Figure 4: (Left) Diffusion rate of the passive scalar field over time for different values of κ . Since the initial condition is independent of κ , the initial dissipation rate is proportional to κ . However, after a transient regime of order $10^2 \tau_M \simeq 2\tau_1$, the dissipation rate becomes independent of diffusivity and remains strictly positive, it is anomalous diffusion. (Right) Variance of the backward Lagrangian dynamics (13) as a function of $\hat{s} = t_f - s$ for different values of κ . Each colored line represents the variance of \mathbf{X}_s^{κ} as a function of \hat{s}/τ_M . The black dotted lines correspond to the expected diffusive scaling $8\kappa\hat{s}$ for small \hat{s} , while the solid black line represents the Richardson super-diffusive regime $\sigma_{\kappa}^2 \propto \hat{s}^{1+\frac{1+\alpha+\gamma}{1-\alpha}}$ predicted in [4]. Finally, the dotted black line in the uppermost part of the figure is a linear scaling $\sigma_{\kappa}^2 \propto \hat{s}$ corresponding to an effective diffusive regime at large times.

again exhibits diffusive behaviour. Indeed in Fig. 4, for large \hat{s} , σ_{κ}^{κ} is growing linearly in \hat{s} . The black dotted line in Fig. 4 corresponds to an effective diffusivity on the order of 8×10^{-3} and appears to be independent of κ within the range shown. As seen in the figure, the effective diffusivity remains finite in the vanishing diffusivity limit, which is consistent with a finite diffusion rate as $\kappa \to 0$. Exploring this effectively diffusivity sequence of [4]. Unfortunately, due to limited spatial resolution, reliably estimating an effective diffusivity is highly challenging. At this stage, we cannot provide a convincing numerical measurement of these diffusivities.

In summary, our numerical results for the Armstrong-Vicol model are in agreement with the prediction made in [4] regarding the anomalous diffusion of the passive scalar. Additionally, by investigating the Lagrangian counterpart of the passive scalar, we have provided further insight into the spontaneous stochasticity of the Lagrangian tracers. We also provide an external link to various movies, including the advection of Wandrille's cat in action: https://www.youtube.com/playlist? list=PLH-V8wbBnQjbTkHdJVxenflTYnN5gDC7B&jct= pcAkkDgSTfYZur1uhx9sCw.

Part II

5. Spontaneous Stochasticity (SpSt)

This section aims to provide a more theoretical discussion on the notion of spontaneous stochasticity with a principal focus on the phase space description that people often referred to as Eulerian in the context of PDEs.

5.1. Definitions

This section introduces a general mathematical definition of spontaneous stochasticity, applicable to both finite-dimensional (ODEs) and infinite-dimensional dynamical systems. Given our focus on a phase-space dynamical framework, in the context of PDEs, it must be interpreted as a truly Eulerian notion, in contrast to the Lagrangian interpretation of spontaneous stochasticity. In finite-dimensional systems, such a distinction, becomes irrelevant, allowing us to simply refer to "spontaneous stochasticity". Throughout the remainder of this work, we will primarily use the acronym SpSt.

Consider some family of regularised systems called $(\mathcal{P}_{\kappa}), \kappa > 0$, expressed in the following abstract autonomous form:

$$(\mathcal{P}_{\kappa}): \dot{x} = f(x,\kappa), \ x(0) = x_0 \in H, \tag{15}$$

where $H = \mathbb{R}^d$ is a finite-dimensional Hilbert space with $\langle x, y \rangle$ its scalar product and the corresponding norm $||x||^2 = \langle x, x \rangle$ and we assume $(x, \kappa) \mapsto f(x, \kappa)$ at least continuous. In the following, we will often use the flow map notation:

 $\Phi_t[f(\cdot,\kappa)]x_0$ solution of (\mathcal{P}_{κ}) at time *t* with initial condition x_0 .

Time *t* is always assumed to be such that Peano existence theorem holds for all times in [0, t]. The "ideal/inviscid" system is denoted (\mathcal{P}_0) and corresponds to $\kappa = 0$ associated with some vector field $f_0(\cdot)$ and $f(\cdot, \kappa)$ is a regularisation of size κ , to fix the ideas, we make the following hypothesis

$$\forall \kappa > 0 \ (\mathcal{P}_{\kappa})$$
 is well-posed and $\lim_{\kappa \to 0} ||f(\cdot, \kappa) - f_0(\cdot)||_{\infty} = 0.$ (H0)

Here $\|\cdot\|_{\infty}$ is the sup norm in *x*. We do not make any assumptions about the well-posedness of (\mathcal{P}_0) for $\kappa = 0$ nor about f_0 , except that it must be continuous to ensure existence until time *t*. Let $O : H \to \mathbb{R}$ denotes some observable, which is assumed continuous. For some fixed *t* and initial condition x_0 , we now introduce the regularisation function:

$$\mathcal{A}: \mathbb{R}^+ \to \mathbb{R}: \kappa \mapsto \mathcal{O}(\Phi_t[f(\cdot, \kappa)]x_0).$$
(16)

Consequently from Hypothesis (H0), \mathcal{A} is well-defined for $\kappa > 0$. In principle, one should write $\mathcal{A}_{t,x_0,O}$. In order to avoid heavy notations we prefer to keep the light notation \mathcal{A} . The regularisation function \mathcal{A} not only reflects how system (15) is observed through O, but most importantly describe how the inviscid system (\mathcal{P}_0) is regularised by the given family $(f(\cdot, \kappa))_{\kappa>0}$. The operator U_t defined by $(U_tO)(x) = O(\Phi_t[f(\cdot, \kappa)]x)$ is known as the Koopman operator and is widely used in ergodic theory [55]. However, we will not use this formalism, as our primary interest lies in the dependence on κ .

Definition 1 (Spontaneous Stochasticity). We assume that hypothesis (H0) holds. The system (\mathcal{P}_{κ}) is said to exhibit spontaneous stochasticity if there exists an observable $O : H \to \mathbb{R}$ which is continuous, an initial condition x_0 , and some time $t < +\infty$ such that the function (16) satisfies

$$-\infty < \liminf_{\kappa \to 0} \mathcal{A}(\kappa) < \limsup_{\kappa \to 0} \mathcal{A}(\kappa) < +\infty.$$
 (SpSt)

This definition of *spontaneous stochasticity* depends solely on the $\kappa \to 0$ asymptotic behaviour of the regularisation function \mathcal{A} . By an abuse of language, we will frequently say that 'this system is SpSt.' This always implies that there exists a triplet (t, x_0, O) such that the family of regularisations (\mathcal{P}_{κ}) satisfies Definition 1 or that the regularisation function \mathcal{A} satisfies (SpSt). The meaning will always be clear from the context. We will also often write \mathcal{A}^{\pm} for the two limsup/liminf (see also notations (61) later on).

Despite the simplicity of the formulation, several non-trivial consequences can be derived.

- Definition 1 is equivalent to have finite-time separation of selected trajectories in phase space. It is also the same that having a lack of selection principle in the inviscid limit. This is discussed in Subsection 5.2
- We investigate how measures behave in the inviscid limit using ergodic dynamical system theory. Our approach, though conceptually similar to RG methods, is far more straightforward. Instead of depending on an observable, we extend the regularisation function \mathcal{A} to *d*-dimensional curves in phase space. We then reformulate the inviscid limit in terms of weak convergence of pushforward probability measures. This perspective not only reveals when and how universality emerges but also confirms that Definition 1 is indeed nonempty! A full discussion can be found in Subsection 5.3.
- We also derive a necessary condition on (\mathcal{P}_{κ}) for having SpSt. This allows us to discriminate regions in phase space where one can expect nonuniqueness in the inviscid limit. This is discussed in Subsection 5.5 together with simple albeit nontrivial examples.

5.2. Finite-time separation for arbitrarily close solutions and lack of selection principle

We discuss here how in Definition 1, (SpSt) relates to two well-known concepts in the inviscid limit $\kappa \rightarrow 0$: the finite-time separation of trajectories (B) and the lack of selection principle (C).

Property 1. (Equivalence) Under hypothesis (H0), i.e., wellposedness of $(\mathcal{P}_{\kappa})_{\kappa>0}$ and the existence of a triplet (t, x_0, O) where O is continuous, one has

$$(\mathcal{S}p\mathcal{S}t) \iff (B) \iff (C).$$

Proof: see Appendix 11.1

The inviscid limit for (\mathcal{P}_{κ}) thus selects at least two distinct

 \square

limsup/liminf trajectories starting from the same x_0 among infinitely many trajectories in the inviscid system, which differ at time *t*. Due to that, one has automatically unbounded finite-time Lyapunov exponents, meaning that the quantity (17) diverges in the inviscid limit:

ī

$$\lim_{\kappa \to 0} \left| \langle \nabla \mathcal{O}(\Phi_t[f(\cdot,\kappa)]x_0), \mathcal{T}\exp\left(\int_0^t \frac{\partial f(\cdot,\kappa)}{\partial x} (\Phi_s[f(\cdot,\kappa)]x_0) \, ds\right) v \rangle \right| = +\infty, \quad (17)$$

where \mathcal{T} is the time-ordering operator. We give a simple sketch of this scenario in Fig. 5.



Figure 5: A sketch view of trajectory splitting in the singular limit $\kappa \to 0$. One can construct a multi-valued flow which gather all possible flows associated with convergent κ subsequences (at least two exist). These flows come from the well-posed regularised systems (15) in the limit $\kappa \to 0$. Here, there is a particular (finite) time t^* for which the system meets a non-Lipschitz singularity x^* . For $t > t^*$, one has $-\infty < \mathcal{A}^- < \mathcal{A}^+ < +\infty$ for the observable O at time t shown by a thin blue line.

5.3. A measure-theoretic description: selected measures and universality

Definition 1 introduces the concept of the regularisation function $\kappa \mapsto \mathcal{A}(\kappa)$. A natural question is to understand how the values of $\mathcal{A}(0)$ are distributed: given \mathcal{A} , can we define a well-posed probability measure associated with $\mathcal{A}(0)$? However, this question remains incomplete without specifying an ambient measure. We introduce the normalised Lebesgue measures:

$$\lambda_{\kappa}(B) = \frac{1}{\kappa} \text{Leb}([0,\kappa] \cap B), \text{ for all Borel sets } B \subset \mathbb{R}.$$
(18)

To define a probability measure, we push forward λ_{κ} by the mapping $\kappa \mapsto \mathcal{A}(\kappa)$ and study the limit as $\kappa \to 0$. We denote these measures by μ_{κ} in the following discussion. The new family of probability measures $\{\mu_{\kappa}\}$ satisfies, for all test functions $F \in C_b(\mathbb{R})$:

$$\mu_{\kappa} = \mathcal{A}_{\star} \lambda_{\kappa} : \langle \mu_{\kappa}, F \rangle = \int_{\mathbb{R}} F(s) d\mu_{\kappa}(s) = \frac{1}{\kappa} \int_{0}^{\kappa} F(\mathcal{A}(s)) \, ds.$$
(19)

This family of measures is tight, ensured by the boundedness of \mathcal{A} from Definition 1. Consequently, as $\kappa \to 0$, Prokhorov's Theorem guarantees convergence at least along subsequences. However, uniqueness is not necessarily assured; in other words, the weak limit may not exist in general, except along subsequences. Given this, one may ask: What happens if one uses a different ambient measure rather than the (normalised) Lebesgue one λ_{κ} (18)? Can uniqueness be recovered?

Consider a simple example where the regularisation function exhibits rapid oscillations as $\kappa \to 0$, take for instance $\mathcal{A}(x) = \Re(e^{i\frac{1}{x}})$. In this case, Definition 1 trivially holds with $\mathcal{A}^{\pm} = \pm 1$. Let us compute the weak limit μ_{κ} defined w.r.t. to the ambient measures $(x^{\alpha})_{\star} \lambda_{\kappa}, \alpha > 0$. Applying the dominated convergence theorem and the Riemann-Lebesgue lemma, one obtains

$$\langle \mathcal{A}_{\star}(x^{\alpha})_{\star}\lambda_{\kappa},F\rangle = \lim_{\kappa \to 0} \frac{1}{\kappa} \int_{0}^{\kappa} F(e^{ix^{-\alpha}}) dx = \lim_{T \to \infty} \frac{1}{\alpha} \int_{1}^{\infty} F(e^{iT\theta})\theta^{-\frac{1}{\alpha}-1}d\theta = \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_{0}^{2\pi} F(e^{i\theta})d\theta, \quad T = \kappa^{-\alpha}.$$

Thus the weak limit is the uniform Haar measure on \mathbb{S}^1 (its real part yields the arcsin law). Notably, this limit is independent of α , suggesting that the resulting probability measure may be largely insensitive to the choice of the ambient measure, or alternatively to the specific form of \mathcal{A} (since $(\mathcal{A} \circ h)_{\star} \lambda_{\kappa} = \mathcal{A}_{\star}(h_{\star} \lambda_{\kappa})$), even asymptotically. It appears that this phenomenon of statistical robustness is far more general than this particular case and is explained in Subsection 5.3.3.

Now consider a case with log-periodic behaviour, such as $\mathcal{A}(x) = e^{i \log x}$. A similar calculation yields using $F(z) = \sum_{k>0} F_k z^k$:

$$\frac{1}{\kappa} \int_0^{\kappa} F(e^{i\log x}) \, dx = \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} \frac{F_k}{1+ik} e^{-iTk},$$
$$F_k = \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_0^{2\pi} F(e^{i\theta}) e^{-ik\theta} d\theta, T = -\log \kappa.$$
(20)

Apart from the constant term $F_0 = F(0)$, the other terms introduce fast oscillations and the limit $T \to \infty$ is undefined. If one pushes forward the measure $\left(e^{-\frac{1}{\lambda}}\right)_{\star} \lambda_{\kappa}$ instead of λ_{κ} then one recovers the power-law situation above with the weak limit being the Haar measure. What does it means? If one observes oscillations at a rate that is too fast relative to their frequency, a sort of "stroboscopic effect" occurs, resulting in some partial information along a given subsequence. The whole statistic is somehow dispatched among the various subsequences. It is indeed the situation for the renormalised diffusivity sequence associated with the Armstrong-Vicol passive scalar: due to the hypergeometric separation, the usual κ scaling is not the correct one, one numerically observes that the renormalised sequence has the expected log $|\log \kappa|$ scaling; see Section 8, Fig. 12.

These issues should not come as a surprise: "bad sampling gives bad statistics". Bad sampling is mathematically translated as a bad choice of an ambient measure when pushed forward by the regularisation function. These observations lead us to question whether modifying how we sample the regularisation function always guarantees the existence of a weak limit. A closely related question is whether a stronger notion of SpSt should be adopted to ensure a *Measure Selection Principle*, meaning the probability measure supported by $\mathcal{A}(0)$ is a weak limit. Answering these questions appears highly challenging and possibly out of reach. However, we introduce a powerful formalism that not only addresses them but also establishes a link with recent RG approaches for probability kernels [67, 66].

In particular, we will show that when SpSt holds in the sense of Definition 1, a Measure Selection Principle applies to a nearby regularisation, potentially a rescaled version of the original. The upcoming discussion is quite abstract and heavily influenced by the Bebutov flow and ergodic theory concepts. We consider the following result the most significant contribution of this paper, independently of the other parts addressing the Armstrong-Vicol model.

5.3.1. Generalised formulation

The aim here is to reformulate Definition 1 by working directly at the level of the flow in the space $H = \mathbb{R}^d$ rather than looking at it through an observable *O*. We still retain the finitedimensional hypothesis.

Definition 2 (Regularisation space and Bebutov flow). Let $C_b = C_b(\mathbb{R}^+; \mathbb{R}^d)$ be the space of bounded continuous functions. Let $(t, x_0), x_0 \in H = \mathbb{R}^d$ be fixed with $t < \infty$. The space of all regularisations of the inviscid problem (\mathcal{P}_0) with singular behaviour at $\kappa = 0$ mapped to infinity is:

$$\mathcal{R}_{eg} := \{ \gamma \in C_b \mid \exists f \text{ satisfying (H0) such that} \\ \gamma(\tau) = \Phi_t [f(\cdot, \frac{1}{\tau})] x_0, \ \tau \ge 0 \}.$$
(21)

We equip \mathcal{R}_{eg} with the compact-open topology, i.e. the uniform convergence on compact sets. We define the so-called Bebutov flow on the space \mathcal{R}_{eg} as:

$$S_{\tau}: \mathcal{R}_{eg} \to \mathcal{R}_{eg}, \gamma \mapsto S_{\tau}\gamma, \ (S_{\tau}\gamma)(t) = \gamma(t+\tau).$$
 (22)

and the associated projection:

$$\Psi: \mathcal{R}_{eg} \to \mathbb{R}^d: \Psi(\gamma) = \gamma(0).$$
(23)

In particular, one has $\Psi(S_{\tau}\gamma) = (S_{\tau}\gamma)(0) = \gamma(\tau)$.

Note that γ in Eq. (21) is extended by continuity to be defined for $\tau = 0$, namely $f(\cdot, \infty)$ is implicitly assumed to be a welldefined (not interesting) limit. The following does not depend on this convention since one is looking at the (interesting) singular limit $\tau \to \infty$. Moreover, the mapping itself $\kappa \to 0$ to $\tau \to \infty$ is arbitrary, we just fix one.

Remark: The Bebutov flow is a classical construction that represents any continuous function as the realisation of a dynamical system in an infinite-dimensional (topological) phase space (see Theorem 7.2.1 in [55]). It is often said that γ is the trace of the (Bebutov) dynamical system. We call this interpretation *canonical* because it always holds no matter γ . Note that the infinite-dimensional dynamical system S_{τ} and

the mapping Ψ are well-defined and in particular continuous in the compact-open topology. However, S_{τ} has an unusual feature as phase space and dynamical time τ are intrinsically linked. A strikingly similar situation arises in self-similar blowups in shell models [30, 19], contrasting with the classical PDE framework, where functional space and dynamical time of the propagators remain uncoupled in general. There are multiple ways to introduce a (semi)group structure including the interesting possibility to define a skew-product flow. Another well-known approach is to build a discrete semigroup based on the symmetries of the inviscid system: this is the renormalisation group (RG).

To emphasise the connection with the previous sections, we denote $\mathcal{A} = (\mathcal{A}_1, \dots, \mathcal{A}_d)$ with $\mathcal{A}(\kappa) = \gamma(1/\kappa), \gamma \in \mathcal{R}_{eg}$. Assume that one wants to know the probability that $\mathcal{A}(0)$ is in a particular region of \mathbb{R}^d , i.e. $\Pr(\mathcal{A}(x) \in B | x \in [0, \kappa])$, where *B* is a Borel set of \mathbb{R}^d . It is, as before, described by the pushforward of the normalised Lebesgue measure λ_{κ} , namely the resulting probability measure is $\mu_{\kappa} = \mathcal{A}_{\star} \lambda_{\kappa}$:

$$\langle \mu_{\kappa}, F \rangle = \frac{1}{\kappa} \int_{0}^{\kappa} F(\mathcal{A}(x)) dx = T \int_{T}^{\infty} F(\gamma(\tau)) \frac{d\tau}{\tau^{2}},$$
$$T := \frac{1}{\kappa}, \text{ for all } F \in C_{b}(\mathbb{R}^{d}; \mathbb{R}).$$

A frequently asked question is: what observables O in Definition 1 are eligible for detecting SpSt? This is answered by the following simple result:

Property 2. Let $S_0 = \{\Phi_t[f_0(\cdot)]x_0\}$, and (O, t, x_0) satisfying (SpSt) then $O|_{S_0} \neq \text{cst}$ and $O(S_0)$ is a closed interval.

Proof: see Appendix 11.2.

5.3.2. All probability measures are attainable by spontaneous stochasticity

Despite the rather abstract concepts and results which follow, this section is driven by pragmatism: we want to know which statistics can be attained by spontaneous stochasticity. The following is a measure-theoretic approach, namely instead of focusing on the dynamics of the Bebutov flow, we will investigate the statistical properties of the flow. We first define the probability measure space with support the available values at time *t* of the inviscid system (\mathcal{P}_0):

$$\mathcal{M}_0 = \mathcal{P}(S_0), \ S_0 = \{\Phi_t[f_0(.)]x_0\}.$$
 (24)

where S_0 is compact (and also connected by Kneser's theorem). Before proceeding, we need some useful Lemma:

Lemma 1. Assume that $\lim_{T\to\infty} \frac{1}{T} \int_1^T F(\gamma(\tau)) d\tau = \overline{F}$, for all $F \in C_b(\mathbb{R}^d; \mathbb{R})$, then

$$\lim_{T \to \infty} \int_{1}^{\infty} F(\gamma(\tau T)) \frac{d\tau}{\tau^2} = \bar{F}.$$
 (25)

Proof: it is given in Appendix 11.3.

We finally define the family of probability measures:

$$\langle \mu_T, F \rangle = \int_1^\infty F \circ \Psi(\mathcal{S}_{\tau T} \gamma) \frac{d\tau}{\tau^2}, \quad \forall F \in C_b(\mathbb{R}^d; \mathbb{R}).$$
(26)

It is tight due to the boundedness of γ . By applying Lemma 1, tightness together with Prokhorov's Theorem, we can define the probability measure space $\mathcal{M}(\gamma) \subset \mathcal{P}(\mathbb{R}^d)$, equipped with the weak topology:

$$\mathcal{M}(\gamma) = \left\{ \mu \mid \exists T_n \to \infty, \langle \mu, F \rangle = \lim_{T_n \to \infty} \langle \mu_{T_n}, F \rangle \\ = \lim_{T_n \to \infty} \frac{1}{T_n} \int_0^{T_n} F \circ \Psi(\mathcal{S}_\tau \gamma) d\tau \right\}.$$
 (27)

Here the equalities are understood to hold for all $F \in C_b(\mathbb{R}^n; \mathbb{R})$. Sometimes, we will use the equivalent writing $\mu = \lim_{T_n \to \infty} \frac{1}{T_n} \int_0^{T_n} \delta_{\gamma(s)} ds$ (limit understood in the weak topology). We can state the interesting result on the structure of $\mathcal{M}(\gamma)$:

Property 3. The probability measure space $\mathcal{M}(\gamma) \subset \mathcal{M}_0$ is compact and is such that either one of the two possibilities occurs:

- $\mathcal{M}(\gamma)$ reduces to a singleton containing a measure μ and γ is necessarily generic w.r.t. μ . In such a case, if μ is non-Dirac then (\mathcal{P}_{κ}) is SpSt and the system selects μ in the inviscid limit $\kappa \to 0$.
- M(γ) contains a non-empty (possibly a continuum) set of measures where γ is such that it is non-generic for all measures in M(γ). Convexity is not guaranteed.

Proof: see Appendix 11.4.

In the case $\mathcal{M}(\gamma)$ does not reduce to a singleton, we will say that

 γ is non-renormalisable.

We will give two nontrivial examples of non-renormalisable γ , giving either a convex or nonconvex set $\mathcal{M}(\gamma)$ not reducing to a singleton. They correspond to typical regularisations which oscillate too slowly w.r.t. the ambient Lebesgue measure:

- $\gamma(s) = e^{i \log s}$. One obtain the set of measures $\mathcal{M}(\gamma) = \{\mu_a\}_{a \in [0,2\pi]}$ with $\langle \mu_a, F \rangle = \int_0^1 F(e^{ia}s^i) ds$. This set is non-convex (see details in Appendix 11.4).
- $\gamma(s) = \tanh(s \sin \log s)$. One obtains $\mathcal{M}(\gamma) = {\mu_a}_{a \in [\sigma, 1-\sigma]}$ with $\sigma = \frac{1}{1+e^{\pi}}$ and $\mu_a = a\delta_{+1} + (1-a)\delta_{-1}$. This set is convex (see details in Appendix 11.5).

We now collect all the probability measure spaces $\mathcal{M}(\gamma)$ into one big set

$$\mathcal{M} = \bigcup_{\gamma \in \mathcal{R}_{eg}} \mathcal{M}(\gamma), \tag{28}$$

still equipped with the weak topology. In the following, we show that \mathcal{M} is in fact equal to \mathcal{M}_0 and as a consequence compact and convex. It means that all probability measures on the compact set S_0 , can be attained by ad-hoc regularisations. We first show that for all $x \in S_0$ there is a regularisation $\gamma_x \in \mathcal{R}_{eg}$ such that $\mathcal{M}(\gamma_x) = \{\delta_x\}$. In other words, for this γ_x there is a classical selection principle to a given solution of (\mathcal{P}_0), i.e. no spontaneous stochasticity. The next step is to build regularisations that attain any convex combinations of these Dirac measures. These measures are the *extreme* points, or "pure states" of \mathcal{M}_0 . Since the closed convex hull of $\{\delta_x\}_{x\in S_0}$ is precisely \mathcal{M}_0 , then one concludes that $\mathcal{M}_0 = \mathcal{M}$. This is the following theorem:

Theorem 1. Let $\mathcal{M}_0 = \mathcal{P}(S_0)$, see Eq. (24), and denote $\mathcal{E} = \{\delta_x\}_{x \in S_0}$, one has $\mathcal{M}_0 = \overline{\operatorname{co}}(\mathcal{E})^4$ and

$$\mathcal{M} = \mathcal{M}_0. \tag{29}$$

As a consequence \mathcal{M} is both compact and the closed convex hull of its extreme points \mathcal{E} .

Proof: see Appendix 11.6.

An interesting corollary is that one can construct an almost explicit regularised problem, (\mathcal{P}_{κ}) , which contains all statistical behaviours and for which a probability measure cannot be defined in the inviscid limit $\kappa \to 0$.

Corollary 1. There exists a non-renormalisable regularisation γ_{un} such that

$$\mathcal{M}(\gamma_{\rm un})=\mathcal{M}_0$$

Proof: see Appendix 11.7.

5.3.3. The Bebutov attack: from RG to universality classes

Let us summarise our work. We defined a space, \mathcal{R}_{eg} , consisting of continuous bounded curves $\gamma : \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}^d$, whose asymptotics describe how regularisations behave as they approach the inviscid system. On this space, equipped with the compact-open topology, we introduced a well-defined infinitedimensional dynamical system known as the Bebutov flow, which shifts these curves while taking a given regularisation as the initial condition. One can then analyse the Bebutov flow's dynamics in terms of invariant sets, attractors, and basins of attraction. For instance, a fixed attracting point corresponds to a selection principle for all regularisations within its basin toward a specific solution of the inviscid system. Spontaneous stochasticity, on the other hand, corresponds to more complex invariant sets. The connection with RG approaches thus becomes much clearer. However, in our finite-dimensional setting, everything can be rigorously defined.

Rather than studying the Bebutov dynamics directly, we focused on its statistical properties and the measures supported on

$${}^{4}\mathrm{co}(A) = \left\{ \sum_{i=1}^{k} \theta_{i} a_{i} | k \in \mathbb{N}, \theta_{i} \ge 0, \sum_{i=1}^{k} \theta_{i} = 1, a_{i} \in A \right\}$$

the invariant sets. A measure selection principle arises whenever a probability distribution can be defined in the inviscid limit. We encoded these statistical properties in a broader space of probability measures, $\mathcal{M} = \bigcup_{\gamma \in \mathcal{R}_{eg}} \mathcal{M}(\gamma)$, where weak subsequential limits exist, see Eq. (27). Remarkably, this space coincides with the space of all probability measures associated with the inviscid system, $\mathcal{M}_0 := \mathcal{P}(S_0), S_0 = \{\Phi_t[f_0(\cdot)]x_0\}$. The key consequence is that one can construct a regularisation to target any probability measure in $\mathcal{P}(S_0)$. As far as we know, this correspondence has not been established before.

It is then possible to define universality classes for free. Consider a given measure $\mu \in \mathcal{M}_0$, we define its generic set as

$$\mathcal{B}_{\mu} := \left\{ \gamma \in \mathcal{R}_{\text{eg}} | \lim_{T \to \infty} \frac{1}{T} \int_{0}^{T} F(\Psi(\mathcal{S}_{\tau}\gamma)) d\tau = \langle \mu, F \rangle \right\}, \quad (30)$$

for all $F \in C_b(\mathbb{R}^d; \mathbb{R})$. From the previous results, the filtered partition applies:

$$\mathcal{R}_{eg} \setminus \{\gamma \text{ non-renormalisable}\} = \bigsqcup_{\mu \in \mathcal{M}_0} \mathcal{B}_{\mu}, \qquad (31)$$

where \mathcal{B}_{μ} is never empty, possibly reducing to a singleton modulo the translation by the Bebutov flow. This set is precisely playing the role of basins of attractions in classical RG approaches but at a statistical level. Even more importantly, spontaneous stochasticity can appear provided regularisations have the property to "mix" but in the weakest possible form: ergodicity. By Definition 2 and Eq. (23), this partition remains independent of the chosen dynamical system, as Birkhoff averages do not involve S_{τ} at the end. However, the dynamics in \mathcal{R}_{eg} still depend on the specific choice of S_{τ} . Our method is just offering a trick to frame the problem through dynamical systems in a very intuitive way. We give a sketch of the scenario in Fig. 6.

In this section, (t, x_0) are kept fixed. If one makes t varies, a typical scenario can occur where the inviscid system is (locally) well-posed until $t \le t^*$ (the blow-up time). In this case, one observes a *set bifurcation* where \mathcal{M} switches from a singleton to a larger set necessarily containing non-Dirac measures. Even more spectacular scenario can occur where a cascade of set bifurcations is triggered as t increases. A simple example is given in Section 5.5.5. This simple fact leads to a very provocative statement:

If \mathcal{M}_0 is not a singleton, then there exist regularisations for which (\mathcal{P}_{κ}) is SpSt!

This result is a direct consequence of Theorem 1: one can always construct a renormalisable regularisation by taking two arbitrary points $x \neq y$ in S_0 to produce $\theta \delta_x + (1-\theta)\delta_y$, $\theta \in (0, 1)$. As a consequence, one can root SpSt in the lack of uniqueness for (\mathcal{P}_0). This question is addressed in Section 5.5.

Many further developments are possible:

 We note that non-renormalisable γ may be interpreted as a form of spontaneous stochasticity but at the measure



Figure 6: A tale of spontaneous stochasticity. We present our results graphically. On the left, the infinite-dimensional space of all regularisations is denoted \mathcal{R}_{eg} , where each point γ represents a specific regularisation. These regularisations evolve under the Bebutov flow. For each γ , we define a set-valued map $\gamma \mapsto \mathcal{M}(\gamma)$ using ergodic subsequential limits. If $\mathcal{M}(\gamma)$ consists of a single element, then we can define a unique probability measure on the space of solutions of the inviscid system. Otherwise, the regularisation is classified as non-renormalisable (NR). The set of probability measures obtained coincides exactly with the space of probability measures for the inviscid system, denoted $\mathcal{M}_0 = \mathcal{P}(S_0)$, which is depicted on the right. This space is convex and compact, with its extreme points corresponding to the Dirac measures $\delta_x, x \in S_0$. By definition, these specific regularisations are not SpSt. Finally, by excluding non-renormalisable regularisations γ_{NR} , we obtain a well-defined partition of the space, structured around genericity sets \mathcal{B}_{μ} under the Bebutov flow. The diagram highlights two sets in red and blue, each representing a universality class \mathcal{B}_{μ} . These classes contain all regularisations that converge to the same measure μ in the inviscid limit. Spontaneous stochasticity occurs as soon as \mathcal{M}_0 undergoes a set bifurcation from the well-posed singleton regime!

level. However, care must be taken as it may simply reflect a poor sampling choice–specifically, an inadequate ambient measure used to define probabilities. The question remains open, as it is unclear whether there exist nonrenormalisable regularisations that remain irreducible under any reparametrisation.

Conjecture. For all non-renormalisable $\gamma \in \mathcal{R}_{eg}$, there exists some continuous measurable h with $h(\tau) \to \infty, \tau \to \infty$, such that $\mathcal{M}(\gamma \circ h)$ reduces to a singleton.

We do believe this conjecture to be true in which case SpSt must be "idempotent". If it is not, then the Bebutov pushforward $(S_{\tau})_{\star}$ becomes nontrivial so that SpSt is observed at the measure level, say "level-1" SpSt.

- A key question is the size of these universality classes. In particular, the presence of chaos in the inviscid system is likely to play a significant role. Consider the following formal scenario: suppose S_{τ} is a chaotic dynamical system with a compact attractor \mathcal{A} and an SRB measure μ_{SRB} supported on it. Then the basin of attraction $\mathcal{B}(\mu_{\text{SRB}})$ is expected to contain a large class - measure-theoretically - of regularisations γ_0 that are attracted to \mathcal{A} in the compactopen topology. Non-generic (non-prevalent) regularisations are expected to form much smaller sets or may even fail to be renormalisable. Even more importantly, the choice of a specific ambient measure does not matter, as long as it is absolutely continuous with respect to Lebesgue. For any $\gamma_0 \in \mathcal{B}(\mu_{\text{SRB}}), \mathcal{M}(\gamma_0) = {\mu_{\text{SRB}}}, \text{ even}$ after reparameterising γ_0 – provided the reparameterisation preserves absolute continuity. This provides evidence that regularisations satisfying stronger mixing properties than ergodicity are statistically more stable. It is highly reminiscent of the results obtained in [34].
- As already observed, the probability measures in \mathcal{M} depend on time *t* and the initial condition *x* from (\mathcal{P}_0), and should be denoted by $\mu_{t,x}$. These limiting measures are known in the literature as *Young measures*. Given the intimate connection between ODEs and transport equations, it is essential to take into account the dependence on (*t*, *x*). In particular these measures can be used to build dissipative weak solutions of the transport PDE. We will investigate these aspects in a near future.

5.4. Stochastic versus deterministic regularisations

In many cases, regularisations of (\mathcal{P}_0) involve randomisation (see e.g., in the PDE case [8], [81] and [34] in the ODE case). This introduces two small parameters: the noise amplitude ϵ , and a cut-off parameter – such as viscosity – represented here by κ . In our framework, this leads to a broader class of regularised problems, denoted ($\mathcal{P}_{\epsilon,\kappa}^{\omega}$), constrained by $\mathcal{P}_{0,0}^{\omega} = \mathcal{P}_0$, making the link with the inviscid deterministic model. The parameter ϵ controls the noise intensity with realisations ω . Deterministic regularisations correspond to taking the limit $\epsilon \to 0$ first, then $\kappa \to 0$. Reversing this order – taking $\kappa \to 0$ first – typically yields a single regularisation by noise. The two limits do not commute in general. However, in practice one considers a joint limit $\epsilon, \kappa \to 0$, where one must clearly define how the two parameters are linked – for instance, by setting $\kappa = \kappa(\epsilon)$ and then analyzing the limit as a single inviscid limit when the noise amplitude ϵ goes to zero.

Assume for a moment, one would like to rephrase Definition 1 for stochastic/randomised regularisations. Assume that $\kappa = \kappa(\epsilon)$, then we define $\mu_{\epsilon}(B)$ as the probability that $O(u_{\epsilon,\kappa})$ solution of $(\mathcal{P}_{\epsilon,\kappa}^{\omega})$ at time *t* and initial condition x_0 is in some Borel set $B \subset \mathbb{R}$.

Denote μ all subsequential limits (in the weak topology) of μ_{ϵ} then hypothesis (H0) would become $\mu \in \mathcal{P}(O_0)$, the set of probability measures with support O_0 and where $O_0 := \{O(\Phi_t[f_0(\cdot)]x_0)\}$ and Definition 1 would take the form

$$\inf_{\mu} \inf_{x \sim \mu} x < \sup_{\mu} \sup_{x \sim \mu} x.$$
(32)

Note that the essential inf/sup are not needed since the support of the measures μ_{ϵ} are connected by Kneser theorem and O is continuous. This definition covers the important case where a weak limit exists: $\mu_{\epsilon} \rightarrow \mu$ with μ non-Dirac. However, as in Definition 1, we also allow more general situations where no such limit exists. All these probabilistic elements, in fact, arise naturally from our deterministic framework as well. This was the focus of Subsection 5.3. Notably, the discussion does not depend on whether the finite- κ regularisation is random or deterministic. To keep the exposition simple and avoid introducing extra notation, we purposely restrict ourselves to deterministic regularisations and a single-parameter limit. We give a sketch in Fig. 7. However, we would like to insist again on a fundamental aspect of spontaneous stochasticity.

Contrary to common intuition, randomising the regularisation is not required for stochastic effects to appear.

It is necessary to clarify an important point regarding the notion of randomness. A standard protocol in turbulence consists in sampling a set of initial conditions for different Reynolds numbers – that is, in our setting, for different values of $1/\kappa$ (and, in our case, for the same initial condition x_0). The empirical average then amounts to estimating the pushforward of a background measure, such as a normalised Lebesgue measure, that is, an estimate of the integral like in (19).

Indeed, (spontaneous) stochasticity may arise when regularisations approach the inviscid system in a rapidly oscillating and erratic way, even if the vector fields themselves are deterministic and converge in the sense of (H0). While such oscillations can generate genuine randomness, this phenomenon can only occur in the singular limit. In order for this randomness to persist at the limit as stochastic behaviour, it is necessary that the inviscid system be ill-posed. This condition is both essential and is addressed in Subsection 5.5. If the inviscid system is well-posed, such stochastic effects cannot arise; the mechanism is effectively excluded. Yet ill-posedness, on its own, does not guarantee stochastic behaviour. The absence of a selection mechanism in the inviscid limit – linked to the regularisation – is also required. The function $x \mapsto \sin \frac{1}{x}$ as $x \to 0$ provides



Figure 7: We focus on deterministic regularisations, represented by the red plane, with a single inviscid limit $\kappa \to 0$. More general stochastic regularisations take the form $f^{\omega,\epsilon}(\cdot,\kappa)$, where ϵ controls the noise amplitude and $f^{\omega,0}(\cdot,0) = f_0(\cdot)$. In such cases, one must specify the relation between ϵ and κ and consider the limit $\epsilon \to 0$ with $\kappa = \kappa(\epsilon)$. Note that each of these limits can yield different selection mechanisms within \mathcal{P}_0 . Most of our results (Subsections 5.3 and 5.5) can be extended to this general framework.

a useful analogy: it exemplifies how regularised systems can fail to converge to a single limit, instead exhibiting different limiting behaviours along different subsequences – mirroring what may occur in the inviscid limit. Likewise, randomness in the limit enters through the choice of these subsequences. This gives rise to a probability space $(\Omega, \mathcal{F}, \mu)$, where Ω is the set of converging sequences $x_n \to 0$ for which $\limsup \frac{1}{x_n}$ exists. Defining $X(\omega) = \lim_{n\to\infty} \sin \frac{1}{x_n}$ yields a random variable whose distribution is the arc sine law.

Lastly, it is worth noting that the autonomous case does, in fact, include the non-autonomous one through the standard reformulation: $\dot{x} = f(x, t)$ becomes $\dot{x} = f(x, y)$, $\dot{y} = 1$. Under our assumption (H0), all relevant quantities remain bounded, so no compactness issues "at infinity" arise. For example, we do not require any notion of an attractor as $t \to \infty$, since t is always finite and (\mathcal{P}_0) itself stays bounded.

5.5. Which inviscid systems can exhibit spontaneous stochasticity?

This section aims to provide deeper insight into systems that may exhibit (SpSt). The goal is to establish a sufficiently sharp necessary condition. Rather than examining which regularisations (\mathcal{P}_{κ}) are SpSt – a question addressed in the previous section – we focus on identifying necessary properties of the inviscid system (\mathcal{P}_0) that allow (\mathcal{P}_{κ}) to be SpSt. In light of Section 5.3, this question solely amounts to investigate the lack of uniqueness for (\mathcal{P}_0), namely systems for which S_0 (and therefore \mathcal{M}_0) is not a singleton.

To clarify the goal, [34] established a sharp condition for a class of systems to be SpSt. These systems correspond to dy-

namical systems with an isolated Hölder singularity. As we will see, they fall within the conditions under which SpSt can occur. Examples of this kind are provided in Subsection 5.5.4, as they are expected to play an important role in physics.

We therefore aim at identifying a necessary condition for nonuniqueness in the inviscid system (\mathcal{P}_0). The anticipated scenario is that the inviscid flow hits a singular set in finite time. However, the precise definition of such sets must be clarified. A typical example is a non-Lipschitz isolated singularity $x^* \in \mathbb{R}^n$, where $f(x^*) = 0$ lacks Lipschitz continuity, though this is not a sufficient condition. There are also cases where $f(x^*) \neq 0$, yet x^* still leads to a loss of uniqueness for flows going through it (see Subsection 5.5.4).

In all the following, we assume f at least continuous to ensure Peano's classical solution existence. Numerous theorems addressing uniqueness exist for general nonautonomous systems of the form $\dot{x} = f(x, t)$, $x(t_0) = x_0$ (see, in chronological order [84, 1, 47, 6]). These results typically take the form: if condition (A) holds then the solution to the Cauchy problem is unique. Consequently by contraposition, there are many possible necessary conditions of the form $\neg(A)$ for nonuniqueness. In order to obtain some sharper condition, one must look at a "disjunction" of different uniqueness theorems. The 1-D autonomous case is well understood. First the singular set, denoted Γ^{\star} , is necessarily reduced to an isolated critical point x^{\star} i.e. such that $f(x^{\star}) = 0$ (by a straightforward use of the implicit theorem, see e.g. Theorem 1.2.7 in [1]). Second, f must increases sufficiently rapidly in the neighborhood of x^{\star} either to the left or right, in particular it cannot be decreasing or being Lipschitz at x^* . The optimal growth rate condition is convergence of at least one of the integral $\int_{x^{\star\pm}} \frac{dx}{f(x)}$. With respect to the initial condition, it is highly constrained in 1-D, either $x(0) = x^*$ or if $x_0 < x^*$, then f must be positive so that x^{\star} is reached in finite time (and conversely $x_0 > x^{\star}$, f must be negative). Typical examples giving nonunique solutions are $\dot{x} = \operatorname{sign}(x)|x|^{\alpha}$, $\dot{x} = \pm |x|^{\alpha}$, $\alpha \in (0, 1)$. But systems like $\dot{x} = |x|^{\alpha} + cst$ or $\dot{x} = -sign(x)|x|^{\alpha}$ have unique solutions no matter the initial condition.

5.5.1. A necessary condition for nonuniqueness in the inviscid system

The situation in dimension above one is much less favorable, in particular $f(x^*) = 0$ is no more necessary which is the main reason this problem becomes nontrivial. The aim here is thus to modestly characterise regions where 1) f has some expanding behaviour 2) f is not Lipschitz.

We consider here a similar idea to that of Dini derivatives (see Appendix 11.8). They correspond to a generalised notion of derivatives in contexts where f is not even continuous. Dini derivatives share many desirable properties with classical derivatives. For instance, being Lipschitz continuous is equivalent to having finite Dini derivatives. They therefore provide a natural and practical way to express non-Lipschitz behaviour. We slightly extend the notion to the Osgood property. Let us introduce the following definitions:

Definition 3. Let $f : \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R}^n$, Let $v \in \mathbb{S}^{n-1}$, then

$$\Lambda_{\Omega}^{+}(x,v) := \limsup_{t \to 0^{+}} \left\langle \frac{f(x+tv) - f(x)}{\Omega(t)}, v \right\rangle.$$

where Ω is a modulus of continuity: $\Omega : \mathbb{R}^+ \to \mathbb{R}^+, \Omega(0) = 0$ and $\int_{0^+} \frac{dz}{\Omega(z)} = \infty$.

We also introduce a notion of stable finite-time set:

Definition 4. Let $\Phi : (t, x_0) \mapsto \Phi_t x_0$ be the flows associated to $\dot{x} = f(x), x(0) = x_0$, and consider some arbitrary set $\Gamma \subset \mathbb{R}^n$

$$W^{-}(\Gamma) \equiv \bigcup_{\Phi} \left\{ x \in \mathbb{R}^{n} \mid \exists t^{\star} < \infty, \ t^{\star} \ge 0, \\ \lim_{t \to t^{\star}} \operatorname{dist}(\Phi_{t}x, \Gamma) = 0 \right\}$$
(33)

From this definition, one can derive a useful necessary condition for breaking uniqueness and thus having (SpSt):

Theorem 2. Assume that (\mathcal{P}_0) has nonunique solutions, then one can find some Ω and a nonempty set $\Gamma^* \subset \mathbb{R}^n$ such that $x_0 \in \mathcal{W}^-(\Gamma^*)$ where

$$\Gamma^{\star} = \{ x \in \mathbb{R}^n \mid \exists v, \|v\| = 1, \ \Lambda_{\Omega}^+(x, v) = +\infty \}.$$

Proof: see Appendix 11.8.

Obviously, this is also a necessary condition for all regularisations (\mathcal{P}_{κ}) having SpSt. The idea is to replace the classical notion of Jacobian of f by some weaker notion involving Dini (directional) derivatives (say with $\Omega(z) = z$). The unit vectors v indeed plays the role of an eigenvector and Γ^* simply detects regions in phase space where the eigenvalues blow up to $+\infty$.

In addition, one can also characterise for free the set of initial conditions giving spontaneous stochasticity by a straightforward generalisation of a stable set. Note that such result is not sharp and cannot be sufficient. However, there is still room to improve this condition. We let it for future work.

The 1-D case is rather particular and is of less interest, in particular the critical condition $f(x^*) = 0$ is not distinguished. This is expected since Theorem 2 is aimed at situations where nonuniqueness arises from more general situations than those due solely to the presence of non-Lipschitz critical points. We next illustrate these results through various examples (Subsections 5.5.2–5.5.5).

5.5.2. Example 1

We consider the well-known example $\dot{x} = f(x), x(0) = x_0$ with $f(x) = x^{\frac{1}{3}}$. The function *f* has a Lipschitz singularity at 0. Following [32], we consider the regularised system $\dot{x} = f(x, \kappa)$, and $f(\cdot, \kappa)$ is defined as

$$(\mathcal{P}_{\kappa}): \begin{cases} \dot{x} = f(x) \quad |x| > \kappa \\ \dot{x} = \kappa^{\frac{1}{3}}G(\frac{x}{\kappa},\kappa) \quad |x| \leq \kappa \end{cases}, \quad (34)$$

where $G(x, \kappa) = \xi(x)f(x) + (1 - \xi(x))\frac{\omega(\kappa) + x}{2}$ with $\xi(x) = 3x^2 - 2|x|^3$. Since hypothesis (H0) is obviously satisfied, it guarantees that \mathcal{A} is well-defined as a function. The regularised system is

well-posed. We will use two different regularisations denoted \mathcal{A}_1 and \mathcal{A}_2 with resp. $\omega_1(\kappa) = \sin \frac{1}{\kappa}$ and $\omega_2 = 0.5 + \sin(\frac{1}{\kappa} + \text{cst})$. Note that these deterministic functions rapidly change their sign when κ becomes small. They introduce a source of uncertainty that vanishes in the limit as $\kappa \to 0$, playing a role similar to that of a random variable.

Considering Definition 1, one then defines $\mathcal{A}_{1,2}(\kappa) = O(x^{\kappa}) = x^{\kappa}(1)$ for the two functions $\omega_{1,2}$. This is a continuous function due to well-posedness. The result is shown in Fig. 8. For the



Figure 8: $\mathcal{A}(\kappa) = x^{\kappa}(1)$ solution of (34) for κ uniformally distributed in $[10^{-4}, 10^{-1}]$: in red \mathcal{A}_1 and in black \mathcal{A}_2 . Both measures concentrate on $\pm a$ with $a \approx 0.544$.

two regularisations \mathcal{A}_1 and \mathcal{A}_2 , the pushforward measures are not equal but their support is the same: the first perturbation yields $\frac{\delta_{+a}+\delta_{-a}}{2}$ whereas the second perturbation is $\theta\delta_{+a}+(1-\theta)\delta_{-a}$ with $\theta \approx 0.7$. To summarise:

- (P_κ) is SpSt for A₁, A₂ and regularisation by additive noise. One must necessarily have x₀ = 0 for any choice t > 0.
- (\mathcal{P}_{κ}) is not $\mathcal{S}p\mathcal{S}t$ when taking $\omega(\kappa) = \text{cst.}$
- (\mathcal{P}_{κ}) : $dX_t = \operatorname{sign}(\sin X_t) |\sin X_t|^{\alpha} dt + \sqrt{2\kappa} dW_t, x(0) = x_0 \alpha \in (0, 1)$ is SpSt for $x_0 = 2k\pi, k \in \mathbb{Z}$. Theorem 2 is satisfied with Dini derivatives equal to $+\infty$ only at $x_0 = 2k\pi, k \in \mathbb{Z}$ so that $\Gamma^* = (2k\pi)_{k\in\mathbb{Z}}$. Moreover $\mathcal{W}^-(\Gamma^*) = \Gamma^*$.

5.5.3. Example 2

We discuss again a 1-D example which deserves some important comments. It is inspired by [2, 38]. The inviscid system is the simple $\dot{x} = \sqrt{|x|}$ with initial condition $x(0) = -c^2 < 0$. It has an infinity of solutions: the pre-blowup life is until time $t^* = 2|c|$ where it reaches the Hölder singularity 0. Then the solution can wait an arbitrary long time $T \ge 0$ at 0 until it takes off: $x(t) = \frac{1}{4}(t - T - 2|c|)^2$. We consider two different regularisations, one is adding some additive noise

 $dx = \sqrt{|x|}dt + \sqrt{\kappa}dW_t, x(0) = -c^2$, the other takes the form

$$f(x,\kappa) = \mathbb{1}_{(-\infty,-\kappa^2]}(x)\sqrt{|x|} + \mathbb{1}_{[-\kappa^2,\kappa T - \kappa^2]}(x)\kappa$$
$$+\mathbb{1}_{]\kappa T - \kappa^2,+\infty}(x)\sqrt{x - \kappa T + 2\kappa^2}, \qquad (35)$$

where $\mathbb{1}_{I}(x)$ is the characteristic function equals to 1 if $x \in I$ and 0 else. As discussed in [2], this regularisation selects a solution that remains at 0 for a duration of time T. Consequently, the regularised system can be fully controlled to match any target distribution. In Fig. 9, we deliberately randomise T so that the system becomes SpSt and selects three equally likely, disjoint intervals! Alternatively, one could carefully design some rapidly oscillating function $T = T(\kappa)$ inspired by the technique (60), as in the previous example which would give the same result (not shown). There is in fact no need to randomise $f(\cdot, \kappa)$. The system is not SpSt when regularised by classical additive noise. This example once again demonstrates that one cannot expect (SpSt) to give simple universality properties, not only at the measure level but also regarding the set of selected solutions. This system (or any other) exemplifies Theorem 1: it is possible to design a regularisation of $\sqrt{|x|}$ that converges to any target probability distribution in \mathcal{M}_0 with support $S_0 = [0, \frac{1}{4}(t-2|c|)^2], t \ge 2|c|$ (see Eq. (24)) as $\kappa \to 0$.



Figure 9: Solutions selected in the limit $\kappa \to 0$ for the system $\dot{x} = \sqrt{|x|}, x(0) = -c^2$ for two different regularisations, in red by additive noise: the system is not SpSt ($\mathcal{A}^+ = \mathcal{A}^-$), in blue using the regularisation (35) with $T \in [1, \frac{3}{2}] \cup [2, \frac{5}{2}] \cup [3, \frac{7}{2}]$ uniformally distributed, the system becomes SpSt for all t > 2|c| + 1 ($\mathcal{A}^+ > \mathcal{A}^-$). The black dots are for $c = 1/\sqrt{2}$, $(t_0, x_0) = (0, -0.5)$ and $(t^*, x^*) = (\sqrt{2}, 0)$. The inset shows the case with $-\sqrt{|x|}$ and $x_0 = +c^2$ (minus the regularisation (35)).

5.5.4. Example 3

We consider a system with an isolated Hölder singularity at the origin. Isolated Hölder singularities are believed to play an important role in shell models of turbulence [30, 61]. A detailed measure-theoretic analysis can be found in [32, 34]. These systems take the form

$$\dot{x} = |x|^{\alpha} F(y), \ y = \frac{x}{|x|} \in \mathbb{S}^{n-1}, F : \mathbb{S}^{n-1} \to \mathbb{R}^n.$$

Using the convention of [32], one can write *F* as a decomposition into radial and tangential components: $F(y) = F_r(y)y + F_s(y)$, with $F_r : \mathbb{S}^{n-1} \to \mathbb{R}$ and $F_s : \mathbb{S}^{n-1} \to T\mathbb{S}^{n-1}$. We note that the Dini directional derivatives along some vector $v \in \mathbb{S}^{n-1}$ at the singularity x = 0, reduce in this case to

$$\Lambda_{z}^{+}(0, v) = \limsup_{t \to 0^{+}} t^{\alpha - 1} F_{r}(v) \in \{-\infty, 0, +\infty\}.$$

In order for Theorem 2 to apply, one must necessarily have directions v for which $F_r(v) > 0$. This property is indeed the same than the *defocusing* property considered in [34] (see (b), p.1859). In general, such singularities can be seen as generalised 'saddles', including purely unstable critical points, and are distinguished by having both nontrivial stable and unstable sets.

Note that we also allow the initial condition to be on the singularity like in 1-D but the stable set $\mathcal{W}^{-}(0)$ in fact provides a detailed characterisation of all "pre-blowup" initial conditions. The example presented here is a slight modification of the 2 d.o.f. example studied in [32], but, unlike the original, it does exhibit (SpSt). It takes the form

$$F(y) = y(y_1 + y_2) - y^{\perp}y_1y_2^2, \ y^{\perp} = (-y_2, y_1).$$
(36)

This example is not trivial and has in particular homoclinic orbits with overlapping stable and unstable sets. Indeed, using the conventions of [32, 34], the renormalised system $\dot{y} = (F(y) \cdot y^{\perp})y^{\perp}$ on \mathbb{S}^1 has a well-defined focusing attractor at $\varphi = \frac{3\pi}{2}$ (it guarantees finite-time blowup), but the defocusing attractor at $\varphi = 0$ in \mathbb{S}^1 is non-hyperbolic and one-sided (and a physical measure $\delta_{\varphi=0}$).

5.5.5. Example 4

We now discuss a simple example which has (SpSt) although there is no critical points. It is in fact a 1-D nonautonomous system translated into an autonomous one. Let us define $s_{\alpha,\sigma}(x_2) = \operatorname{sign}(\sin 2\pi\sigma x_2)|\sin 2\pi\sigma x_2|^{\alpha}$ and for $\alpha \in (0, 1)$, $\mu \in \mathbb{R}$,

$$\dot{x}_1 = \mu,$$

 $\dot{x}_2 = s_{\alpha,\sigma}(x_2)\sin(2\pi x_1)$
(37)

then by an abuse of notation, we can write

$$\Lambda_{z}^{+}(x,v) = (s_{\alpha,\sigma}(x_{2})\cos 2\pi x_{1})2\pi v_{1} + (\sigma\alpha s_{\alpha-1,\sigma}(x_{2})\cos(2\pi\sigma x_{2})\sin 2\pi x_{1}))2\pi v_{2}, |v| = 1.$$
(38)

Therefore, one can easily identify a nonempty singular set Γ^* corresponding to all $x = (x_1, x_2)$ such that $\sin 2\pi\sigma x_2 = 0$, i.e. $x_2 = \frac{j}{2\sigma}, j \in \mathbb{Z}$ such that $(-1)^j \sin(2\pi x_1) > 0$ or equivalently introducing the two open intervals $I_{k,1} = (2k\pi, (2k+1)\pi), I_{k,2} = I_{k,1} - \pi$ and $Y_{p,1} = \frac{p}{\sigma}, Y_{p,2} = Y_{p,1} + \frac{1}{2\sigma}$:

$$\Gamma^{\star} = \bigcup_{j,p \in \mathbb{Z}^2} I_{j,1} \times \{Y_{p,1}\} \cup I_{j,2} \times \{Y_{p,2}\}$$





Figure 10: Distribution of the solutions of (36) at t = 1.5 starting from the initial condition $x_0 = (-0.25, 0.1)$ (log-scaled colormap). The system has been regularised by additive noise of amplitude $\sqrt{\epsilon}$ with $\epsilon \to 0$. The solution for this initial condition reach the singularity at finite blowup time $t^* \approx 0.875$. The region in light blue color corresponds to the stable set associated with initial conditions giving (*SpSt*).

For all $x \in \Gamma^*$, one has $\Lambda_z^+(x, v) = +\infty$ provided $v_2 \neq 0$. The stable set $\mathcal{W}^{-}(\Gamma^{\star})$ is more difficult to characterise and depends crucially on μ , but it includes Γ^* by definition. We claim that, at least for the parameters chosen in Fig. 11, $\mathcal{W}^{-}(\Gamma^{\star}) = \mathbb{R}^{2}$, so that all initial conditions meet the singular set in finite time. This system is obviously SpSt, leading to the formation of space-filling beehive-like patterns. The hexagonal cells are constrained by the set Γ^{\star} in the x_2 -direction and by μ in the x_1 direction. These patterns result from a periodic alternation: pairs of trajectories merge into one or split into two, dictated by the x_1 position and driven by alternating phases of contraction and expansion. The number of trajectories reaching the axis $x_1 = t$ with initial condition at t_0 scales like $2^{\lfloor \lambda(\sigma,\mu)(t-t_0) \rfloor}$. We do not show the distribution at fixed time, it can be guessed from Fig. 11 as simply corresponding to a sum of Dirac terms with complicated weights.

5.6. PDE case: Lagrangian versus Eulerian Spontaneous Stochasticity

As explained elsewhere, Lagrangian Spontaneous Stochasticity (LSS) is: 1) originally framed for passive scalar transport with vanishing diffusivity; 2) tantamount to anomalous diffusion ([31]); 3) tied to dissipative weak solutions of (\mathcal{P}_0) —solutions to the inviscid problem that break energy conservation. This raises the question: how does our Definition 1 relate to LSS? Here, SpSt should be read as an Eulerian version of spontaneous stochasticity in the PDE setting. Since this connection depends on the chosen observable, we denote $SpSt|_O$ to emphasise that a continuous observable O exists such that (SpSt) is satisfied.

The PDE context requires special care, as assumption (H0) must be reformulated for infinite-dimensional settings. The problem (\mathcal{P}_{κ}) becomes $\dot{u} = F(u,\kappa)$, $u(0) = u_0$, with F:

 $H \times \mathbb{R}^+ \to H$ is now an operator. Since many results are better expressed in the language of dynamical systems, it makes sense to consider the semigroup associated with the PDE. Compactness, frequently used in earlier sections, should involve weaker topologies. Extending the results from Section 5.3 may be even more difficult. We will not pursue this further, as the details depend heavily on the specific PDE. Still, to get a feel for the new phenomena in the PDE setting, recall that in finite dimensions,

linear systems can never be SpSt under (H0). As shown below,

Figure 11: System (37) for $t \in [0, 50]$, $\mu = 1$ and $\sigma = 4$ starting from the initial

condition $x_0 = (0.1, 0.05)$ (the system has been regularised by additive noise of

amplitude $\sqrt{\epsilon}, \epsilon \to 0$ integrated for 20 different realisations). The blowup time

is $t^{\star} \approx 0.5$ (see zoom: the levels $x_2 = Y_{p,1}, Y_{p,2}$ of Γ^{\star} are also shown in red and

blue dash-dotted lines).

this is no longer necessarily true for the linear transport PDE. With that said, the following is a formal discussion. Anomalous diffusion in (1) is defined by $\lim \sup_{\kappa \to 0} \kappa ||\nabla \theta||^2_{L^2_{t,x}} > 0$ as explained in Section 3. Why not define anomalous diffusion using the liminf instead? A sharp answer is provided in recent work by [24] (see also [48]), where they construct a transport system such that one subsequence converges to an energy-conserving weak solution, and another to a dissipative one (Theorem B). This implies that the liminf is zero, while the limsup remains positive. But this is exactly the setup for Eulerian Spontaneous Stochasticity. In fact, Definition 1 asks for an observable such that liminf < limsup. This is simply rephrased as

$$SpSt|_{\mathcal{L}_2} \Rightarrow LSS,$$

where $\mathcal{L}_2 : \theta(t, \cdot) \mapsto ||\theta(t, \cdot)||_{L^2(\mathbb{T}^d)}$. Still, it is plausible that there are observables O for which $SpSt|_O \Rightarrow$ LSS. Of course, it must involve a solution which conserves energy.

A notable counterexample to the converse, i.e. LSS \Rightarrow $SpSt|_{\mathcal{L}_2}$, is the Kraichnan model. Let us briefly explain why. The Lagrangian formulation of the advection-diffusion PDE for a passive scalar, say $\theta^{\kappa}(x,t)$ with κ the diffusion, leads to the SDE $dX_s = \mathbf{b}^{\omega}(X_s, s) ds + \sqrt{2\kappa} dW_s, X_t = x, s \leq t$. Here, \mathbf{b}^{ω} is the divergence-free Hölder Kraichnan velocity field for some fixed realisation ω , $X_s = X(s; t, x)$ corresponds to a particle's position at time *s* going through the position *x* at time *t*. By the Feymann-Kac formula, we have $\theta^{\kappa}(x,t) = \mathbb{E}[\theta_0(X_0)] = \int p^{\kappa}(y,0|x,t)\theta_0(y) dy$ where p^{κ} is the transition density. It turns out that in the Kraichnan model the (weak) limit $p^{\kappa} \rightarrow p^0$ exists. The field θ is therefore fully deterministic and there is no Eulerian Spontaneous Stochasticity. However, the limiting density p^0 is nontrivial (i.e. not a Dirac distribution), implying Lagrangian Spontaneous Stochasticity [23].

6. Lack of selection principle in the Armstrong-Vicol passive scalar [4]

Like in the first part I, for the sake of consistency, we restate the lack of selection principle in the vanishing diffusivity limit $\kappa \rightarrow 0$ proven in [4].

Proposition 5.5 1. Fix $\beta \in [68/67, 4/3)$. There exists a constant $C_{\star} = C_{\star}(\beta) \ge 1$ such that the following holds. For every parameters $A \in (0, 1]$ and B > 1, assume that Λ is taken sufficiently large with respect to β , A, B to ensure that

$$C_{\star}\Lambda^{-\delta} \leq \min\left\{A, B^{-\frac{2}{2+\gamma}(2-\beta+\frac{2\beta}{q+1})}\right\}$$

Fix the sequence $\{\epsilon_m\}_{m\geq 0}$ according to (49). Choose an initial datum $\theta_0 \in \dot{H}^2(\mathbb{T}^2)$. Define the length scale $L_{\theta_0} := \frac{\|\theta_0\|_{L^2(\mathbb{T}^2)}}{\|\nabla\theta_0\|_{L^2(\mathbb{T}^2)}}$ and let $m_{\star} \geq 1$ be the unique integer such that $\epsilon_{m^{\star}} \leq C_{\star}L_{\theta_0}^{\frac{2}{2+\gamma-2q\delta}} < \epsilon_{m^{\star}} - 1$. Assuming that θ_0 satisfies

$$\frac{\|\nabla \theta_0\|_{L^2(\mathbb{T}^2)}^4}{\|\theta_0\|_{L^2(\mathbb{T}^2)}^2} \ge A, \text{ and } C_{\star} L_{\Theta_0}^{\frac{2}{2+\gamma-2q\delta}} \le B\epsilon_{m^{\star}}.$$

there exist two sequences of diffusivities $\{\kappa_m^{(1)}\}_{m\in\mathbb{N}}$ and $\{\kappa_m^{(2)}\}_{m\in\mathbb{N}}$, both converging to 0 as $m \to \infty$, such that the corresponding solutions $\{\theta^{\kappa_m^{(1)}}\}_m$ and $\{\theta^{\kappa_m^{(2)}}\}_m$ of the advection-diffusion equation with initial data θ_0 and drift **b**, converge as $m \to \infty$ in $C^{0,\mu}((0,1); L^2(\mathbb{T}^2))$ (for some $\mu > 0$) to two distinct weak solutions of the associated transport equation.

As mentioned several time in this work, we believe that this result is even more striking than the main Theorem 1.1 on anomalous diffusion. Indeed, this result automatically implies our Definition 1 (see Section 5.2).

7. Eulerian Spontaneous Stochasticity in the Armstrong-Vicol passive scalar

We present here our own mathematical proof that the passive scalar θ^{κ} in (1) becomes Eulerian spontaneously stochastic in the sense of Definition 1 as $\kappa \to 0$. This proof is based on the [3] version and relies on key estimates in [3], in particular their section 5. It differs in some aspects from Proposition 5.5 in [4] above, we believe that it is related to our choice of taking $m^{\star} = 0$ which simplifies the demonstration.

While the result below is a corollary of their work and relatively simple in concept, it cannot be directly inferred from Theorem 1.1 of [3] (or [4]), as it stems from the proof strategy itself. The main objective is to demonstrate that (\mathcal{P}_0) in (1) satisfies Definition 1 with respect to the regularisation function $\mathcal{A}(\kappa) = \kappa ||\nabla \theta^{\kappa}||_{L^2((0,1)\times\mathbb{T}^2)}^2$ (see Definition (16)). Note that, from the energy equality, it is also equivalent to choose $\mathcal{A}(\kappa) =$ $||\theta^{\kappa}(1,\cdot)||_{L^2(\mathbb{T}^2)}$. Let $\mathcal{A}^+, \mathcal{A}^- = \limsup_{\kappa \to 0}$, $\liminf_{\kappa \to 0} \mathcal{A}(\kappa), \kappa_m$ the renormalized diffusivity at scale *m* (see Eq. (6)) and $\mathcal{A}_m^+, \mathcal{A}_m^- = \limsup_{\kappa \to 0}$, $\liminf_{\kappa \to 0} \kappa_m ||\nabla \theta_m||_{L^2((0,1)\times\mathbb{T}^2)}^2$ (see details in (61)). Our result is the following:

Theorem 3. Let $\epsilon > 0$, $m^{\star} = 0$, and $\rho_0 := \frac{\|\nabla \theta_0\|_{L^2_x}^2}{\|\theta_0\|_{L^2_x}^2} \ge (2\pi)^2$.

For Λ large enough, larger than

$$\Lambda \ge \max\left\{ \left(\frac{C}{\epsilon}\right)^{\frac{1}{\delta}}, \left(\pi \sqrt{\rho_0}\right)^{\frac{q-1}{\beta}} \right\},\tag{39}$$

then $\mathcal{A}_{m_{\star}}^{-} > 0$, $\mathcal{A}^{-} > 0$, and

$$\frac{\mathcal{A}^+}{\mathcal{A}^-} \ge e^{-4\epsilon} \frac{\mathcal{A}^+_{m_\star}}{\mathcal{A}^-_{m_\star}} > 1.$$
(40)

In particular one has (SpSt) for the problem (1).

Proof: during the preparation of the manuscript, an official published version of [3] has appeared as [4]. An explicit proof demonstrating the existence of two distinct subsequences in the inviscid limit $\kappa \rightarrow 0$, and thereby confirming that (*SpSt*) holds, can now be found in Proposition 5.5 of [4] (see above). For the sake of consistency, we have still decided to retain our proof, as it differs in some aspects, but we have postponed it to Appendix 11.11.

Consider two subsequences $(\kappa_{1,j})_{j \in \mathbb{N}}$, and $(\kappa_{2,j})_{j \in \mathbb{N}}$, $\kappa_{1,j}$, $\kappa_{2,j} \in I_j$ (see definition 50) such that

$$\varrho_p^2 := \lim_{j \to \infty} \kappa_{p,j} \frac{\|\nabla \theta^{\kappa_{p,j}}\|_{L^2}^2}{\|\theta_0\|_{L^2}^2} > 0, p \in \{1, 2\}$$

As a consequence of Theorem 3, one can find two subsequences such that $\rho_1 \neq \rho_2$. One thus obtains the lower bound

Property 4. One has $\varrho_1^2, \varrho_2^2 \in [\varrho^2, \frac{1}{2}]$, where ϱ^2 is such that $\inf_{\kappa \in \mathcal{K}_A} \|\nabla \theta^{\kappa}\|_{L^2}^2 \ge \varrho^2 \|\theta_0\|_{L^2}^2$ and $\varrho^2 \in (0, \frac{1}{2}]$ (see Theorem 1.1 of [3]),

$$\lim_{k \to \infty} \|(\theta^{\kappa_{1,j}} - \theta^{\kappa_{2,j}})(1, \cdot)\|_{L^2} \ge 2\|\theta_0\| \varrho|\varrho_1 - \varrho_2| > 0.$$

$$(41)$$

Proof: see Appendix 11.11.2.

As mentioned early in [3], this is a demonstration that there is no selection principle in the zero dissipation limit and that (1) has non-unique bounded weak solutions. In our view, the selection principle is now in term of measures in the space of weak solutions with a well-defined distribution. This distribution can be inferred from Lemma 2 by looking at the L^2 norm of θ . Let us consider a subsequence $(\kappa_{\omega,j})_{j\in\mathbb{N}}$ with $\kappa_{\omega,1} = \omega$ and $\kappa_{\omega,j} \in I_j$ and such that $\lim_{j\to\infty} \kappa_{m^*}(\kappa_{\omega,j}) = K^{\omega}_{\star}$. One has

$$\|\theta_{m^{\star}}(1,\cdot)\|_{L^{2}} = \left(\sum_{\mathbf{k}\in\mathbb{Z}^{2}}|\widehat{\theta}_{0,\mathbf{k}}|^{2}e^{-|\mathbf{k}|^{2}K_{\star}^{\omega}}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} := \mathcal{L}(K_{\star}^{\omega}) := \mathcal{L}^{\omega}.$$
 (42)

From Lemma 2, we infer that $\forall \epsilon > 0$, one can choose some Λ large enough like in Theorem 3 such that

$$| \|\theta(1,\cdot)\|_{L^{2}} - \mathcal{L}^{\omega} | \le (e^{2\varepsilon} - 1)\varsigma(\theta_{0})\|\theta_{0}\|_{L^{2}}^{2},$$
(43)

where $\varsigma(\rho_0)$ is a constant which depends on θ_0 but not ε . Of course the random variable \mathcal{L}^{ω} has a nontrivial density probability which is not a Dirac measure. We will show in the numerical Section 8 how those densities look like.

8. Numerical behaviour of the renormalisation sequence

Let $c_0 = \frac{9}{80}$, $\Lambda > 1$, $\beta \in (1, \frac{4}{3})$ and $q = \frac{\beta}{4(\beta-1)}$, we consider the sequence (6) (see notations Appendix 10.1), that we rewrite

$$\kappa_{m-1} = F_m(\kappa_m), \ \kappa_M = \kappa, \ \text{with} \ F_m(\kappa) := \kappa + c_0 \frac{\epsilon_m^{2\beta}}{\kappa}.$$

The diffusivities are described by a two-parameter semigroup $\kappa_m = \varphi(m, M)\kappa$ and we are interested in the pullback limit, for *m* fixed,

$$\mathcal{K}(m;\kappa) = \lim_{M \to \infty} \varphi(m,M)\kappa.$$
(44)

We then need to understand the behaviour of $\mathcal{K}(m;\kappa)$ when $\kappa \to 0$. Of practical importance is the fact that the double asymptotics, $M \to \infty$ first, then $\kappa \to 0$, can be replaced by a single asymptotics $\kappa \to 0$ using

$$M(\kappa)$$
 such that $\sqrt{c_0}\epsilon^{\beta}_{M(\kappa)} \propto \kappa.$ (45)

Indeed, $F_m(\kappa) \sim \kappa$ unless $c_0 \epsilon_m^{2\beta} / \kappa$ has the same order of magnitude than κ .

Let
$$z_m := \frac{\kappa_m}{\sqrt{c_0}\epsilon_m^{\beta}}, z_M = \frac{\kappa}{\sqrt{c_0}\epsilon_M^{\beta}}$$
, then
 $z_{m-1} = G_m(z_m)$, with $G_m(z) := g_m\left(z + \frac{1}{z}\right), g_m = \left(\frac{\epsilon_m}{\epsilon_{m-1}}\right)^{\beta}$.
(46)

In the geometric case, the scale separation is given by $\epsilon_m = \lceil \Lambda^m \rceil^{-1}$. Assuming, for simplicity, that $\Lambda \in \mathbb{N}$, it follows that $g_m = \Lambda^{-\beta}$. Therefore, Eq. (46) becomes autonomous. It is important to note that, in this case, the estimates presented in [3] are no longer valid. Still, it is very instructive to look at the behaviour of the diffusivities sequence. A close inspection shows that the diffusivities converge in the small κ limit:

$$\mathcal{K}_m := \lim_{\kappa \to 0} \mathcal{K}(m;\kappa) = \Lambda^{-\beta m} \sqrt{\frac{c_0}{\Lambda^{\beta} - 1}}, \forall m \ge 0.$$
(47)



Figure 12: Upper panel: standard deviation of $\log_{10} \kappa_0$ as a function of β and Λ . Regime I corresponds to κ_0 distributions having a simply-connected compact support, for $1.14 \leq \beta \leq 1.21$, and regime II to a bimodal qualitative behaviour of the κ_0 distribution. Three probability densities for the limit $\kappa \to 0$ are shown for $\beta = 1.20$, $\beta = 1.25$ ($\Lambda = 128$) and $\beta = 1.143$ ($\Lambda = 10$). Lower panel: behaviour of $\log_{10} \kappa_0$ in $\log \kappa$ scale for $\beta = 1.30$, $\Lambda = 128$ with successive zooms revealing the fractal structure. Note that the frequency slows down suggesting a log log scaling. Numerics are achieved using BigFloat precision.

Therefore, if one were able to establish a link between the renormalised sequence and the inviscid system in the geometric case as well, it would follow that the system is well-posed, yielding an atomic (Dirac) distribution, i.e. the absence of Eulerian spontaneous stochasticity.

A radically different situation occurs when one considers an hypergeometric scale separation. The sequence (46) becomes nonautonomous with

$$G_m(z) = \Lambda^{-\beta q^{m-1}} \left(z + \frac{1}{z} \right).$$
(48)

Figure 12 illustrates the behaviour of $\limsup -\limsup \beta$ of the function $\kappa \mapsto \kappa_0(\kappa)$ as a function of the parameters β and Λ in the limit $\kappa \to 0$. The corresponding distributions are shown

on a logarithmic scale. The lower panel presents the function itself for selected parameter values, highlighting its intricate fractal structure. In general, κ_0 is not of order unity and depends significantly on β (and Λ). It is O(1) only in the limit $\beta \rightarrow 1^+$. As $\beta \rightarrow \frac{4}{3}$, κ_0 becomes increasingly small – dropping by several order of magnitude. Moreover, we numerically identify a critical value $\beta^* \approx 1.1428$ above which the constraint permissible set \mathcal{K} is not required to control the sequence. Figure 12 uses β values above this critical threshold β^* . Additional numerical details on these aspects are provided in Appendix 11.14.

These results can be reinterpreted using the concepts of Section 5.3. The function $\kappa \mapsto \mathcal{K}(0;\kappa)$ in (44), which emerges from the proof in [3, 4], plays the role of a scalar regularisation function \mathcal{A} . In light of the discussion in Section 5.3, in order to have a well-defined probability measure, the ambient measure must be in log log scale as suggested by Fig. 12. Then, the κ_0 distribution corresponding to $\mathcal{A}(0)$, is the weak limit of κ_0 in the inviscid limit w.r.t. to the ad-hoc ambient measure. Moreover, the available observable takes the form of a discrete nonautonomous dynamical system. Due to that, we can only conjecture, based on numerical simulations, the existence of a nontrivial (pullback) attractor with fractal dimension. A rigorous treatment of the nonautonomous case would likely require at least a skew-product interpretation of the dynamics (see e.g. [5]). We have not explored these aspects further and leave them for future work.

9. Conclusion and perspectives

This work has two parts. First, we provide a detailed historical review of spontaneous stochasticity. We then describe the Armstrong-Vicol model, emphasising the Lagrangian interpretation of their construction as well as the RG phrasing. We then show clear numerical evidences for anomalous diffusion.

In the second part, we introduce a very general definition of spontaneous stochasticity (SpSt: see Definition 1). Our analysis is restricted to deterministic and autonomous regularisations of the inviscid system. This framework is, in effect, a reformulation of the absence of a selection principle for the inviscid limit – that is, a selection principle that may only hold along subsequences, for fixed time and fixed initial data (see Section 5.2). The definition makes explicit the requirement that regularisations approach the inviscid system in a rapidly oscillatory manner.

We then examine the singular limit from a statistical perspective in Section 5.3, focusing on the conditions under which a probability measure can be defined on the space of solutions at the limit. For a given regularisation, the resulting probabilistic limit depends crucially on the choice of an ambient measure – or, equivalently, on the way the regularisation is parameterised. As a consequence, no selection principle exists in general at the level of probability measures either. It is only under particular circumstances that a *measure selection principle* holds, i.e., a situation in which the statistics converge to a unique probability measure.

This motivates a broader viewpoint developed in Section 5.3. We consider the space \mathcal{M} of probability measures obtained

along subsequences across all admissible regularisations of a fixed inviscid system (see Eq. (27)). One of the main results, stated in Theorem 1, shows that spontaneous stochasticity can generate any statistical behaviour consistent with the fixed-time and fixed-position statistics of the inviscid system, represented by the space \mathcal{M}_0 (see Eq. (24)). In other words, we establish that $\mathcal{M} = \mathcal{M}_0$. Remarkably, the proof is constructive and provides a near-explicit procedure for building regularisations targeting any probability measure in \mathcal{M}_0 (see Appendix 11.6).

The space \mathcal{M} of measures generated via spontaneous stochasticity is shown to be the convex hull of the Dirac measures associated with regularisations that are not spontaneously stochastic. This characterisation enables a rigorous definition of universality classes of regularisations, identified by the statistical behaviour they produce and distinguished solely through their ergodic properties (see Eq. (30)). This framework further permits the introduction of a continuous (semi)group of renormalisation acting on the space of regularisations associated to a given inviscid system. This dynamical system corresponds to the Bebutov flow (see Definition 2). In this reformulation, it becomes apparent that chaotic features in the inviscid system should give rise to broader and statistically more robust universality classes. This important aspect will be explored in future work.

We emphasise that in our deterministic framework, stochasticity can emerge in its purest form in the singular limit, entirely independent of whether the regularisations themselves are stochastic. See Subsection 5.4 for details.

A direct consequence of these results is that, as soon as \mathcal{M}_0 fails to be a singleton, there exists at least one regularisation (and, in fact, as an indirect consequence of Kneser's theorem, there are infinitely many) for which spontaneous stochasticity occurs. Since this situation arises if and only if the inviscid system admits non-unique trajectories, we seek a necessary condition for such non-uniqueness in Section 5.5. To this end, we employ a dynamical characterisation based on Dini derivatives, which allows one to detect where (in phase space) non-Lipschitz singular sets emerge in the inviscid system and for which initial data (Theorem 2). These theoretical results are illustrated through several nontrivial numerical examples (Subsections 5.5.2–5.5.5).

Finally, we show that the advection-diffusion transport equation for a passive scalar proposed by [3, 4] is also spontaneous stochastic in the sense of Definition 1. Thus, it exhibits not only anomalous diffusion, or equivalently Lagrangian spontaneous stochasticity, but also Eulerian spontaneous stochasticity (Sections 3 and 7). We add that the peer-reviewed version [4] confirms this finding (their Section 5.5). It is described as a lack of selection principle rather than the passive scalar being Eulerian Spontaneous Stochastic. These two notions are rigorously equivalent (see Section 5.2). We also provide numerical evidences that the model exhibits Eulerian spontaneous stochasticity but are unable to observe it within direct numerical simulations, limited somewhat by the lack of resolution of the very small scales due to the hypergeometric constraint. On the other hand, the renormalised diffusivity sequence is well illustrated and exhibit nontrivial behaviour.

Several comments are in order. At least six important papers have recently appeared [56, 33, 24, 3, 48, 18] (in chronological order). All of them address the inviscid limit $\kappa \to 0$ of the linear transport equation $\partial_t \theta + \mathbf{b} \cdot \nabla \theta = \kappa \Delta \theta, \theta(0, \cdot) = \theta_0(\cdot)$ where **b** is a divergence-free velocity field. Each paper considers different choices for **b** and focuses on a rigorous mathematical proof of anomalous diffusion: $\lim \sup_{\kappa \to 0} \kappa ||\nabla \theta||_{L^2_{\kappa,r}}^2 > 0$ (except for [56], which addresses the selection mechanism only).

The works of C. De Lellis, V. Giri ⁵, T.D. Drivas et al. [56, 33] (see also [24]) are, to our knowledge, the first rigorous proofs that the transport PDE can exhibit Eulerian spontaneous stochasticity in the limit $\kappa \rightarrow 0$ according to our interpretation (see Section 5.6). These studies demonstrate that, in addition to having anomalous diffusion, the inviscid limit admits multiple distinct solutions.

However, these results are often framed negatively as evidence of the failure of a selection principle or the nonuniqueness of solutions in the inviscid limit. In contrast, we emphasise that Eulerian spontaneous stochasticity is precisely equivalent to the absence of a selection principle, that is, whenever one can distinguish distinct subsequences. We recognise that this definition – expressed simply as the absence of a selection principle – is fundamentally equivalent to ours. While we do not claim anything beyond this, we wish to state it explicitly and in greater detail.

In [48], the authors once again identified the phenomenon of Eulerian spontaneous stochasticity (i.e., non-unique convergent subsequences in the inviscid limit) in the transport PDE, as previously observed in [33, 24] but for different velocity fields. Their finding, however, raises an important question. They constructed a particular vector field **b** such that the vanishing limit $\kappa \rightarrow 0$ selects a non-physical solution (a "wild Euler weak solution") that unexpectedly unmixes back to its initial state.

These earlier works thus highlight a fundamental question: the potential lack of realism in the inviscid limit and its implications for physics. However, since the velocity field lacks realism and a lack of a selection mechanism appears in the inviscid limit, what should be questioned is not the absence of a selection mechanism itself, but rather the way it manifests nonphysically through the emergence of non-entropic solutions.

The study in [3] takes this a step further by constructing a significantly more realistic vector field than those in [33, 24, 48]. In particular, it remains arbitrarily close to a C^{α} weak Euler solution for $\alpha \in (0, 1/3)$, making it, in a loose sense, almost an Euler PDE solution. As announced in [3] and now proven in [4], our work provides additional mathematical evidence that the inviscid limit leads to nonunique solutions – once again confirming the presence of (Eulerian) spontaneous stochasticity.

The most advanced contribution is likely the recent work in [18]. It shares many features with the fractal homogenisation approach in [3, 4] but employs in addition convex integration scheme for constructing the velocity field using Mikado-like flows. In doing so, they are able to construct a large class of

velocity fields **b** which are now exact weak solution of the 3-D Euler equations with optimal Onsager regularity $C^{1/3^-}$ and such that they induce anomalous diffusion for the passive scalar. It is unclear at the present time, whether there is Eulerian Spontaneous Stochasticity or not in this model. We strongly believe it is so. Indeed, they obtain a sequence of renormalised diffusivities similar to the one of [3, 4] with an additional space and time dependence. This sequence retains the same ingredients (e.g hyper-geometric scale separation and non-autonomous behaviour) as the one of [3, 4], leading us to think that the passive scalar will be spontaneously stochastic. More advanced investigations are required for confirming this.

From a physicist's perspective, the lack of selection principle for 3-D Euler equations, was intuited long ago by Lorenz [59]. This insight marks a paradigm shift in how we perceive turbulence: as a multi-world realm with possibly universal statistical aspects.

We also stress once again that chaos and spontaneous stochasticity are not the same phenomenon, though they often appear together. To distinguish between them, especially in turbulence studies, it is often more convenient to examine the behaviour of Lyapunov exponents (or their ansatz) in the inviscid limit as $\text{Re} \rightarrow \infty$: chaos yields finite positive values, whereas spontaneous stochasticity leads to (positive) infinite values. This is of course, a direct rephrasing of our Definition 1.

A key aspect, particularly in the second part of our work, is the crucial role of singularities. We have emphasised that a necessary condition for spontaneous stochasticity is that the inviscid system must hit a singular set (in phase space) in finite time. Therefore, we believe that investigating the existence of such sets, though still challenging, is a more achievable goal. Once these sets are identified, the next question concerns renormalisation. This is precisely the focus of the RG program explored in [61, 63, 64, 65, 8], albeit in the context of simpler (shell) models of turbulence such as Sabra.

Even in the most favorable scenario – where the system encounters an isolated Hölder singularity (a non-Lipschitz critical point) – severe "hell-after-death" challenges immediately arise. Indeed, there are infinitely-many possible dynamical scenarios which can hide within an isolated singularity. We believe that the nature of singular sets in the Euler equations, and even in shell models, must be highly complex to capture multifractality and the emergence of possibly non-unique self-similar blowups [19]. These difficulties can be managed using renormalisation techniques, as derivatives diverge, indicating that, at the very least, understanding non-smooth singular vector fields under renormalisation is crucial.

Acknowlegment

We would like to thank S.Thalabard and J.Bec for stimulating discussions on the subject and the IDEX summer school "100 years of cascades", from which this project has started. We also gratefully acknowledge the Calisto team at INRIA for their warm hospitality and continuous support throughout the project.

⁵who, together with R.-O. Radu, recently proved the Onsager conjecture for the 2D Euler equations [45]

References

- R.P. Agarwal and V. Lakshmikantham. Uniqueness and Nonuniqueness Criteria for Ordinary Differential Equations, volume 6 of Series in Real Analysis. World Scientific, Singapore, 1993. ISBN 978-981-02-1357-2. 17, 32
- [2] L. Ambrosio. Transport equation and Cauchy problem for BV vector fields. *Inventiones mathematicae*, 158(2):227–260, 2004. doi: 10.1007/ s00222-004-0367-2. 5, 18, 19
- [3] S. Armstrong and V. Vicol. Anomalous diffusion by fractal homogenization. arXiv preprint arXiv:2305.05048, 2023. 1, 2, 5, 6, 7, 8, 21, 22, 23, 24, 26, 32, 33, 34, 35
- [4] S. Armstrong and V. Vicol. Anomalous Diffusion by Fractal Homogenization. *Annals of PDE*, 11:2, 2025. doi: 10.1007/s40818-024-00189-6.
 1, 2, 6, 7, 8, 9, 10, 21, 23, 24, 26, 27, 35
- [5] L. Arnold. Random Dynamical Systems. Springer Monographs in Mathematics. Springer Berlin Heidelberg, 1998. ISBN 978-3-540-63758-5. doi: 10.1007/978-3-662-12878-7. 23
- [6] H. Bahouri, J.-Y. Chemin, and R. Danchin. Fourier Analysis and Nonlinear Partial Differential Equations, volume 343 of Grundlehren der mathematischen Wissenschaften. Springer, 2011. doi: 10.1007/ 978-3-642-16830-7. 17
- [7] J.M. Ball. Continuity Properties and Global Attractors of Generalized Semiflows and the Navier-Stokes Equations. J. of Nonlinear Sci., 7:475– 502, 1997. doi: 10.1007/s003329900037. 5
- [8] D. Bandak, A.A. Mailybaev, G.L. Eyink, and N. Goldenfeld. Spontaneous stochasticity amplifies even thermal noise to the largest scales of turbulence in a few eddy turnover times. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 132:104002, Mar 2024. 16, 24
- [9] D. Bernard, K. Gawędzki, and A. Kupiainen. Slow modes in passive advection. J. Stat. Phys., 90(3):519–569, 1998. 3
- [10] L. Biferale, G. Boffetta, A.A Mailybaev, and A. Scagliarini. Rayleightaylor turbulence with singular nonuniform initial conditions. *Physical Review Fluids*, 3(9):092601, 2018. 4
- [11] R. Bitane, H. Homann, and J. Bec. Time scales of turbulent relative dispersion. *Phys. Rev. E*, 86(4):045302, 2012. doi: 10.1103/PhysRevE.86. 045302. 3
- [12] V. Borrelli, S. Jabrane, F. Lazarus, and B. Thibert. Flat tori in threedimensional space and convex integration. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 109(19):7218–7223, 2012. doi: 10.1073/pnas. 1118478109. 5
- [13] Y. Brenier. The least action principle and the related concept of generalized flows for incompressible perfect fluids. *Journal of the American Mathematical Society*, 2(2):225–255, 1989. doi: 10.1090/ S0894-0347-1989-0969419-8. 5
- [14] A.M. Bruckner. Differentiation of Real Functions, volume 659 of Lecture Notes in Mathematics. Springer Berlin, Heidelberg, 1978. ISBN 978-3-540-08910-0. doi: 10.1007/BFb0069821. 31
- [15] T. Buckmaster and V. Vicol. Nonuniqueness of Weak Solutions to the Navier-Stokes Equation. *Annals of Mathematics*, 189(1):101–144, 2019. 1, 5
- [16] T. Buckmaster and V. Vicol. Convex integration and phenomenologies in turbulence. *EMS Surveys in Mathematical Sciences*, 2019. URL https: //api.semanticscholar.org/CorpusID:102352631. 5
- [17] T. Buckmaster, C. De Lellis, L. Székelyhidi Jr, and V. Vicol. Onsager's conjecture for admissible weak solutions. *Communications on Pure and Applied Mathematics*, 72(2):229–274, 2018. doi: 10.1002/cpa.21781. 1, 5
- [18] J. Burczak, L. Székelyhidi Jr, and B. Wu. Anomalous dissipation and Euler flows. *arXiv preprint arXiv:2310.02934*, 2023. 1, 24
- [19] C. Campolina, E. Simonnet, and S. Thalabard. Non-unique self-similar blowups in shell models: insights from dynamical systems and machinelearning. J. Phys. A: Math. Theor, Accepted, 2025. 13, 24
- [20] C.S. Campolina and A.A. Mailybaev. Chaotic Blowup in the 3D Incompressible Euler Equations on a Logarithmic Lattice. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 121 (6):064501, 2018. 4
- [21] T. Caraballo, P. Marín-Rubio, and J.C. Robinson. A comparison between two theories for multi-valued semiflows and their asymptotic behaviour. *Set-Valued Analysis*, 11(3):297–322, 2003. doi: 10.1023/A: 1024422619616. 5
- [22] J. Cardy, G. Falkovich, and K. Gawędzki. Non-equilibrium statistical mechanics and turbulence. In Sergey Nazarenko and Oleg V.

Zaboronski, editors, *Non-Equilibrium Statistical Mechanics and Turbulence*, pages 1–161. Cambridge University Press, 2008. doi: 10.1017/ CBO9780511755756. 3

- [23] M. Chaves, K. Gawedzki, P. Horvai, A. Kupiainen, and M. Vergassola. Lagrangian Dispersion in Gaussian Self-Similar Velocity Ensembles. J. Stat. Phys., 113:643–692, 2003. 1, 2, 3, 21
- [24] M. Colombo, G. Crippa, and M. Sorella. Anomalous Dissipation and Lack of Selection in the Obukhov–Corrsin Theory of Scalar Turbulence. *Annals of PDE*, 9(21), 2023. doi: 10.1007/s40818-023-00162-9. 1, 20, 24
- [25] P. Constantin, W. E, and E.S. Titi. Onsager's Conjecture on the Energy Conservation for Solutions of Euler's Equation. *Comm. in Math. Phys.*, 165(1):207–209, 1994. 5
- [26] A. Crisanti, M.H. Jensen, A. Vulpiani, and G. Paladin. Intermittency and predictability in turbulence. *Physical review letters*, 70(2):166, 1993. 4
- [27] C. De Lellis and L. Székelyhidi Jr. The h-principle and the equations of fluid dynamics. Annals of Mathematics, 193(3):1013–1060, 2013. 1, 4, 5
- [28] R.J. DiPerna and P.-L. Lions. Ordinary differential equations, transport theory and sobolev spaces. *Inventiones mathematicae*, 98(3):511–547, 1989. doi: 10.1007/BF01393835. 5
- [29] R.J. DiPerna and A.J. Majda. Oscillations and concentrations in weak solutions of the incompressible fluid equations. *Communications in Mathematical Physics*, 108:667–689, 1987. doi: 10.1007/BF01214424. 5
- [30] T. Dombre and J.-L. Gilson. Intermittency, chaos and singular fluctuations in the mixed Obukhov–Novikov shell model of turbulence. *Physica D: Nonlinear Phenomena*, 111:265–287, 1998. doi: 10.1016/ S0167-2789(97)00202-5. 13, 19
- [31] T.D. Drivas and G.L. Eyink. A Lagrangian fluctuation-dissipation relation for scalar turbulence. J. Fluid Mech., 829:153–189, 2017. 2, 3, 8, 20, 27, 29
- [32] T.D. Drivas and A.A. Mailybaev. 'Life after death' in ordinary differential equations with a non-Lipschitz singularity. *Nonlinearity*, 34:2296, 2021. 4, 18, 19
- [33] T.D. Drivas, T.M. Elgindi, G. Iyer, and I.-J. Jeong. Anomalous dissipation in passive scalar transport. Arch. Ration. Mech. Anal., 243(243(3)):1151– 1180, 2022. 1, 24, 34
- [34] T.D. Drivas, A.A. Mailybaev, and A. Raibekas. Statistical determinism in non-Lipschitz dynamical systems. *Ergodic Theo. and Dyn. Syst.*, 44: 1856–1884, 2024. 4, 16, 17, 19
- [35] G.L. Eyink and D. Bandak. Renormalization group approach to spontaneous stochasticity. *Phys. Rev. Res.*, 2:043161, Oct 2020. 3, 4
- [36] G. Falkovich, K. Gawedzki, and M. Vergassola. Particles and fields in fluid turbulence. *Reviews of Modern Physics*, 73:913–975, 2001. doi: 10.1103/RevModPhys.73.913. 3
- [37] M.J. Feigenbaum. Universality in complex discrete dynamics. Los Alamos Theoretical Division Annual Report, pages 98-102, 1976. URL https://cns.gatech.edu/~predrag//papers/ universalFunct.html. 4
- [38] F. Flandoli. Remarks on uniqueness and strong solutions to deterministic and stochastic differential equations. *Metrika*, 69:101–123, 2009. doi: 10.1007/s00184-008-0210-7. 5, 18
- [39] C. Foias. Statistical Study of Navier-Stokes Equations I. Rendiconti del Seminario Matematico della Università di Padova, 48:219–348, 1972. URL http://eudml.org/doc/107456.5
- [40] C. Foias and G. Prodi. Sur les solutions statistiques des équations de Navier–Stokes. Annali di Matematica Pura ed Applicata, 111(4):307– 330, 1976. doi: 10.1007/BF02411822. 5
- [41] C. Foias, Ricardo M.S. Rosa, and R. Temam. Properties of Time-Dependent Statistical Solutions of the Three-Dimensional Navier-Stokes Equations. *Annales de l'Institut Fourier*, 63(6):2515–2573, 2013. doi: 10.5802/aif.2836. 5
- [42] U. Frisch, T. Matsumoto, and J. Bec. Singularities of Euler Flow? Not Out of the Blue! J. Stat. Phys., 113(5-6):761–781, 2003. 4
- [43] J. Gilson, I. Daumont, and T. Dombre. A two-fluid picture of intermittency in shell-models of turbulence. In *Advances in Turbulence VII*, pages 219–222. Springer, 1998. 4
- [44] G. Giorgi and S. Komlósi. Dini derivatives in optimization part i. *Rivista di matematica per le scienze economiche e sociali*, 15:3–30, 1992. doi: 10.1007/BF02086523. 31
- [45] V. Giri and R.-O. Radu. The Onsager conjecture in 2D: a Newton-Nash iteration. *Inventiones mathematicae*, 238:691–768, 2024. doi: 10.1007/

s00222-024-01291-z. 24

- [46] M. Gromov. Local and Global in Geometry. Balzan Prize, 1999. 5
- [47] P. Hartman. Ordinary Differential Equations, volume 38 of Classics in Applied Mathematics. SIAM, second edition, 2002. ISBN 978-0-89871-510-1. doi: 10.1137/1.9780898719222. 17
- [48] L. Huysmans and E.S. Titi. Non-Uniqueness and Inadmissibility of the Vanishing Viscosity Limit for the Passive Scalar Transport Equation. arXiv:2307.00809, 2023. 1, 20, 24
- [49] P. Isett. A proof of onsager's conjecture. Annals of Mathematics, 188(3): 871–963, 2018. doi: 10.4007/annals.2018.188.3.4.
- [50] M.-C. Jullien, P. Castiglione, and P. Tabeling. Experimental observation of batchelor dispersion of passive tracers. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 85:3636–3639, 2000. doi: 10.1103/PhysRevLett.85.3636. 3
- [51] A.N. Kolmogorov. Dissipation of energy in locally isotropic turbulence. Doklady Akademii Nauk SSSR, 31:538–540, 1941. 3
- [52] R.H. Kraichnan. Small-Scale Structure of a Scalar Field Convected by Turbulence. *Physics of Fluids*, 11:945–953, 1968. 2, 3
- [53] N. Kuiper. On c1 isometric imbeddings i, ii. Proc. Kon. Acad. Wet. Amsterdam A, 58:545–556, 683–689, 1955. 4
- [54] S.B. Kuksin. The Eulerian Limit for 2D Statistical Hydrodynamics. J. Stat. Phys., 115(1-2):469–492, 2004. 5
- [55] A. Lasota and M.C. Mackey. Chaos, Fractals, and Noise: Stochastic Aspects of Dynamics, volume 97 of Applied Mathematical Sciences. Springer, second edition, 1994. doi: 10.1007/978-1-4612-4286-4. 11, 13
- [56] C. De Lellis and V. Giri. Smoothing does not give a selection principle for transport equations with bounded autonomous fields. Annales mathématiques du Québec, 46:27–39, 2022. doi: 10.1007/ s40316-021-00160-y. 24
- [57] J. Leray. Sur le mouvement d'un liquide visqueux emplissant l'espace. Acta Math., 63(1):193–248, 1934. 4
- [58] E.N. Lorenz. Deterministic nonperiodic flow. J. Atmos. Sci., 20(2):130– 141, 1963. 3
- [59] E.N. Lorenz. The predictability of a flow which possesses many scales of motion. *Tellus*, 21(3):289–307, 1969. 3, 24
- [60] A. A Mailybaev. Toward analytic theory of the rayleigh-taylor instability: lessons from a toy model. *Nonlinearity*, 30(6):2466, 2017. 4
- [61] A.A. Mailybaev. Renormalization and universality of blowup in hydrodynamic flows. *Physical Review E*, 85(6):066317, 2012. doi: 10.1103/ PhysRevE.85.066317. 4, 19, 24
- [62] A.A. Mailybaev. Computation of anomalous scaling exponents of turbulence from self-similar instanton dynamics. *Physical Review E*, 86(2): 025301, 2012. doi: 10.1103/PhysRevE.86.025301. 4
- [63] A.A. Mailybaev. Spontaneous stochasticity of velocity in turbulence models. *Multiscale Modeling & Simulation*, 14(1):96–112, 2016. doi: 10.1137/15M1012451. 4, 24
- [64] A.A. Mailybaev. RG approach to the inviscid limit for shell models of turbulence. arXiv:2408.04659, 2024. 4, 24
- [65] A.A. Mailybaev. RG analysis of spontaneous stochasticity on a fractal lattice: linearization and bifurcations. arXiv:2410.14903, 2024. 5, 24
- [66] A.A. Mailybaev and A. Raibekas. Spontaneous stochasticity and renormalization group in discrete multi-scale dynamics. *Commun. Math. Phys.*, 401:2643–2671, 2023. 4, 13
- [67] A.A. Mailybaev and A. Raibekas. Spontaneous stochasticity Arnold's Cat. Arnold Math J., 9:339–357, 2023. 4, 13
- [68] F. Mengual and L. Székelyhidi Jr. Dissipative Euler Flows for Vortex Sheet Initial Data without Distinguished Sign. Communications on Pure and Applied Mathematics, 76(1):163-221, 2023. doi: https: //doi.org/10.1002/cpa.22038. URL https://onlinelibrary.wiley. com/doi/abs/10.1002/cpa.22038. 5
- [69] J. Nash. C1 isometric imbeddings. Annals of Mathematics, 60:383–396, 1954. 4
- [70] L. Onsager. Statistical hydrodynamics. Il Nuovo Cimento, Supplemento, 6:279, 1949. 3
- [71] T.N. Palmer, A. Döring, and G. Seregin. The real butterfly effect. *Nonlinearity*, 27(9):R123, aug 2014. 3
- [72] C.-C. Poon. Unique continuation for parabolic equations. Comm. Partial Differential Equations, 21(3-4):521–539, 1996. 34
- [73] L.F. Richardson. Atmospheric diffusion shown on a distance-neighbour graph. Proceedings of the Royal Society of London. Series A, Containing Papers of a Mathematical and Physical Character, 110:709–737, 1926. doi: 10.1098/rspa.1926.0043. 3

- [74] R. Robert and J. Sommeria. Statistical equilibrium states for twodimensional flows. J. Fluid Mech., 229:291–310, 1991. doi: 10.1017/ S0022112091003038. 6
- [75] R. Rotunno and C. Snyder. A Generalization of Lorenz's Model for the Predictability of Flows with Many Scales of Motion. J. of Atmos. Sci., 65 (3):1063 – 1076, 2008. 3
- [76] J.P.L.C. Salazar and L.R. Collins. Two-particle dispersion in isotropic turbulent flows. *Annual Review of Fluid Mechanics*, 41:405–432, 2009. doi: 10.1146/annurev.fluid.40.111406.102224. 3
- [77] G.R. Sell. Differential equations without uniqueness. Journal of Differential Equations, 14(1):42–56, 1973. doi: 10.1016/0022-0396(73)90075-2.
- [78] J. Simsen and C.B. Gentile. On attractors for multivalued semigroups defined by generalized semiflows. *Set-Valued Analysis*, 16:105–124, 2008. doi: 10.1007/s11228-006-0037-1. 5
- [79] G.I. Taylor. Observations and speculations on the nature of turbulent motion. *Reports and Memoranda of the Advisory Committee for Aeronautics*, 4(345):1–20, 1917. 3
- [80] S. Thalabard and J. Bec. Turbulence of generalised flows in two dimensions. J. Fluid Mech., 883:R1, 2020. doi: 10.1017/jfm.2019.822. 5
- [81] S. Thalabard, J. Bec, and A.A. Mailybaev. From the butterfly effect to spontaneous stochasticity in singular shear flows. *Commun. Phys.*, 3 (122), 2020. 4, 16
- [82] N. Valade, S. Thalabard, and J. Bec. Anomalous dissipation and spontaneous stochasticity in deterministic surface quasi-geostrophic flow. Ann. Henri Poincaré, 25:1261–1283, 2024. 3
- [83] M.I. Vishik and A.V. Fursikov. L'équation de Hopf, les solutions statistiques, les moments correspondant aux systèmes des équations paraboliques quasi-linéaires. J. de Mathématiques Pures et Appliquées, 59(9):85–122, 1977. 5
- [84] W. Walter. Differential and Integral Inequalities, volume 55 of Ergebnisse der Mathematik und ihrer Grenzgebiete. Springer, 1970. doi: 10.1007/ 978-3-642-86405-6. 17

10. Appendix Part I

10.1. Notations and definitions

This section introduces various definitions used in [3, 4].

	definition	$\inf \alpha$	$\sup \alpha$	meaning
α	α	0	$\frac{1}{3}$	velocity Hölder exponent
β	$\alpha + 1$	1	$\frac{4}{3}$	streamfunction regularity
q	$\frac{\beta}{4(\beta-1)}$	+∞	1	rate of scale separation
δ	$\frac{(q-1)^2}{4(q+1)(4q-1)}$	$\frac{1}{16}$	0	
γ	$\frac{q-1}{q+1}eta$	1	0	

- the minimal scale separation $\Lambda \in [2^7, \infty)$,
- the (hypergeometric) scale separation ϵ_m

$$\epsilon_m^{-1} = \lceil \Lambda^{\frac{q^m}{q-1}} \rceil, \ m \in \mathbb{N}.$$
(49)

• Finally, we define a slightly different permissible set than in [3, 4], for some fixed *A* > 1:

$$\mathcal{K}_A = \bigcup_{j=1}^{\infty} \mathcal{I}_j, \text{ with } \mathcal{I}_j = \left[\frac{1}{A}, A\right] \sqrt{c_0} \epsilon_j^{\frac{2\beta}{q+1}}, \ c_0 = \frac{9}{80}.$$
(50)

Appendix 11.10 provides detailed proofs using this set, and in particular how the sequence (6) stays under control.

• Let $R_{\theta_0} > 0$, we consider an initial scalar θ_0 which satisfies the analyticity condition:

$$\max_{|\alpha|=n} \|\partial^{\alpha}\theta_{0}\|_{L^{2}} \le \|\theta_{0}\|_{L^{2}} \frac{n!}{R_{\theta_{0}}^{n}}, \forall n \in \mathbb{R}.$$
 (51)

• One assumes in the following $m \in \{m^*, \dots, M\}$ with

$$m^{\star} = \min\left\{m \in \mathbb{N}, m \ge 2, \epsilon_{m-1}^{1+\frac{\gamma}{2}} \le R_{\theta_0}\right\} - 1.$$
 (52)

We will discuss afterwards the possibility to consider $m^* = 0$.

10.2. How to numerically implement the Armstrong-Vicol model

In the following section, we present the numerical methods used to study the Armstrong-Vicol model, with particular emphasis on the numerical computation of the vector field, which is the most challenging aspect. Before proceeding, we briefly recall the construction of the streamfunction as detailed in [4]. The streamfunction ϕ of the two dimensional vector field $\mathbf{b} = \nabla^{\perp} \phi$ is defined as the limit of a sequence of streamfunctions $(\phi_m)_{m\geq 0}$ which are generated recursively according to the induction relation for $m \geq 1$:

$$\begin{cases} \phi_m(t, \mathbf{x}) = \phi_{m-1}(t, \mathbf{x}) + \sum_{l \in \mathbb{Z}} \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} \zeta_{m,k}(t) \hat{\zeta}_{m,l}(t) \psi_{m,k}(\mathbf{X}_{m-1,l}^{-1}(t, \mathbf{x}, l\tau_m'')) \\ \phi_0(t, \mathbf{x}) = 0, \quad (t, \mathbf{x}) \in [0, 1] \times \mathbb{T}^2. \end{cases}$$
(53)

The functions $\psi_{m,k}$ are the building blocks of the flow and are chosen in [4] to be,

$$\psi_{m,k}(\mathbf{x}) = a_m \epsilon_m^2 \left[\mathbbm{1}_{k \in 4\mathbb{Z}+1} \sin\left(\frac{2\pi x_1}{\epsilon_m}\right) + \mathbbm{1}_{k \in 4\mathbb{Z}+3} \sin\left(\frac{2\pi x_2}{\epsilon_m}\right) \right].$$

This streamfunction corresponds to a cosine shear flow with Lipschitz norm a_m and period ϵ_m . By definition, $\psi_{m,k}$ itself is time-independent. The smooth alternation between shear flows in the x_1 and x_2 -directions is controlled by the time cutoff function $\zeta_{m,k}$, which is smooth and compactly supported:

$$\operatorname{Supp} \zeta_{m,k} \subset \left[\left(k - \frac{2}{3}\right) \tau_m, \left(k + \frac{2}{3}\right) \tau_m \right].$$

This implies that for any given value of t, there is at most one $k \in \mathbb{Z}$ such that $\zeta_{m,k}(t)\psi_{m,k}(\mathbf{x}) \neq 0$. As mentioned in the Lagrangian description 3.1, simply adding shear flows is not sufficient to generate anomalous diffusion. Therefore, the perturbation added to ϕ_{m-1} in (53) is introduced within the reference frame of the vector field \mathbf{b}_{m-1} . This is the role of $\mathbf{X}_{m-1,l}^{-1}$ entering (53), which is the inverse flow map of the field \mathbf{b}_{m-1} (on a given time interval). The inverse flow map is obtained as solution of:

$$\partial_t \mathbf{X}_{m-1,l}^{-1} + \mathbf{b}_{m-1} \cdot \nabla \mathbf{X}_{m-1,l}^{-1} = 0, \ \mathbf{X}_{m-1,l_k}^{-1}(l\tau_m'', \mathbf{x}) = \mathbf{x},$$
(54)

with $(t, \mathbf{x}) \in \left[\left(l - \frac{1}{2} \right) \tau''_m, \left(l + \frac{1}{2} \right) \tau''_m \right] \times \mathbb{T}^2.$

The inverse flow map of the field \mathbf{b}_{m-1} is not computed on the whole [0, 1] time interval but rather on sub-intervals of length

 $\tau''_m \ll a_{m-1}^{-1}$ ensuring that the inverse flow maps are not deformed too much. These inverse flow maps are refreshed every τ''_m unit of time, the time cutoff $\hat{\zeta}_{m,l}$ ensures that this refreshing is done smoothly in time. The new timescale τ''_m must be homogenised as well, necessitating the introduction of a third timescale $\tau'_m \ll \tau''_m$. This time cutoff $\hat{\zeta}_{m,l}$ is therefore smooth and compactly supported, such that:

$$\mathbb{1}_{t \in [(l-\frac{1}{2})\tau''_m + 2\tau'_m, (l+\frac{1}{2})\tau''_m - 2\tau'_m]} \leq \zeta_{m,l} \leq \mathbb{1}_{t \in [(l-\frac{1}{2})\tau''_m + \tau'_m, (l+\frac{1}{2})\tau''_m - \tau'_m]}$$

In practice, for a given *t* and $k \in \mathbb{Z}$, there is only one value of $l \in \mathbb{Z}$ such that $\zeta_{m,k}(t)\hat{\zeta}_{m,l}(t) \neq 0$. This implies that the sums over *k*, *l* appearing in (53) can effectively be written as a sum over *k* only.

With this construction, the authors of [4] are able to prove that, roughly speaking, the L^2 norm drop of the passive scalar advected by \mathbf{b}_m and with diffusivity κ_m is of the same order as that of the passive scalar advected by \mathbf{b}_{m-1} and with diffusivity $\kappa_{m-1} = \kappa_m + c(a_m^2 \epsilon_m^4)/\kappa_m$. We emphasised in section 3.1 that this homogenisation occurs only if the scales ($\epsilon_m, a_m, \tau_m, \tau'_m, \tau''_m$) are carefully chosen. In particular, the following constraints must be satisfied:

$$\tau_m \ll \tau'_m \ll \tau''_m \ll a_{m-1}^{-1}, \quad \frac{a_m \epsilon_m^3}{\kappa_m} \ll \epsilon_{m-1}, \quad \frac{\epsilon_m^2}{\kappa_m} \ll \tau_m.$$
(55)

The goal of this procedure is to obtain a large-scale effective diffusivity κ_0 of order unity. We refer the reader to [4] for a more detailed discussion on these constraints. In particular, the Hölder regularity of the velocity field **b** cannot be greater than 1/3 for these constraints to be satisfied.

In [4], the sequence of length scales ϵ_m is chosen to decrease hyper-geometrically, and all other scales are built from ϵ_m such that the set of constraints is met. However, with the sequence used in [4], the spatial resolution required to numerically compute ϕ_2 would already be prohibitive, while ϕ_1 is explicit and thus not numerically interesting. Therefore, we adopt a different choice of sequences, which retains the hyper-geometric decay of $(\epsilon_m)_{m\geq 1}$, namely:

$$\epsilon_{m}^{-1} = \left[\Lambda^{\frac{q^{m}}{q-1}} \right], \qquad a_{m} = \epsilon_{m}^{\beta-2}, \qquad \tau_{m} = \tau'_{m}, \tau'_{m} = \frac{\tau''_{m}}{3(4[\epsilon_{m}^{-\delta}]+1)}, \quad \tau''_{m} = 2^{-2} \left\lfloor \frac{a_{m-1}}{\epsilon_{m}^{2\delta}} \right\rfloor^{-1},$$
(56)

where q and δ are defined in Appendix 10.1 and the choice of parameters Λ , β and M are detailed in Table 1.

With this choice of sequences, the hypotheses of Theorem (1.1) from [4] are not strictly satisfied. However, our numerical simulations show that the passive scalar still exhibits anomalous diffusion. As predicted in [31], this anomalous diffusion of the passive scalar is tantamount to the spontaneous stochasticity of Lagrangian trajectories. We also give the full algorithm below. The purpose of the Algorithm 1 is to compute the streamfunction ϕ_m . For this we need to integrate the backward flow map equation (54). We do this using pseudo spectral method. However, we have that $\mathbf{X}_{m-1,l}^{-1}(l\tau_m'', \mathbf{x}) = \mathbf{x}$ which obviously is not a periodic function. In order to tackle this issue we introduce $\mathbf{Y} := \mathbf{X}_{m-1,l}^{-1} - \mathbb{1}$ which is periodic and satisfies

$$\partial_t \mathbf{Y} = -\mathbf{b}_{m-1} \cdot \nabla \mathbf{Y} - \mathbf{b}_{m-1}, \quad \mathbf{Y}(l\tau_m'', \mathbf{x}) = 0, \tag{57}$$

where $(t, \mathbf{x}) \in [(l - \frac{1}{2})\tau''_m, (l + \frac{1}{2})\tau''_m] \times \mathbb{T}^2$. The variable **Y** in Algorithm 1 is therefore the numerical approximation of the solution of (57) and the function RHS is the numerical approximation of the right hand side of (57) computed using a pseudo-spectral dealiased differentiation.

Algorithm 1 Compute ϕ_m given ϕ_{m-1} **Require:** $\phi_{m-1}, m, \epsilon_m, \tau_m, \tau'_m, \tau''_m$ find the n_0^l such that $t^{n_0^l} = l\tau''_m, l \in \{0, ..., 1/\tau''_m\}$. find the n_{\pm}^{l} such that $t^{n_{\pm}^{l}} = (l \pm 1/2)\tau_{m}^{"}, l \in \{0, \dots, 1/\tau_{m}^{"}\}$. **for** *l* ranging from 0 to $1/\tau_m''$ **do** $n_m \leftarrow n_0^l, n_i \leftarrow n_-^l, n_s \leftarrow n_+^l$ if $l \neq 0$ and $l \neq 1/\tau_m''$ then $\mathbf{Y}_+, \mathbf{Y}_- \leftarrow \operatorname{zeros}(N_x, N_x) \rightarrow \text{Inverse flow maps going}$ forward $(t > l_k \tau_m')$ and backward $(t < l_k \tau_m')$ $\phi_{m-1}^{n'_0} \leftarrow \phi_{m-1}^{n'_0} + \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} \hat{\zeta}_{m,l}^{n'_0} \zeta_{m,k}^{n'_0} \psi_{m,k} (\mathbf{Id}) > \text{In practice the sum contains at most one non-zero element}$ $\begin{array}{l} f_0^{\pm} \leftarrow \operatorname{RHS}(\mathbf{Y}_{\pm}, \mathbf{b}^{n_0'}) \\ \mathbf{Y}_{\pm} \leftarrow \mathbf{Y}_{\pm} \pm \delta t(c_{0,0} f_0^{\pm}) \triangleright \text{ The } c_{i,r} \text{ are the coefficient of } \\ \text{A-B order } r \text{ scheme} \end{array}$ rder *r* scheme $f_{1}^{\pm} \leftarrow \text{RHS}(\mathbf{Y}_{\pm}, \mathbf{b}^{n_{0}^{l}\pm 1})$ $\phi_{m-1}^{n_{0}^{l}\pm 1} \leftarrow \phi_{m-1}^{n_{0}^{l}\pm 1} + \sum_{k\in\mathbb{Z}} \hat{\zeta}_{m,l}^{n_{0}^{l}\pm 1} \zeta_{m,k}^{n_{0}^{l}\pm 1} \psi_{m,k} (\mathbf{Y}_{\pm} + \mathbf{Id})$ $\mathbf{Y}_{\pm} \leftarrow \mathbf{Y}_{\pm} \pm \delta t(c_{0,1}f_{1}^{\pm} + c_{1,1}f_{0}^{\pm})$ $f_{2}^{\pm} \leftarrow \text{RHS}(\mathbf{Y}_{\pm}, \mathbf{b}^{n_{0}^{l}\pm 2})$ $\phi_{m-1}^{n_{0}^{l}\pm 2} \leftarrow \phi_{m-1}^{n_{0}^{l}\pm 2} + \sum_{k\in\mathbb{Z}} \hat{\zeta}_{m,l}^{n_{0}^{l}\pm 2} \zeta_{m,k}^{n_{0}^{l}\pm 2} \psi_{m,k} (\mathbf{Y}_{\pm} + \mathbf{Id})$ $\mathbf{Y}_{\pm} \leftarrow \mathbf{Y}_{\pm} \pm \delta t(c_{0,2}f_{2}^{\pm} + c_{1,2}f_{1}^{\pm} + c_{2,2}f_{0}^{\pm})$ $f_{3}^{\pm} \leftarrow \text{RHS}(\mathbf{Y}_{\pm}, \mathbf{b}^{n_{0}^{l}\pm 3})$ $\phi_{m-1}^{n_{0}^{l}\pm 3} \leftarrow \phi_{m-1}^{n_{0}^{l}\pm 3} + \sum_{k\in\mathbb{Z}} \hat{\zeta}_{m,l}^{n_{0}^{l}\pm 3} \zeta_{m,k}^{n_{0}^{l}\pm 3} \psi_{m,k} (\mathbf{Y}_{\pm} + \mathbf{Id})$ for *n*, ranging from 4 to $n^{l} - n^{l}$ do **for** n_t ranging from 4 to $n_+^l - n_0^l$ **do** $n_{t} \operatorname{ranging non-res}_{\pm} n_{0} = 0$ $n_{\pm} \leftarrow n_{0}^{t} \pm n_{t}$ $\mathbf{Y}_{\pm} \leftarrow \mathbf{Y}_{\pm} \pm \delta t(c_{0,3}f_{3}^{\pm} + c_{1,3}f_{2}^{\pm} + c_{2,3}f_{1}^{\pm} + c_{3,3}f_{0}^{\pm})$ $f_{0}^{\pm} \leftarrow f_{1}^{\pm}, f_{1}^{\pm} \leftarrow f_{2}^{\pm}, f_{2}^{\pm} \leftarrow f_{3}^{\pm}$ $f_{3}^{\pm} \leftarrow \operatorname{RHS}(\mathbf{Y}_{\pm}, \mathbf{b}^{n_{\pm}})$ $\phi_{m-1}^{n_{\pm}} \leftarrow \phi_{m-1}^{n_{\pm}} + \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} \hat{\zeta}_{m,l}^{n_{\pm}} \zeta_{m,k}^{n_{\pm}} \psi_{m,k} \left(\mathbf{Y}_{\pm} + \mathbf{Id}\right)$ end for else if l = 0 then Integrate only forward in time else Integrate only backward in time end if end for

10.2.1. Numerics: Vector field, passive scalar & Lagrangian trajectories

From a numerical perspective, the computation of the inverse flow map is the main bottleneck. This is due to its role in equation (53), which causes the streamfunction ϕ_m at a given time *t* to depend not only on ϕ_{m-1} at the same time but also on its values at earlier and later times. In other words, the inverse flow map renders the recurrence relation (53) non-local in time. Figure 3 provides a schematic illustration of this temporal nonlocality.

This complex dependence of ϕ_m on $(\phi_p)_{p < m}$, together with the requirement to integrate equation (54) both forwards and backwards in time, represents the primary limitation on the numerical resolution we have been able to attain. Among the various methods explored, the simplest approach proved to be the most effective in achieving the highest spatial resolution.

Our procedure is as follows. First, we choose M and construct a space-time grid fine enough to resolve τ_M and ϵ_M . We then compute ϕ_1 explicitly on this fine grid and store it. Since ϕ_1 is now available over the entire space-time grid, we can compute ϕ_2 , store it, and continue this process iteratively until ϕ_M is obtained. The main constraint is the size of the file containing ϕ_M . In our numerical experiment, ϕ_M is computed over the time interval [0, 1/2] on a 2048² grid, resulting in a file several hundred gigabytes in size. This presents a significant limitation, preventing us from reaching higher resolutions. Nevertheless, this approach has the advantage of making the full field immediately accessible, which is particularly useful for studying passive scalar dynamics and Lagrangian trajectories.

The backward flow map equation (54) is integrated in time using a third-order Adams-Bashforth scheme, with dealiased pseudo-spectral differentiation. For further details on the implementation of this scheme, we provide a pseudo-code in Algorithm 1. All the numerical results presented here are obtained using a vector field \mathbf{b}_M computed on a Cartesian spatial grid with resolution δx in each direction and a temporal resolution δt . The parameters used to compute \mathbf{b}_M in all our numerical simulations are listed in Table 1. Theses parameters correspond

М	Λ	β	δx	δt
3	2.5	1.2	$\frac{1}{4}2 \lfloor \log_2(\epsilon_M) \rfloor$	$\tau_M/8$

Table 1: Parameters used in numerical simulations.

to a space grid of 2048² points and a time step $\delta t \simeq 4 \times 10^{-5}$.

To determine whether anomalous diffusion can be observed numerically, we need to integrate the passive scalar equation. This equation is solved using a third-order exponential Adams-Bashforth scheme. This exponential integration method enable us to better handle the numerical stiffness of the Laplace operator:

$$\partial_t \theta^{\kappa} + e^{-t\kappa\Delta} \left[\mathbf{b}_M \cdot \nabla (e^{t\kappa\Delta} \theta^{\kappa}) \right] = \kappa\Delta \theta^{\kappa}, \quad \theta^{\kappa}(0, \mathbf{x}) = 0, \quad (58)$$

The solution θ^{κ} to this advection-diffusion equation is computed on the same space-time grid as ϕ_M . From the numerical integration of (58), we extract several observables, such as $\|\theta^{\kappa}\|_{L^2}$ and $\|\nabla\theta^{\kappa}\|_{L^2}$ to assess whether the system exhibits anomalous diffusion. The passive scalar field is computed on the same space-time grid as \mathbf{b}_M , and in the results we presented, the initial condition is a smooth random gaussian field given by

$$\theta_0(\mathbf{x}) = \sum_{\substack{\mathbf{n} \in \mathbb{Z}^2\\ 0 < |\mathbf{n}| \le \frac{2}{\ell_{M-1}}}} \frac{g_\omega(\mathbf{n})}{\langle \mathbf{n} \rangle^{2-\frac{\beta}{2}}} e^{2i\pi \mathbf{n} \cdot \mathbf{x}}.$$
 (59)

Here, $g_{\omega}(\mathbf{n})$ is a complex random Gaussian variable with zero mean and unit variance. These variables are independent and satisfy the Hermitian symmetry condition $\overline{g_{\omega}(\mathbf{n})} = g_{\omega}(-\mathbf{n})$. We use the Japanese bracket notation $\langle \mathbf{n} \rangle = \sqrt{1 + \mathbf{n}^2}$, and the exponent $2 - \frac{\beta}{2}$ is chosen such that the initial condition remains smooth for finite *M* while exhibiting large-scale regularity $\frac{1-\alpha}{2}$, which corresponds to the Onsager critical regularity for anomalous diffusion of the passive scalar to occur.

For the integration of the backward Lagrangian trajectories governed by Equation (13), we follow the approach of [31], transforming the backward SDE into a forward SDE by introducing the time variable *s* for $\hat{s} := t_f - s$ where $t_f = 0.5$ is the final simulation time. The forward SDE is integrated using an Euler-Maruyama scheme with the same time step as that used for computing \mathbf{b}_M . The variance is then estimated using the unbiased estimator

$$\sigma_{\kappa}^{2}(s) := \frac{2}{N-1} \sum_{n=1}^{N} |\mathbf{X}_{n}(s) - \overline{\mathbf{X}}_{N}(s)|^{2}$$

where \mathbf{X}_n are independent realisations of the process (13) and

$$\overline{\mathbf{X}}_N(s) = \frac{1}{N} \sum_{n=1}^N \mathbf{X}_n(s).$$

11. Appendix Part II

11.1. Proof of Proposition 1 Subsection 5.2

We first prove that if (SpSt) holds then necessarily there are least two distinct trajectory solutions of the problem (\mathcal{P}_0) starting from the same initial condition x_0 : one associated with the limsup and one with the liminf. We proceed by contradiction by assuming that (SpSt) holds and there is a unique solution of (\mathcal{P}_0) . We denote $\Phi_k(s) := \Phi_s[f(\cdot, \kappa)]x_0$ and $\Phi_0(s) := \Phi_s[f_0(\cdot)]x_0$. We want to show that, $\forall s \in [0, t]$, $\|\Phi_k(s) - \Phi_0(s)\| \to 0$ uniformally. Under hypothesis (H0), this is straightforward. However, for self-consistency we provide the details of the proof.

We have $\Phi_{\kappa}(s) = x_0 + \int_0^s f(\Phi_{\kappa}(s'), \kappa) ds'$ so that $||\Phi_{\kappa}(s)|| \le ||x_0|| + t \sup_x ||f(x, \kappa)|| \le C$ uniformally (in κ and s). Similarly, since $\dot{\Phi}_{\kappa} = f(\Phi_{\kappa}, \kappa), ||\dot{\Phi}_{\kappa}|| \le C$ uniformally, the time derivatives being uniformally bounded, one obtains uniform equicontinuity (by the mean value theorem). One can therefore use the Arzelà-Ascoli theorem which gives uniformally convergent subsequences $\{\Phi_{\kappa_j}\}$ converging to some Φ^* (depending on the subsequence). We can write $\Phi_{\kappa_j}(s) = x_0 + \int_0^s f(\Phi_{\kappa_j}(s'), \kappa_j) ds'$ and by uniform convergence of the subsequence together with the uniform convergence $||f(\cdot, \kappa_j) - f_0(\cdot)||_{\infty} \to 0$ (and dominated convergence), one obtains $\Phi^*(s) = x_0 + \int_0^s f_0(\Phi^*(s')) ds'$. Since by hypothesis, one has assumed the solution of (\mathcal{P}_0) to be unique, then $\Phi^* = \Phi_0$ (for all subsequences). We therefore obtain the uniform convergence $\Phi_{\kappa} \to \Phi_0$. Then using the continuity of the observable, one also has $O(\Phi_t[f(\cdot, \kappa)]x_0) \to O(\Phi_t[f_0(\cdot)]x_0)$, or using the notations of Definition 1 $\limsup_{\kappa \to 0} \mathcal{A}(\kappa) = \liminf_{\kappa \to 0} \mathcal{A}(\kappa)$ giving a contradiction.

One has therefore two well-defined trajectories, say $\Phi_s^+ x_0$ and $\Phi_s^- x_0$, $s \in [0, t]$ corresponding to limsup and liminf resp. starting from the same x_0 such that $\Phi_t^+ x_0 \neq \Phi_t^- x_0$. This is just finite-time separation of trajectories in phase space since $t < \infty$ by hypothesis.

The proof that $(B) \Rightarrow (SpSt)$ is easy: if two trajectories with same initial condition x_0 separate in the inviscid limit $\kappa \to 0$ before time t, then one can exhibit two subsequences corresponding to these two trajectories. One then uses an observable measuring for instance the distance between the two positions at time t. One has obviously $(SpSt) \iff (C)$. We write the proof for self-consistency. Proposition (C) is a lack of selection principle which means that one can find two subsequences $\kappa_1, \kappa_2 \to 0$ such that $x_{\kappa_i}(t; x_0) \to x_i, j = 1, 2$ where x_{κ_i} are solutions of the well-posed problems (\mathcal{P}_{κ_i}) , and $x_1 \neq x_2$ are two distinct solutions of the inviscid problem (\mathcal{P}_0). One can then distinguish a continuous observable such that $O(x_1) \neq O(x_2)$ (one can invoke a general result in topology for normal spaces, holding trivially for \mathbb{R}^n) and by continuity (SpSt) follows. The converse is trivial, also using the continuity of the observable. \square

11.2. Proof of Property 2

Assume that $O|_{S_0} = \text{cst.}$ Since S_0 is compact, for all sequences $\kappa_j \to 0$, there exists a subsequence such that $\Phi_t[f(\cdot, \kappa_{j_k})]x_0 \to \phi^*$ and $\phi^* \in S_0$. Since *O* is continuous by hypothesis, one has therefore $\mathcal{A}(\kappa_{j_k}) \to O(\phi^*) = \text{cst}$ and thus $\mathcal{A}^+ = \mathcal{A}^-$ giving a contradiction. Note that the connectedness of S_0 , from Kneser's theorem, can be used together with the continuity of *O* to infer that $O(S_0)$ is a closed interval. If *O* is constant, then the contradiction becomes immediate.

11.3. Pedestrian proof of Lemma 1

 $\int C^{2^{n+1}T}$

We denote $J(T) = \int_{1}^{\infty} F \circ \gamma(\tau T) \frac{d\tau}{\tau^2} = \int_{T}^{\infty} F \circ \gamma(\tau) \omega_T(\tau) d\tau$ with $\omega_T(\tau) = \frac{T}{\tau^2}$ and $R(T) = \frac{1}{T} \int_{1}^{T} F \circ \gamma(t) dt$. We split the integral like

$$J(T) = \sum_{n \ge 0} \frac{1}{2^{n+1}} \int_{2^n T}^{2^{n+1}T} F \circ \gamma(\tau) g_T(\tau), \ g_T(\tau) = \frac{2^{n+1}T}{\tau^2},$$
$$\int_{2^n T}^{2^{n+1}T} g_T(\tau) d\tau = 1.$$

We have

$$\left| \int_{2^{n}T} F \circ \gamma(\tau) g_{T}(\tau) d\tau - F \right| \leq \int_{2^{n}T} \frac{\int_{2^{n}T} F \circ \gamma(\tau) \left(g_{T}(\tau) - \frac{1}{2^{n}T} \right) d\tau}{I} \right| + \left| \frac{1}{2^{n}T} \int_{2^{n}T} \frac{\int_{2^{n}T} F \circ \gamma(\tau) d\tau - \bar{F}}{II} \right|$$

_

The second term is just $II = 2R(2^{n+1}T) - R(2^nT)$ which converges to zero uniformally in *n*, and we write $|II| \le \frac{\epsilon}{2}$. The term I is more difficult. First notice that $\int_{2^nT}^{2^{n+1}T} \Omega(\tau)d\tau = 0$ where $\Omega(\tau) = g_T(\tau) - \frac{1}{2^nT} = \frac{2^{n+1}T}{\tau^2} - \frac{1}{2^nT}$. Then $I = \int F \circ \gamma \Omega d\tau =$

 $\int (F \circ \gamma - \bar{F}) \Omega d\tau + \int \bar{F} \Omega d\tau = \int (F \circ \gamma - \bar{F}) \Omega d\tau + \bar{F} \int \Omega d\tau = \int (F \circ \gamma - \bar{F}) \Omega d\tau \text{ and therefore}$

$$|I| \leq \sup_{\tau \in [2^n T, 2^{n+1}T]} |\Omega(\tau)| \left| \int_{2^n T}^{2^{n+1}T} (F \circ \gamma(\tau) - \bar{F}) d\tau \right|$$

Writing $\Omega(\tau) = 2a/\tau^2 - 1/a$ for $\tau \in [a, 2a]$ with $a = 2^nT$, an easy calculation shows that the sup is 1/a. We thus obtain

$$|I| \leq \left| \frac{1}{2^n T} \int_{2^n T}^{2^{n+1} T} (F \circ \gamma(\tau) - \bar{F}) d\tau \right|$$

But the right-hand side is just the term II, i.e. $|I| \le |II|$. We are thus ready to conclude, noticing that $\sum_{n\ge 0} \frac{1}{2^{n+1}} = 1$, one has

$$|J(T) - \bar{F}| \le \sum_{n \ge 0} \frac{1}{2^{n+1}} \left| \int_{2^n T}^{2^{n+1} T} F \circ \gamma(\tau) g_T(\tau) d\tau - \bar{F} \right| \le 2|II| \le \epsilon.$$

11.4. Proof of Prop. 3

- \mathcal{M}_0 is compact and convex. It is convex since taking $\mu_1, \mu_2 \in \mathcal{P}(S_0)$ then for $\theta \in [0, 1], \mu(S_0) = (1 \theta)\mu_1(S_0) + \theta\mu_2(S_0) = 1$. Moreover, for all Borel sets $B \subset S_0, \mu(B) \ge 0$ since $\mu_1(B), \mu_2(B) \ge 0$ and thus $\mu \in \mathcal{M}_0$. Due to the compacity of S_0 , one has immediate tightness: for all $\mu \in \mathcal{P}(S_0), \mu(S_0) = 1$ so that the probability measures in $\mathcal{P}(S_0)$ are tight. Prokhorov theorem then states that tightness of probability measures in a Polish space is equivalent to be relatively compact in the weak topology. It thus remains to show that the set is closed. Let $\mu_k \rightarrow \mu$ then since $\limsup_{k\to\infty} \mu_k(S_0) \le \mu(S_0)$, then $\mu(S_0) \ge 1$. By weak convergence $\mu(\mathbb{R}^d) = 1$ and $\mu(B) \ge 0$ for all Borel sets, therefore $\mu(S_0) \le 1$ i.e. $\mu(S_0) = 1$ and $\mu \in \mathcal{M}_0$.
- $\mathcal{M}(\gamma) \subseteq \mathcal{M}_0$. Let $\mu \in \mathcal{M}(\gamma)$, from (H0) any convergent subsequences $\tau_k \to \infty$, $\gamma(\tau_k) \to \gamma_k$ is such that γ_k is solution of (\mathcal{P}_0) (since $f(\cdot, 1/\tau_k)$ converges uniformally to f_0), i.e. $\gamma_k \in S_0$. Denote the closure of the set of all accumulation points by $\bar{\gamma}$. From the previous remark, $\bar{\gamma} \subset S_0$. Let N be some open set with $N \cap S_0 = \emptyset$, and thus $N \cap \bar{\gamma} = \emptyset$, then $\mu(N) = \lim_{T_n \to \infty} 1/T_n \int_0^{T_n} \chi_{\tau \in N}(\gamma(s)) ds = 0$. Since the probability measure μ has support contained in S_0 then $\mu \in \mathcal{M}_0$.
- $\mathcal{M}(\gamma)$ is compact. The space $\mathcal{M}(\gamma)$ is non-empty due to tighness. We first show that it is compact in the weak topology. It suffices to show that it is closed and since it is in the compact set $\mathcal{P}(S_0)$ it is compact as well. The proof is a classical diagonal argument. Let $\mu_k \in \mathcal{M}(\gamma) \to \mu$. By hypothesis, there is a sequence $T_{n,k} \to \infty$ such that $\lim_{n\to\infty} 1/T_{n,k} \int_0^{T_{n,k}} F(\gamma(s)) ds = \langle \mu_k, F \rangle$. For each *n*, one can choose k = k(n) such that $|1/T_{n,k} \int_0^{T_{n,k}} F(\gamma(s)) ds - \langle \mu_k, F \rangle| \le 1/n$. The sequence $T'_n = T_{n,k(n)}$ is such that $\lim_{n\to\infty} 1/T'_n \int_0^{T'_n} F(\gamma(s)) ds = \langle \mu, F \rangle$, i.e. $\mu \in \mathcal{M}(\gamma)$.

- Nonconvexity. It is useful to give a counter-example. Let $\gamma(s) = e^{i\log s}$ and write the test functions like $F(z) = \sum_{k\geq 0} F_k z^k$. Let $C(T) = 1/T \int_0^T F(\gamma(s)) ds = \sum_{k\geq 0} G_k e^{ik\log T}$ with $G_k = F_k/(1 + ik)$. Then we can exhibit subsequences of the form $T_n^{(a)} = e^{2\pi n + a_n}$ with $a_n \to a$. It gives the family of measures $\langle \mu_a, F \rangle = \sum_{k\geq 0} G_k e^{ika}$. Consider two distinct measures μ_{a_1}, μ_{a_2} then one must find a sequence T_n such that $C(T_n) \to \sum_{k\geq 0} G_k(\theta e^{ika_1} + (1 - \theta)e^{ika_2})$. It gives the constraint: $\forall k \geq 0, e^{i\log T_n} \to (\theta e^{ika_1} + (1 - \theta)e^{ika_2})^{\frac{1}{k}}$. This is not possible (unless T_n depends on k).
- Genericity. This is a tautology: suppose that $\mathcal{M}(\gamma)$ does not reduce to a singleton, and there is a measure μ in $\mathcal{M}(\gamma)$ such that γ is generic for μ , then $\mathcal{M}(\gamma)$ must reduce to a singleton (since all subsequences would have the same limit), giving a contradiction.

11.5. Convex example

We consider $\gamma(s) = \tanh(s \sin \log s)$ and want to compute $I(T) = 1/T \int_0^T F(\gamma(s))ds$ for large T. We write $F(z) = \sum_{k\geq 0} F_k z^k$. For k even, one has $I(T) \sim 1$. One must discuss the case k odd. We write $I(R) = e^{-R} \int_{-\infty}^R \tanh^k(e^s \sin s)e^s ds$ with $R = \log T$. Let $R^{-1} \ll \delta \ll 1$ such that $|\tanh^k(e^s \sin s) - \operatorname{sign}(\sin s)| \le \delta$ then $I(R) = e^{-R} \int_{-\infty}^{\delta^{-1}} \tanh^k(e^s \sin s)e^s ds + e^{-R} \int_{\delta^{-1}}^R \tanh^k(e^s \sin s)e^s ds$ since $|\tanh^k(e^s \sin s)| \le 1$, the first term is negligible (it is bounded by $e^{-R(1-\delta^{-1}/R)}$). We thus focus on the second term only, i.e. $C_R = e^{-R} \int_{\delta^{-1}}^R \operatorname{sign}(\sin s)e^s ds$ up to correction terms uniformally bounded by $\delta - e^{-R(1-\delta^{-1}/R)}$.

We obtain $C_R = e^{-R} \sum_{j=j_0}^{j_1} \int_{j\pi}^{(j+1)\pi} (-1)^j e^s ds + e^{-R} \int_{\delta^{-1}}^{j_0\pi} (-1)^{j_0-1} e^s ds + e^{-R} \int_{(j_1+1)\pi}^{R} (-1)^{j_1+1} e^s ds$ where $j_0 = \lceil \delta^{-1}/\pi \rceil$ and $j_1 = \lfloor R/\pi \rfloor - 1$. It is $C_R = e^{-R} \sum_{j=j_0}^{j_1} (-1)^j (e^{(j+1)\pi} - e^{j\pi}) - (-1)^{j_0} e^{-R} (e^{j_0\pi} - e^{\delta^{-1}}) - (-1)^{j_1} (1 - e^{\lfloor R/\pi \rfloor \pi - R}).$

$$C_R \sim \Gamma(R) := (-1)^{\lfloor \frac{R}{\pi} \rfloor} \left(1 - \frac{2e^{\pi}}{1 + e^{\pi}} \exp\left(-(R - \pi \lfloor \frac{R}{\pi} \rfloor)\right) \right).$$

Coming back to $\mathcal{M}(\gamma)$, one must look at subsequential limits of ad-hoc subsequences $T_n \to \infty$, taking $R_n = \log T_n = 2n\pi + \alpha\pi$, and $R_n = (2n + 1)\pi + \beta$, where $\alpha, \beta \in [0, 1]$ one obtains two families for $0 \le x \le 1$:

$$\mu_x = \frac{1}{2}(1 \pm \Theta(x))\delta_{+1} + \frac{1}{2}(1 \mp \Theta(x))\delta_{-1}, \ \Theta(x) = 1 - \frac{2e^{-\pi x}}{1 + e^{-\pi x}}$$

One can equivalently write: $\mu_{\theta} = \theta \delta_{+1} + (1 - \theta) \delta_{-1}$ where $\theta \in [\sigma, 1 - \sigma], \sigma = \frac{1}{1 + e^{\pi}}$. For the sake of rigour, let $F \in C_b$, there is a sequence of analytic functions $F_n \to F$ uniformally such that using continuity of the functional $F \mapsto \langle \mu, F \rangle$, the result holds for all $F \in C_b$. This example gives a situation where $\mathcal{M}(\gamma)$ is indeed convex.

11.6. Proof of Theorem 1

The fact that $\mathcal{M}_0 = \overline{co}(\mathcal{E})$ is a standard result which is a consequence of \mathcal{M}_0 being compact and convex and Krein-Milman theorem (see proof Appendix 11.4).

Proof that for all x ∈ S₀, there exists γ_x ∈ R_{eg} such that M(γ_x) = {δ_x}.

Consider the set of trajectories of the inviscid system $\{\Phi_s x_0, s \in [0, t]\}$. One can select a trajectory call g in this set such that g(t) = x (otherwise it would contradict $x \in S_0$). This trajectory is C^1 since $\dot{g} = f_0(g)$ and f_0 is continuous. We first use Stone-Weierstrass to approximate \dot{g} by C^{∞} functions and then one obtain $C^{\infty} g_{\epsilon}$ such that $g_{\epsilon}(0) = x_0$ and $||g_{\epsilon} - g||_{C^1} \to 0$. We then construct a vector field $F_{\epsilon} = \dot{g}_{\epsilon}$ in a small tubular neighborhood of g of radius size ϵ . We use a partition of unity so that $f_{\epsilon} = \theta_{\epsilon}F_{\epsilon} + (1 - \theta_{\epsilon})f_0$, namely f_{ϵ} is equal to f_0 outside the tube but connects smoothly to F_{ϵ} inside. We show that this vector field satisfies (H0). Inside the tube, one has $||f_{\epsilon}(x) - f_0(x)|| = ||F_{\epsilon}(x) - f_0(x)|| \le$ $||F_{\epsilon}(x) - f_0(g(x))|| + ||f_0(x) - f_0(g(x))||$. The first term goes to zero by the definition of F_{ϵ} ($\dot{g}_{\epsilon} \rightarrow \dot{g} = f_0(g)$ uniformally). The second term goes to zero uniformally by continuity of f_0 and the definition of the tubular neighborhood. Outside the tube $f_{\epsilon} = f_0$. In order to conclude, one has by construction $||g_{\epsilon} - g||_{C^0} \rightarrow 0$ and is the unique solution of $\dot{x} = f_{\epsilon}(x), x(0) = x_0.$

• Proof that any finite convex combination of Dirac measure is in \mathcal{M} .

Let $x, y \in S_0$, $x \neq y$. We denote $f_x(\cdot, \epsilon)$ the regularisation constructed above such that the inviscid limit attain x, and similarly for y. Let $\theta \in (0, 1)$, we will construct a regularisation of the form $f_{\theta}(\cdot, \epsilon) = a_{\theta}(\epsilon^{-1})f_x(\cdot, \epsilon) + (1 - a_{\theta}(\epsilon^{-1}))f_y(\cdot, \epsilon)$. We consider

$$a_{\theta}(\tau) = \frac{1}{2} \left(1 + \tanh(\tau p_{\theta}(\tau)) \right)$$

with $p_{\theta}(\tau) = \sin 2\pi\tau + \sin \pi(\theta - \frac{1}{2}).$ (60)

It is designed such that $a(\tau)$ is asymptotically behaving like a periodic step function with values 1 during an interval of length converging to θ and 0 during an interval of length converging to $1 - \theta$. The function f_{θ} satisfies (H0) since $||f_{\theta} - f_0||_{\infty} = ||a(f_x - f_0) + (1 - a)(f_y - f_0)||_{\infty} \le ||f_x - f_0||_{\infty} + ||f_y - f_0||_{\infty}$ and f_x , f_y satisfy (H0) by hypothesis. One then write $1/n \int_0^n F(\gamma(s+s_0))ds = 1/n \sum_{k=0}^{n-1} \int_0^1 F(\gamma(s+s_0+k))ds \approx 1/n \sum_{k=0}^{k-1} (\theta F(x) + (1 - \theta)F(y))$ where $s_0 \in (0, 1)$ is such that $\gamma(s + s_0 + k) \approx x$ for $s \in [0, \theta]$ and $\approx y$ for $s \in [\theta, 1]$. As usual, the boundary terms does not contribute to the weak limit which is thus $\theta \delta_x + (1 - \theta)\delta_y$. We do not write all the details but the rapid switches between 0 and 1 yield a small remainder term in the Cesàro mean of size O(1/n).

In order to conclude, the proposed construction can be extended to switches between any finite number of arbitrary points $x \in S_0$. One has thus $co(\mathcal{E}) \subseteq \mathcal{M} \subseteq \mathcal{M}_0 = \overline{co}(\mathcal{E})$, taking the closure one concludes that $\mathcal{M} = \mathcal{M}_0$. 11.7. $\mathcal{M}(\gamma_{un}) = \mathcal{M}_0$: a universal non-renormalised regularization.

Let $b_n := (x_n, y_n, \theta_n) \in B := S_0 \times S_0 \times [0, 1]$ a sequence which is sequentially dense, meaning that for all $b \in B$ one has a convergent subsequence $b_{n_k} \to b$. Let $T_n \to \infty$ a given sequence to choose. Call $\chi_n : \mathbb{R}^+ \to [0, 1]$ a partition of unity such that $\sum_n \chi_n(s) = 1$ and $\chi_n(s) = 1, s \in [T_n + \delta, T_{n+1} - \delta]$ and zero if not. We define $\gamma_{un}(\tau) = \sum_n \chi_n(\tau)\gamma_{x_n,y_n,\theta_n}(\tau)$ where $\gamma_{x,y,\theta}$ is the regularization curve constructed in the proof above (11.6). We must choose T_n so that $T_{n+1} - T_n$ is large enough to distinguish at least one period of a_{θ} in (60). In the interval (T_n, T_{n+1}) , the curve is approximating $\theta_n x_n + (1 - \theta_n)y_n$. Due to the sequential density, one can exhibit subsequences $n_k \to \infty$ such that $x_{n_k}, y_{n_k}, \theta_{n_k} \to x, y, \theta$, namely $\mu_{T_{n_k}} \to \theta \delta_x + (1 - \theta) \delta_y$. This construction shows that $\mathcal{M}(\gamma_{un}) = \operatorname{co}(\mathcal{E})$. Taking the closure, one obtains $\mathcal{M}(\gamma_{un}) = \mathcal{M}_0$.

11.8. Dini derivatives and proof of Theorem 2

Although we do not use Dini derivatives explicitly, it is closely related to Definition 3. We just recall very few well-known properties.

Definition 5. Let f(x) be a real valued function defined in (a, b), the four Dini derivatives at x_0 are defined as

$$D^{\pm}f(x_0) = \limsup_{x \to x_0^{\pm}} \frac{f(x) - f(x_0)}{x - x_0},$$
$$D_{\pm}f(x_0) = \liminf_{x \to x_0^{\pm}} \frac{f(x) - f(x_0)}{x - x_0}.$$

 $\pm \infty$ is allowed.

We state some Dini properties for general functions (not necessarily continuous)

- if *f* is continuous in (*a*, *b*), and *D*(*x*) ∈ {*D*[±]_±*f*(*x*)} > 0(< 0), ∀*x* ∈ (*a*, *b*) then *f* is strictly increasing (decreasing). In other words, one needs only one of the Dini derivative.
- Let *f* be continuous on (a, b) with at least one of the Dini derivatives bounded (e.g. $|D^+f(x)| \le C, \forall x \in (a, b)$) then f is Lipschitz on (a, b).

Deeper results can be found in [44, 14].

The proof of Theorem 2 is simple, since it is mostly a rephrasing of non-Lipschitz property using Dini-like quantities but translated in the "Osgood framework". We show the contrapositive of Theorem 2. We restrict *x* to a compact set $M \subset \mathbb{R}^n$. Therefore, $\exists C, \forall (x, v) \in M \times \mathbb{S}^{n-1}, \Lambda_{\Omega}^+(x, v) \leq C < +\infty$. We need to show that in this case $\dot{x} = f(x), x(0) = x_0 \in M$ has a unique solution. Note that *f* might not be necessarily Lipschitz. Consider $v = \frac{y-x}{\|y-x\|}$. Using the uniform bound above, for small enough t > 0, one has $\langle f(x + tv) - f(x), v \rangle \leq C\Omega(t)$, and taking $t = \|y - x\|$ gives the one-sided inequality

$$\langle f(y) - f(x), y - x \rangle \le C ||y - x|| \Omega(||y - x||).$$

Denote $g(||y - x||^2) = ||y - x||\Omega(||y - x||)$. Then by the one-sided Osgood Lemma, uniqueness occurs if $\int_{0^+} \frac{dz}{g(z)} = \int_{0^+} \frac{dz}{\Omega(z)} = +\infty$ which is just the hypothesis of Theorem 2. Note that the nonautonomous case holds as well: this is Giuliano's uniqueness Theorem with a time-dependent measurable constant (see Theorem 3.5.1 in [1]).

11.9. Notations used in the rest of Part II

It will be useful to introduce the compact notations

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{A}(\kappa) &:= \kappa \|\nabla \theta^{\kappa}\|_{L^{2}((0,1)\times\mathbb{T}^{2})}^{2} \qquad \mathcal{A}_{m}(\kappa_{m}) &:= \kappa_{m} \|\nabla \theta_{m}\|_{L^{2}((0,1)\times\mathbb{T}^{2})}^{2} \\ \mathcal{A}^{+} &:= \limsup_{\substack{\kappa \to 0 \\ \kappa \to 0}} \mathcal{A}(\kappa) \qquad \mathcal{A}^{-} &:= \liminf_{\substack{\kappa \to 0 \\ \kappa \to 0}} \mathcal{A}(\kappa) \\ \mathcal{A}^{+}_{m_{\star}} &:= \limsup_{\substack{\kappa \to 0 \\ \kappa \to 0}} \mathcal{A}_{m^{\star}}(\kappa_{m^{\star}}(\kappa)) \qquad \mathcal{A}^{-}_{m_{\star}} &:= \liminf_{\substack{\kappa \to 0 \\ \kappa \to 0}} \mathcal{A}_{m^{\star}}(\kappa_{m^{\star}}(\kappa)) \\ \kappa^{+} &:= \limsup_{\substack{\kappa \to 0 \\ \kappa \to 0}} \kappa_{m^{\star}}(\kappa) \qquad \kappa^{-} &:= \liminf_{\substack{\kappa \to 0 \\ \kappa \to 0}} \kappa_{m^{\star}}(\kappa) \end{aligned}$$

with $\kappa \in \mathcal{K}_A$. Note that κ_m is always understood as depending on the initial condition $\kappa_M = \kappa$ (see (6)). In fact, it is important to notice that the mapping $\kappa_m \mapsto \kappa_{m-1}$ is non-autonomous and any limit $M \to \infty$ must be understood as a pullback limit for fixed *m*. In principle, one should always write the term κ_m as depending on both κ and *M*. In order to avoid heavy notations, we will write κ_m , unless needed.

11.10. Proofs of Theorem 3 and Property 4 in section 7

As announced in the main text, the following proofs are based on the ArXiv version [3]. In the following, it will be useful to have lower and upper bounds for the products

$$\Pi_{\pm a,b,m} := \prod_{k=m}^{M-1} (1 \pm a\epsilon_k^b), \ \epsilon_k = \epsilon_{k-1}^q, \ a > 0, b > 0.$$
(62)

The upper bound is found by using $\log(1 + x) \leq x$ giving $S_{a,b,m} \leq a \sum_{k=m}^{M-1} \epsilon_k^b = a \epsilon_m^b \sum_{k=m}^{M-1} (\epsilon_k/\epsilon_m)^b$ and since $\epsilon_{k+1}/\epsilon_k = \epsilon_k^{q-1} \leq \epsilon_m^{q-1} = \Lambda^{-q^m}$ then $S_{a,b,m} \leq a \epsilon_m^b \sum_{k=m}^{M-1} g^k = a \epsilon_m^{b \frac{1-g^{M-m}}{1-g}} \leq a \epsilon_m^b/(1-g)$ where $g = \Lambda^{-bq^m}$. For the lower bound, we use $\log(1 + x) \geq \lambda x$ for $0 < \lambda < 1$ valid for $x \leq C_\lambda^-$ where $\log(1 + C_\lambda^-) = \lambda C_\lambda^-$ (for $\lambda \sim 1, C_\lambda^- \sim 2(1-\lambda)$). It gives $S_{a,b,m} \geq \lambda a \epsilon_m^b \sum_{k=m}^{M-1} (\epsilon_k/\epsilon_m)^b \geq \lambda a \epsilon_m^b$ provided $\epsilon_{M-1}^b < \cdots < \epsilon_m^b \leq C_\lambda^-$. We are also interested in a lower bound for $\Pi_{-a,b,m}$, we use $\log(1 - x) \geq -\lambda x$ for x small enough and $\lambda > 1$, namely $x \leq C_\lambda^+$ with $\log(1 - C_\lambda^+) = -\lambda C_\lambda^+$. It gives $\Pi_{-a,b,m} \geq -\lambda a \epsilon_m^b \sum_{k=m}^{M-1} (\epsilon_k/\epsilon_m)^b \geq -\lambda a \epsilon_m^b \sum_{k=m}^{M-1} g^k = -\lambda a \epsilon_m^b (1 - g^{M-m})/(1 - g) \geq -\lambda a \epsilon_m^b/(1 - g)$. There are now two constraints, first $1 - a \epsilon_{M-1}^b > \cdots > 1 - a \epsilon_m^b > 0$ and $\epsilon_m^b \leq C_\lambda^+$.

$$\Pi_{a,b,m} \geq \exp\left(\lambda a \epsilon_m^b\right) \geq 1$$

for $\epsilon_m^b \leq C_{\lambda}^-, 0 < \lambda < 1$
$$\Pi_{a,b,m} \leq \exp\left(a \epsilon_m^b (1 - \Lambda^{-bq^m})^{-1}\right)$$
(63)
$$\Pi_{-a,b,m} \geq \exp\left(-\lambda a \epsilon_m^b (1 - \Lambda^{-bq^m})^{-1}\right)$$

for $\epsilon_m^b \leq \min\{C_{\lambda}^+, a^{-1}\}, \lambda > 1.$

The key aspect to remember is that $\Pi_{\pm a,b,m}$ can be made arbitrarily close to 1 by increasing Λ .

11.10.1. Lemma 2 **Lemma 2.** Let $\varepsilon > 0$. Provided $\Lambda \ge (\frac{C}{\epsilon})^{\frac{1}{\delta}}$ and M is large enough, one has

$$\sigma^{-}\mathcal{A}_{m^{\star}}(\kappa_{m}^{\star}) \leq \mathcal{A}(\kappa) \leq \sigma^{+}\mathcal{A}_{m^{\star}}(\kappa_{m}^{\star}).$$
(64)

where

$$\sigma^{\pm} := \left(e^{\pm\varepsilon} \pm \gamma_M\right)^2, \ \gamma_M := C \epsilon_M^{\beta(q-\frac{2}{q+1})} \ll 1.$$
(65)

Proof: it relies on several "hard" estimates which are deeply , rooted in [3]. The main one is (5.72) from their Proposition 5.2, that we reproduce

(5.72)
$$\left| \frac{\mathcal{A}_m(\kappa_m)}{\mathcal{A}_{m-1}(\kappa_{m-1})} - 1 \right| \leq C \epsilon_{m-1}^{\delta}.$$

The aim is to iterate this estimate several times from M to m^* using the quantities $\Pi_{\pm C,\delta,m^*}$ introduced in (62). From (5.72)[3] (or see (5.100)[3]), one easily obtains

$$\mathcal{A}_{m^{\star}}(\kappa_{m}^{\star})\Pi_{-C,\delta,m^{\star}} \leq \mathcal{A}_{M}(\kappa_{M}) \leq \mathcal{A}_{m^{\star}}(\kappa_{m}^{\star})\Pi_{+C,\delta,m^{\star}}, \quad \kappa_{M} = \kappa.$$
(66)

From (39), one has $C\epsilon_{m^{\star}}^{\delta} \leq C\epsilon_{1}^{\delta} \leq C\Lambda^{-\delta} \leq \varepsilon < 1$ and (63) can be used. It reads

$$e^{-2\varepsilon} \leq \exp\left(-\lambda C\epsilon_{m^{\star}}^{\delta}(1-\Lambda^{-\delta q^{m^{\star}}})^{-1}\right) \leq \Pi_{-C,\delta,m^{\star}}, \ \Pi_{+C,\delta,m^{\star}} \leq \exp\left(C\epsilon_{m^{\star}}^{\delta}(1-\Lambda^{-\delta q^{m^{\star}}})^{-1}\right) \leq e^{2\varepsilon}$$

One can now prove Lemma 2. We then write Eq.(5.103) in [3] using our notations, it is

$$\|\theta - \theta_M\|_{L^{\infty}((0,1);L^2(\mathbb{T}^2))}^2 + \kappa \|\nabla\theta - \nabla\theta_M\|_{L^2((0,1)\times\mathbb{T}^2)}^2 \le \gamma_M^2 \mathcal{A}_{m^\star}(\kappa_m^\star).$$
(67)

For the upper bound, one starts from $\sqrt{\kappa} ||\nabla \theta|| \leq \sqrt{\kappa} ||\nabla \theta - \nabla \theta_M|| + \sqrt{\kappa} ||\nabla \theta_M||$. It is using the above notations and $\kappa_M = \kappa$, $\sqrt{\kappa} ||\nabla \theta|| \leq \sqrt{\kappa} ||\nabla \theta - \nabla \theta_M|| + \mathcal{A}_M^{\frac{1}{2}}(\kappa_M)$. Then one uses (66), (67) so that $\sqrt{\kappa} ||\nabla \theta|| \leq \gamma_M \mathcal{A}_{m^\star}^{\frac{1}{2}}(\kappa_m^\star) + \mathcal{A}_M^{\frac{1}{2}}(\kappa_M) \leq (\gamma_M + e^\varepsilon) \mathcal{A}_{m^\star}^{\frac{1}{2}}(\kappa_m^\star)$. For the lower bound, one starts from the reverse inequality and the definition of \mathcal{A}_M : $\sqrt{\kappa} ||\nabla \theta|| \geq \mathcal{A}_M^{\frac{1}{2}}(\kappa_M) - \sqrt{\kappa} ||\nabla \theta - \nabla \theta_M|| \geq \mathcal{A}_M^{\frac{1}{2}}(\kappa_M) - \sqrt{\kappa} ||\nabla \theta - \nabla \theta_M|| \geq \mathcal{A}_M^{\frac{1}{2}}(\kappa_M) - \sqrt{\kappa} ||\nabla \theta|| \geq (e^{-\varepsilon} - \gamma_M) \mathcal{A}_m^{\frac{1}{2}}(\kappa_m^\star)$. Now to square this inequality, one must choose M large enough to insure that $\gamma_M < e^{-\varepsilon}$. Note that $\gamma_M = C\Lambda^{-q^M\beta\frac{q+2}{q+1}} \sim C\Lambda^{-2q^M}$ when $\beta \to \frac{4}{3}$ and in view of (39), γ_1 is already a very small number, much smaller than ε .

11.10.2. Lemma 3 **Lemma 3.** Let $1 < A \le \frac{1}{2} \epsilon_{m^*}^{-\gamma}$. The sequence (6) with admissible set \mathcal{K}_A is such that

$$\frac{\kappa^+}{\kappa^-} \ge c_1 A^2, \ c_1 = e^{-2\epsilon_{m^\star}^{2\gamma(q-1)}} \approx 1.$$
 (68)

Moreover, there exists universal constants $0 < c < C < \infty$ such that for all $m \in \{m^{\star}, \cdots, M-1\}$

$$c\epsilon_m^{\beta+\gamma} \le \kappa_m \le C\epsilon_m^{\beta+\gamma}.$$
 (69)

In particular $\kappa^- > 0$ and $\kappa^+ - \kappa^- \le \sqrt{c_0} \epsilon_{m\star}^{\beta}$.

We notice that Lemma 3.4 in [3] provides lower and upper bounds for the renormalised sequence (6). Unfortunately, they cannot be used to obtain a lower bound on the term κ^+/κ^- . We therefore need to investigate the sequence more closely, that is, to establish a new sharper version of Lemma 3.4 in [3].

We set

$$\kappa_m = (\epsilon_m^{\beta+\gamma} c_0^{\frac{1}{2}}) s_m, \ m \in \{m^\star, \cdots, M\}.$$
(70)

It gives $(\epsilon_{m-1}^{\beta+\gamma}c_0^{\frac{1}{2}})s_{m-1} = (\epsilon_m^{\beta+\gamma}c_0^{\frac{1}{2}})s_m + c_0\epsilon_m^{2\beta}c_0^{-\frac{1}{2}}\epsilon_m^{-\beta-\gamma}\frac{1}{s_m}, s_{m-1} = \frac{\epsilon_m^{\beta+\gamma}}{\epsilon_{m-1}^{\beta+\gamma}}s_m + \frac{\epsilon_m^{\beta-\gamma}}{\epsilon_{m-1}^{\beta+\gamma}}\frac{1}{s_m}$: $s_{m-1} = (\frac{\epsilon_m}{\epsilon_{m-1}})^{\beta}\epsilon_m^{-\gamma}\epsilon_{m-1}^{-\gamma}(\epsilon_m^{2\gamma}s_m + \frac{1}{s_m})$. We recall that $\gamma = \frac{q-1}{q+1}\beta$ and $\epsilon_m = \epsilon_{m-1}^q$. It gives $(\epsilon_m/\epsilon_{m-1})^{\beta}\epsilon_m^{-\gamma}\epsilon_{m-1}^{-\gamma} = (q-1)^{\beta}\epsilon_m^{-\gamma}\epsilon_m^{-\gamma}$. $\epsilon_{m-1}^{(q-1)\beta} \epsilon_{m-1}^{-\gamma(q+1)} = 1$. We thus consider the prefactor map

$$s_{m-1} = g_m(s_m), \ g_m(s) := \epsilon_m^{2\gamma} s + \frac{1}{s}, \ m \in \{m^* + 1, \cdots, M\}.$$
 (71)

We assume that there exists some A > 1 which does not depend on M such that

$$\kappa_M \in c_0^{\frac{1}{2}} \epsilon_M^{\frac{2\beta}{q+1}}[\frac{1}{A}, A], A > 1.$$
(72)

It gives using the fact that $\epsilon_M^{2\beta/(q+1)-(\beta+\gamma)} = \epsilon_M^{-2\gamma}$:

$$s_M \in \epsilon_M^{-2\gamma}[\frac{1}{A}, A]$$
, and $s_{M-1} \in [\frac{1}{A} + A \epsilon_M^{2\gamma}, A + \frac{1}{A} \epsilon_M^{2\gamma}] \approx [\frac{1}{A}, A].$

We thus expect that the intervals are almost invariant at leading order. The goal is to find some constraint on A such that the mapping $[s_m^-, s_m^+] \rightarrow [s_{m-1}^-, s_m^+]$ stays nearly constant and $\approx \left[\frac{1}{4}, A\right]$. Following [3], one has

$$\max\left\{s_{m-1}, \frac{1}{s_{m-1}}\right\} \le (1 + \epsilon_m^{2\gamma}) \max\left\{s_m, \frac{1}{s_m}\right\}.$$
(73)

Proof: denote $M_m = \max\{s_m, 1/s_m\}$, assume that $s_{m-1} \ge 1/s_{m-1}$ then $s_{m-1} = M_{m-1} \le (1 + \epsilon_m^{2\gamma})M_m$. Assume now that $s_{m-1} \le 1/s_{m-1}$, then $s_{m-1} \ge (1 + \epsilon_m^{2\gamma}) \min\{s_m, 1/s_m\} = (1 + \epsilon_m^{2\gamma})/M_m$ and thus $1/s_{m-1} = M_{m-1} \le (1 + \epsilon_m^{2\gamma})^{-1} M_m \le (1 + \epsilon_m^{2\gamma}) M_m$. Using the fact that $M_{M-1} = A + \frac{1}{A} \epsilon_M^{2\gamma}$, one has, iterating from mto M - 1:

$$M_m \le (A + \frac{1}{A} \epsilon_M^{2\gamma}) \Pi_{1, 2\gamma, m+1},$$
 (74)

Since $\Pi_{1,2,\gamma,m+1}$ can be made arbitrarily close to one by increasing Λ , s_0 stays in the interval $\approx [\frac{1}{A}, A]$ up to an error which can be made arbitrarily small by increasing Λ . As mentioned before, this is not enough to infer a lower bound for s_m^+/s_m^- . However, based on (74) and the definition of M_m , one can write:

$$s_{m}^{+} \leq A \left(1 + \frac{1}{A^{2}} \epsilon_{M}^{2\gamma} \right) \Pi_{1,2\gamma,m+1} \leq A (1 + \epsilon_{M}^{2\gamma}) e^{2\epsilon_{m^{\star}+1}^{2\gamma}} \leq 2A.$$
(75)

One has also $s_m^- \ge \frac{1}{2A}$. By hypothesis $1 < A \le \frac{1}{2} \epsilon_{m^*}^{-\gamma}$, i.e. $s_m^+ \leq \epsilon_m^{-\gamma}$ so that $g'_m(s) \leq 0$ for $s \leq s_m^+$. One can therefore assume that the sequence is decreasing in the interval $[s_m, s_m^+]$. As a consequence,

$$\frac{s_{m-1}^+}{s_{m-1}^-} = \frac{s_m^+}{s_m^-} \frac{1 + (s_m^-)^2 \epsilon_m^{2\gamma}}{1 + (s_m^+)^2 \epsilon_m^{2\gamma}} \le \frac{s_m^+}{s_m^-}, \quad \forall m \in \{m^\star + 1, \cdots, M-1\}.$$

It gives, using (63) twice,

$$\frac{s_{m^{\star}}^{+}}{s_{m^{\star}}^{-}} = \frac{s_{M-1}^{+}}{s_{M-1}^{-}} \prod_{k=m^{\star}+1}^{M-1} \frac{1 + (s_{k}^{-})^{2} \epsilon_{k}^{2\gamma}}{1 + (s_{k}^{+})^{2} \epsilon_{k}^{2\gamma}} \ge \frac{s_{M-1}^{+}}{s_{M-1}^{-}} \frac{1}{\Pi_{4A^{2},2\gamma,m^{\star}+1}} \ge \frac{s_{M-1}^{+}}{s_{M-1}^{-}} \exp\left(-\frac{4A^{2} \epsilon_{m^{\star}+1}^{2\gamma}}{1 - \Lambda^{-2\gamma q^{m^{\star}+1}}}\right)$$
(76)

Therefore, with $A \leq \frac{1}{2} \epsilon_{m^{\star}}^{-\gamma}$, one obtains the lower bound for M large

$$\frac{s_{m^{\star}}^{+}}{s_{m^{\star}}^{-}} \geq \frac{A^{2} + \epsilon_{M}^{2\gamma}}{1 + A^{2}\epsilon_{M}^{2\gamma}} \exp\left(-2\epsilon_{m^{\star}}^{-2\gamma}\epsilon_{m^{\star}+1}^{2\gamma}\right) \gtrsim A^{2} \exp\left(-2\epsilon_{m^{\star}}^{2\gamma(q-1)}\right).$$
(77)
From (70) and (75), one has $\kappa^{+} - \kappa^{-} \leq \kappa^{+} \leq 2A \sqrt{c_{0}}\epsilon_{m^{\star}}^{\beta+\gamma} \leq \epsilon_{m^{\star}}^{\beta}$. The inequality (69) also follows with the constants $c \approx (2A)^{-1} \sqrt{c_{0}}$ and $C \approx (2A) \sqrt{c_{0}}$.

11.10.3. Proof that $\mathcal{A}_{m_{+}}^{-} > 0$

This is a simple consequence of the Poincaré inequality and energy estimate: $\frac{d}{dt} \|\theta_{m^{\star}}(t,\cdot)\|_{L^2}^2 = -2\kappa_{m^{\star}} \|\nabla\theta_{m^{\star}}(t,\cdot)\|^2 \leq 1$ $-8\pi^2 \kappa_{m^\star} ||\theta_{m^\star}(t,\cdot)||_{L^2}^2$ and thus $2\mathcal{A}_{m^\star}(\kappa_{m^\star}) = ||\theta_0||_{L^2}^2 \|\theta_{m^{\star}}(1,\cdot)\|_{L^2}^2 \geq (\tilde{1-e^{-8\kappa_m \star \pi^2}})\|\theta_0\|^2$. Therefore, one can write $\mathcal{A}_{m_{\star}}^{-} \geq \frac{1}{2} \left(1 - e^{-8\kappa^{-}\pi^{2}} \right) > 0$ using the fact that $\kappa^{-} > 0$ by Lemma

11.11. Proof of the main Theorem 3

The proof can be achieved with only few steps. First, one has $\mathcal{A}_{m_{+}}^{-} > 0$ (see previous subsection) and in light of (64) $\mathcal{A}^{-} > 0$. The consequence of the sharp estimates in Lemma 2 is that one can investigate the limit $\kappa \to 0$. In view of Lemma 3.4 in [3], condition (3.45), one takes M such that

$$\frac{1}{A}\sqrt{c_0}\epsilon_M^{\frac{2\beta}{q+1}} \le \kappa \le A\sqrt{c_0}\epsilon_M^{\frac{2\beta}{q+1}}.$$
(78)

One therefore considers the limit $\kappa \rightarrow 0$ with M = $M(\kappa)$ satisfying (78). Due to the hypergeometric scale separation, (78) implies that M scales like a double logarithm of κ . We then want to obtain a sufficient condition that guarantees the lack of convergence of $\mathcal{A}(\kappa)$ to a well-defined value. As a consequence of Lemma 2, one has $\limsup_{\kappa \to 0} \sigma^{-} \mathcal{A}_{m^{\star}}(\kappa_{m^{\star}}(\kappa)) \leq \limsup_{\kappa \to 0} \mathcal{A}(\kappa)$ and $\liminf_{\kappa \to 0} \mathcal{A}(\kappa) \leq \liminf_{\kappa \to 0} \sigma^{+} \mathcal{A}_{m^{\star}}(\kappa_{m^{\star}}(\kappa)). \quad \text{Since } \sigma^{\pm} =$ $\sigma^{\pm}(M(\kappa))$ converge to $e^{\pm 2\varepsilon}$, one has $\mathcal{A}^+ \geq e^{-2\varepsilon}\mathcal{A}^+_{m_\star}$ and $\mathcal{A}^- \leq$ $e^{2\varepsilon}\mathcal{A}_{m}^{-}$. We can thus state

$$\frac{\mathcal{A}^{+}}{\mathcal{A}^{-}} \ge e^{-4\varepsilon} \frac{\mathcal{A}^{+}_{m_{\star}}}{\mathcal{A}^{-}_{m_{\star}}}.$$
(79)

The sufficient condition for having spontaneous stochasticity is therefore to have $\frac{\mathcal{A}_{m_{\star}}^{+}}{\mathcal{A}_{m_{\star}}} > e^{4\varepsilon}$. The rest of the proof is to insure this is indeed possible. We first prove in Appendix 11.11.1 that for $m^{\star} = 0$, one has

$$\frac{\mathcal{A}_{m_{\star}}^{+}}{\mathcal{A}_{m_{\star}}^{-}} \geq \frac{\kappa^{+}}{\kappa^{-}} \frac{4\pi^{2}}{\rho_{0}} e^{-4\pi^{2}(\kappa^{+}-\kappa^{-})}, \quad \rho_{0} := \frac{\|\nabla\theta_{0}\|_{L^{2}}^{2}}{\|\theta_{0}\|_{L^{2}}^{2}} \geq (2\pi)^{2}.$$
(80)

Lastly, from Lemma 3: $\frac{\mathcal{A}^{+}}{\mathcal{A}^{-}} \geq e^{-4\varepsilon} \frac{\mathcal{A}^{+}_{m_{\star}}}{\mathcal{A}^{-}_{m_{\star}}} \geq e^{-4\varepsilon} \frac{\mathcal{A}^{+}_{m_{\star}}}{\mathcal{A}^{-}_{m_{\star}}} \geq e^{-4\varepsilon} \frac{\mathcal{A}^{+}_{m_{\star}}}{\mathcal{A}^{-}_{m_{\star}}} \geq e^{-4\pi^{2}(\kappa^{+}-\kappa^{-})}c_{1}A^{2} \text{ and } e^{-4\pi^{2}(\kappa^{+}-\kappa^{-})} \geq e^{-4\pi^{2}\sqrt{c_{0}}\epsilon_{0}^{\beta}}.$ Let us call $f_{\lambda}(A) = cA^{2}e^{-\lambda A}$ with $c = c_{1}e^{-4\epsilon}\frac{4\pi^{2}}{\rho_{0}}$ and $\lambda = 4\pi^{2}\sqrt{c_{0}}\epsilon_{0}^{\beta}$. It gives the constraint $\sup_{A} f_{\lambda}(A) = f_{\lambda}(2/\lambda) > 1$, i.e. $\lambda < 2\sqrt{c}e^{-1}$, namely $\Lambda > \left((e\pi\sqrt{c_{0}})\frac{e^{2\epsilon}\sqrt{\rho_{0}}}{\sqrt{c_{1}}}\right)^{\frac{q-1}{\beta}} > \left(\pi\sqrt{\rho_{0}}\right)^{\frac{q-1}{\beta}}.$ Under this constraint, one has two roots $f^{-1}(1) = A_{1}, A_{2}$ with $A_{1} \leq A_{2}$. Since $\gamma < \beta$, it follows that $\lambda A_{1} \leq 2\pi^{2}\sqrt{c_{0}}, \epsilon_{0}^{\beta-\gamma} \ll 1$. Therefore, when $\lambda A_{1} \ll 1$, one has $A_{1} \approx \frac{1}{\sqrt{c}} = \frac{\sqrt{\rho_{0}}}{2\pi} \cdot \frac{e^{2\epsilon}}{\sqrt{c_{1}}}$. One finally obtains (39).

11.11.1. Proof of (80)

We first establish a lower bound for $\mathcal{A}_{m_{\star}}^{+}$. One has by Poincaré inequality and energy estimate (see Appendix 11.10.3): $\mathcal{A}_{m^{\star}}(\kappa_{m^{\star}}) \geq \frac{1}{2}(1 - e^{-8\pi^{2}\kappa_{m^{\star}}})||\theta_{0}||_{L^{2}}^{2}$. Applying limsup on both sides (and also the fact that $\kappa \mapsto 1 - e^{-8\pi^{2}\kappa}$ is monotonically increasing) gives $\mathcal{A}_{m_{\star}}^{+} \geq \frac{1}{2}(1 - e^{-8\pi^{2}\kappa^{+}})||\theta_{0}||_{L^{2}}^{2}$. A classical result (see [72],[33]) provides a lower bound for the passive scalar: $\|\theta_{m^{\star}}\|_{L^{2}}^{2} \geq \|\theta_{0}\|_{L^{2}}^{2} \exp(-\kappa_{m^{\star}}\rho_{0}I_{\mathbf{b}_{m^{\star}}}),$

with

$$\rho_0 = \frac{\|\nabla \theta_0\|_{L^2}^2}{\|\theta_0\|_{L^2}^2}, \text{ and } I_{\mathbf{b}_{m^\star}} = 2 \int_0^1 \exp\left(C \int_0^s \|\nabla \mathbf{b}_{m^\star}\|_{L^\infty} ds'\right) ds$$

(81) Therefore $\mathcal{A}_{m^{\star}}(\kappa_{m^{\star}}) \leq \frac{1}{2} \left(1 - e^{-\kappa_{m^{\star}}\rho_{0}I_{\mathbf{b}_{m^{\star}}}}\right) ||\theta_{0}||_{L^{2}}^{2}$. We apply liminf on both sides giving $\mathcal{A}_{m_{\star}}^{-} \leq \frac{1}{2}(1 - e^{-\kappa^{-}\rho_{0}I_{\mathbf{b}_{m^{\star}}}}) ||\theta_{0}||_{L^{2}}^{2}$ and thus $\mathcal{A}_{m_{\star}}^{+}/\mathcal{A}_{m_{\star}}^{-} \geq (1 - e^{-\kappa^{+}8\pi^{2}})/(1 - e^{-\kappa^{-}\rho_{0}I_{\mathbf{b}_{m^{\star}}}})$. For $m^{\star} = 0$, one can write $\mathcal{A}_{m_{\star}}^{+}/\mathcal{A}_{m_{\star}}^{-} \geq (1 - e^{-2\mathcal{E}\chi})/(1 - e^{-2\chi}) \geq \mathcal{E}e^{-\chi(\mathcal{E}-1)}$ with $\mathcal{E} = 4\pi^{2}\rho_{0}^{-1}\kappa^{+}/\kappa^{-}$ and $\chi = \kappa^{-}\rho_{0}$. Since $\rho_{0} \geq 4\pi^{2}$, one can conclude.

11.11.2. Proof of Property 4

Let us use the short-hand notations $\theta_p := \theta^{\kappa_{p,j}}, \kappa_p := \kappa_{p,j}$ and $\varrho_p^2 := 2\kappa_p \frac{\|\nabla \theta_p\|^2}{\|\theta_0\|^2}$ for $p \in \{1, 2\}$. One has $\min\{\varrho_1^2, \varrho_2^2\} \ge \varrho^2$. The energy equations are $\|\theta_p\|^2 = \|\theta_0\|^2(1 - 2\kappa_p \frac{\|\nabla \theta_p\|^2}{\|\theta_0\|^2}) = \|\theta_0\|^2(1 - 2\varrho_p^2)$. In particular $\varrho_p^2 \in [\varrho^2, \frac{1}{2})$. By Cauchy-Schwarz $\|(\theta_1 - \theta_2)(1, \cdot)\|^2 \ge (\|\theta_1(1, \cdot)\| - \|\theta_2(1, \cdot)\|)^2$, giving

$$\begin{aligned} \|(\theta_1 - \theta_2)(1, \cdot)\| &\ge \|\theta_0\| \left| \sqrt{1 - 2\varrho_1^2} - \sqrt{1 - 2\varrho_2^2} \right| \\ &\ge \|\theta_0\| \|\varrho_1 - \varrho_2\| \frac{2\varrho}{\sqrt{1 - 2\varrho^2}} \ge 2\|\theta_0\| \|\varrho\| \|\varrho_1 - \varrho_2\|. \end{aligned}$$

Going to the limit $j \rightarrow \infty$ gives the the result.

11.12. Discussion on \mathcal{K}_A and Lemma 3.3, Lemma 3.4 [3].

Lemma 3.4 in [3] is of crucial importance for establishing the many estimates giving Theorem 1.1. First, for $m \in \{1, \dots, M\}$, one defines

$$\kappa_{m-1} = \overline{\mathbf{K}}_m^{\kappa_m}, \ \kappa_M = \kappa, \tag{82}$$

where $\overline{\mathbf{K}}_{m}^{\kappa}$ is introduced in (3.16)[3] and corresponds to a complicate expression involving the space-time average of flux correctors. This is the "true" sequence one wishes to study rather than (6). The sequence defined in (6) is close to (82) in the sense of Lemma 3.3 [3]: there exists a constant $C = C(\beta) \ge 1$ such that for $\kappa > 0$ and all $m \in \mathbb{N}$

$$\left|\overline{\mathbf{K}}_{m}^{\kappa} - f_{m}(\kappa)\mathbf{I}_{2}\right| \leq \frac{\epsilon_{m}^{2\beta}}{\kappa} \left(C\frac{\epsilon_{m}^{2}}{\kappa\tau_{m}} + C\epsilon_{m-1}^{\delta}\right), \quad f_{m}(\kappa) := \kappa + c_{0}\frac{\epsilon_{m}^{2\beta}}{\kappa}.$$
(83)

In particular, to ensure that the two map iterates $\kappa \mapsto \overline{\mathbf{K}}_m^{\kappa}$ and $\kappa \mapsto f_m(\kappa)$ stay close to each other, one must have $\frac{\epsilon_m^2}{\kappa \tau_m} \ll 1$. This is the condition of Lemma 3.4 (3.47): $c\epsilon_{m-1}^{2\delta} \leq \frac{\epsilon_m^2}{\kappa_m \tau_m} \leq C\epsilon_{m-1}^{2\delta}$ with universal constants $0 < c < C < \infty$.

We show now that, indeed one has the same control on $\frac{\epsilon_m^2}{\kappa'_m \tau_m}$, when considering \mathcal{K}_A . Here, and in the following, the prime means that κ'_m follows (6). We need to specify what is τ_m , it is given in (2.16)[3]: $\tau_m \simeq \epsilon_{m-1}^{2-\beta+4\delta}$. We have using (69) for κ'_m , $\frac{\epsilon_m^2}{\kappa'_m \tau_m} \simeq \epsilon_m^2 \epsilon_m^{-\beta-\gamma} \epsilon_{m-1}^{-(2-\beta+4\delta)} = \epsilon_{m-1}^{(2-\beta)(q-1)-\gamma q-4\delta}$. Then, one has $(2-\beta)(q-1) - q\gamma = 2(q-1)(1 - \frac{2q+1}{2q+2}\beta) = 8\delta$ (instead of 4δ in [3]). It then gives instead of (3.53) with 2δ :

$$c\epsilon_{m-1}^{4\delta} \le \frac{\epsilon_m^2}{\kappa'_m \tau_m} \le C\epsilon_{m-1}^{4\delta}, \tag{84}$$

where c, C are universal (now depending also on the constant A). The typo in [3] has of course no consequences.

The following is an induction proof that (82) and (6) can be made arbitrarily close to each other for Λ large enough. It is again possible mainly due to the hypergeometric scale separation. Sequence (6) will be denoted with a prime with the mapping $\kappa' \mapsto f_m(\kappa') = \kappa' g_m(\kappa')$ with $g_m(\kappa') = 1 + \frac{c_0 \epsilon_m^{2\beta}}{\kappa'^2}$. We assume that there is some $1 < B \le 2$ such that

$$\frac{1}{B} \le \frac{\kappa'_m}{\kappa_m} \le B, \quad \forall m \in \{m_0, \cdots, M\}$$
(H)

First, it is valid for $m_0 = M$ since both sequences start from the same initial condition, i.e. $\kappa'_M/\kappa_M = 1$. We have $c\epsilon_m^{\beta+\gamma} \leq \kappa'_m \leq C\epsilon_m^{\beta+\gamma}$ where $C = 2A\sqrt{c_0}$, $c = \sqrt{c_0}/(2A)$, and using (H), $cB^{-1}\epsilon_m^{\beta+\gamma} \leq \kappa_m \leq CB\epsilon_m^{\beta+\gamma}$. It gives

$$\frac{1+(2A)^{-2}\epsilon_m^{2\gamma}}{1+(2AB)^2\epsilon_m^{2\gamma}} \left(\frac{\kappa_m}{\kappa'_m}\right)^2 \le \frac{g_m(\kappa'_m)}{g_m(\kappa_m)} \le \frac{1+4A^2\epsilon_m^{2\gamma}}{1+(2AB)^{-2}\epsilon_m^{2\gamma}} \left(\frac{\kappa_m}{\kappa'_m}\right)^2,$$

and

$$(1 - 4A^2 B^2 \epsilon_m^{2\gamma}) \left(\frac{\kappa_m}{\kappa_m'}\right)^2 \le \frac{g_m(\kappa_m')}{g_m(\kappa_m)} \le (1 + 4A^2 \epsilon_m^{2\gamma}) \left(\frac{\kappa_m}{\kappa_m'}\right)^2.$$
(85)

We now rewrite (83) using our notations and replacing κ by κ_m . It is

$$\left|\frac{\kappa_{m-1}}{\kappa_m} - g_m(\kappa_m)\right| \le \frac{\epsilon_m^{2\beta}}{\kappa_m^2} \left(C\frac{\epsilon_m^2}{\kappa_m\tau_m} + C\epsilon_{m-1}^{\delta}\right) \le C_m g_m(\kappa_m)$$

with $C_m = BC\epsilon_{m-1}^{4\delta} + C\epsilon_{m-1}^{\delta}$, (86)

where one has used (84). We then estimate the quantities $\kappa'_{m-1}/\kappa_{m-1}$ and $\kappa_{m-1}/\kappa'_{m-1}$. One has $\frac{\kappa_{m-1}}{\kappa'_{m-1}} = \frac{\kappa_{m-1}}{\kappa_m} \frac{\kappa'_m}{\kappa'_{m-1}} \frac{\kappa_m}{\kappa'_m} = \frac{\kappa_{m-1}}{\kappa_m} \frac{1}{g_m(\kappa'_m)} \frac{\kappa_m}{\kappa'_m}$ using the relation $\kappa'_{m-1} = \kappa'_m g_m(\kappa'_m)$. One then uses (86) and (85) to obtain

$$\frac{\kappa_{m-1}}{\kappa'_{m-1}} \le (1+C_m) \, \frac{g_m(\kappa_m)}{g_m(\kappa'_m)} \frac{\kappa_m}{\kappa'_m} \le (1+C_m)(1+4A^2B^2\epsilon_m^{2\gamma}) \frac{\kappa'_m}{\kappa_m}.$$

We can do the same reasoning for the inverse $\frac{\kappa'_{m-1}}{\kappa_{m-1}}$. It gives

$$\frac{\kappa_{m-1}'}{\kappa_{m-1}} \le \frac{1 + 4A^2 \epsilon_m^{2\gamma}}{1 - C_m} \frac{\kappa_m}{\kappa_m'}$$

Finally, one can write, from the definition of C_m , and for an ad-hoc constant *C* depending on β and *A* (and also $2\gamma q > \delta$),

$$\max\left\{\frac{\kappa'_{m-1}}{\kappa_{m-1}},\frac{\kappa_{m-1}}{\kappa'_{m-1}}\right\} \le (1 + C\epsilon_{m-1}^{\gamma}) \max\left\{\frac{\kappa'_{m}}{\kappa_{m}},\frac{\kappa_{m}}{\kappa'_{m}}\right\},\qquad(87)$$

 $\forall m \in \{m_0, \dots, M\}$. One cannot use (H), it is necessary to compute the full product term making use of (63). It gives

$$\max\left\{\frac{\kappa'_{m_0-1}}{\kappa_{m_0-1}},\frac{\kappa_{m_0-1}}{\kappa'_{m_0-1}}\right\} \le \Pi_{C,\gamma,m_0-1} \le \exp(2C\epsilon_{m_0-1}^{\gamma}) \approx 1 + 2C\epsilon_{m_0-1}^{\gamma}$$

The constant *B* in (H) can therefore be chosen arbitrarily close to 1, by taking Λ large enough. In particular, both (69) and (84) are also valid for the sequence (82).

11.13. Discussion on m*

Strictly speaking, estimates in [3] are obtained only for $m^* \ge 1$ defined in (52). However, looking more closely, all the necessary estimates in [3] also hold when one assumes $\epsilon_0^{-1} = \lceil \Lambda^{\frac{1}{q-1}} \rceil$ instead of defining $\epsilon_0 = 1$ in [3]. In particular, the hypothesis of (4.61) on which all the estimates of Sections 4 and 5 in [3] rely, are satisfied in this case.

11.14. Renormalised sequence: numerics

We recall the definition of the diffusivity sequence: $\kappa_{m-1} = \kappa_m + c_0 \frac{\epsilon_m^2}{\kappa_m}$, $\kappa_M = \kappa \in \mathcal{K}$ with $\epsilon_m^{-1} = \lceil \Lambda^{\frac{d^m}{q-1}} \rceil$, $c_0 = 9/80$ and $\mathcal{K} = \bigcup_{m\geq 1} \left[\frac{1}{2}, 2\right] \epsilon_m^{\frac{2\pi}{q+1}}$. To meet the requirements outlined in [3, 4], we fix M and set κ_M as $\theta \epsilon_M^{\frac{2\pi}{q+1}}$ for $\theta \in (\frac{1}{2}, 2)$. We fix $\theta = 1$. The sequence is shown in Fig. 13 for different values of $\beta \in (1, \frac{4}{3})$. Only in the limit $\beta \to 1^+$, one expects $\kappa_0 = O(1)$. Note that the values of κ_0 depend on θ in all cases (not shown), indicating the absence of a selection principle at the level of κ_0 . The selection occurs only at the level of the measures, which is the primary focus of this work. We also establish the existence of a critical value $\beta^* \approx 1.1428$, above which the constraint set \mathcal{K} is not required to control the sequence. For $\beta < \beta^*$, however, it is necessary to enforce $\kappa_M \in \mathcal{K}$. This behaviour is illustrated in Fig. 14 for $\beta = 1.10$.



Figure 13: The diffusivity sequence κ_m in loglog scale for four different values of β using $\Lambda = 128$. One can notice that as $\beta \rightarrow \frac{4}{3}$, the slope tends to zero while the intercept diverges to minus infinity.



Figure 14: Values of κ_0 as a function of $\kappa_M = \kappa$ (in \log_{10} scale) for $\beta = 1.10 < \beta^*$ ($\Lambda = 128$). The renormalised diffusivity sequence becomes wild, with unbounded behaviour unless $\kappa_M \in \mathcal{K}$ is imposed.